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The 2005-06 financial year marked the beginning of a new era in the care and protection of Western 
Australia’s children, as two groundbreaking pieces of legislation were implemented.  

After many years of research and development, the Children and Community Services Act 2004 came into 
effect on 1 March 2006.  This major reform has significantly changed the way the department works.  

The Act provides a stronger, yet more flexible framework for the department’s work with families.   We are 
more accountable, and families are becoming more involved in critical decision-making that affects their lives.   

The period since 1 March 2006 has been an important transitional phase, as staff start to meet their new 
accountabilities.   

Implementation of the Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 began on 1 January 2006.  
The new law ensures the checking of criminal convictions and all relevant past and pending criminal charges 
of anyone working with or volunteering to work with children.   

In 2001, the department committed itself to significantly improving the way it supports and protects children in 
its care.  Important areas of the reform process have included the proclamation of new legislation that 
enshrines the principle of children’s participation; the appointment of Western Australia’s first Advocate for 
Children in Care; and the development of a Charter of Rights for Children in Care is well progressed. 

The Advocate provides advocacy services, complaints management and strategic advice, and will play an 
important role in quality assurance and policy and practice development.  

As part of the process of ongoing reform, in September 2005, the department asked Ms Gwenn Murray, an 
independent expert in child protection, to examine cases of substantiated harm to children in care between 
April 2004 and September 2005.  Ms Murray’s terms of reference were to identify strengths and weaknesses 
of the department’s practices; consider whether appropriate action was taken to safeguard each child; 
determine whether each case was appropriately classified; and identify opportunities to improve the protection 
of children in care. 

Ms Murray’s report, presented to the government in December 2005, was tough, and showed more changes 
were needed to protect these vulnerable children in the department’s care. 

A strategy to implement the recommendations in Ms Murray’s report was developed by a committee 
comprised of representatives of non government agencies that care for children, the CREATE foundation, the 
Foster Care Association and the department.  I acknowledge the significant contribution made by the 
committee, and thank Ms Murray for her ongoing expert support and advice. 

The year saw an expansion of many of the department’s services.  The Helping Young People Engage 
Strategy was expanded to the Kimberley region.  The Early Years Strategy, which supports parents of young 
children, was implemented in additional communities.   The department began developing new options for 
children and young people in care, including intensive placement support options and specialised placement 
services for high needs children.  The number of children in the Chief Executive Officer’s care increased 
during the year.  This shows there is still a need to maintain a range of flexible, high quality services to 
prevent more children from entering care; support those who are in care; and manage children’s transition out 
of care. 

The Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit received an injection of funding in October 2005 to increase its 
capacity to regulate and monitor child care, and to allow for an increased emphasis on compliance. 

The department’s policy offices undertook a range of initiatives for their target groups during the year. 

The Office for Children and Youth promoted the engagement of children and young people through an 
Indigenous Young People’s Summit; a Goldfields youth conference; research into children and youth 
engagement models; and production of youth-specific publications.   

The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering began developing an information and training program on 
effective employment policies and practices for volunteers.  The office provided information and assistance to 
the volunteering sector regarding the introduction of Working with Children Checks. 

Under the State Government’s Active Ageing Strategy, the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
commenced work on raising community awareness of the issue of depression and older people, and initiated 
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development of an elder abuse legal and counselling service to further its work in the prevention of elder 
abuse. 

The Family and Domestic Violence Unit developed a range of resources, and undertook projects to identify 
and reduce family and domestic violence with a wide range of communities, including general practitioners, 
women in rural settings, young people, same sex couples, journalists, and culturally and linguistically diverse 
communities. 

The Office for Women’s Policy led the development of a model of policy gender analysis.  In collaboration with 
government and non government agencies and community groups, the office conducted research into 
leadership for women, and developed information targeting women to promote their economic independence. 

Implementation of the department’s new computer system, ASSIST, commenced.  Twenty-first century 
technology will improve productivity through a fully integrated customer information and management system.  
The system also incorporates electronic document and records management functions. 

In May 2006, the department received its most significant budget allocation to date.  This is the fourth 
consecutive budget to deliver greater resources to the department. 

A major challenge awaiting us in 2006-07 and beyond is the effective allocation of budget increases, which 
will provide more than 150 new permanent staff (increasing to 200 by 2009-10), mainly in field work positions.  
The budget increases will enhance outcomes for children, through reduced caseloads, improved case 
management and decreased staff turnover.   

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the department’s staff for their commitment to our work with 
children, families, individuals and communities.  I am keen to progress early implementation of new resources 
to ensure they are directed to where they will bring greatest benefit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Jane Brazier 
Director General 
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The Department  
 
 

Vision Improved social wellbeing for all Western Australians. 

Mission To strengthen, support, protect and promote the wellbeing of individuals, 
families and communities. 

Values 

 

We are an organisation that: 

• builds on strengths and capacities, pursues equity, and values diversity 
• encourages innovation 
• enhances staff development 
• collaborates as a partner 
• respects the people with whom we work 

The department’s work is founded on four key principles – engagement, inclusiveness, collaboration and 
capacity building.  The department has four strategic objectives which are supported by a range of key 
activities.  The four strategic objectives are:  
• building the capabilities of individuals, families and communities and the not-for-profit sector. 
• striving for excellence in the standard of care and safety responses for individuals, families and 

communities. 
• leading in the creation and delivery of policies for the social sustainability of Western Australian 

communities. 
• growing our organisation to be the best. 
The department has three desired outcomes which support the government’s strategic goal ‘to enhance the 
quality of life and wellbeing of all people throughout Western Australia’: 

• communities are strengthened so that individuals and families are able to better meet their needs, 
achieve self-reliance and contribute to their own solutions. 

• polices are developed and coordinated within the department and across government for children, 
families, communities, seniors, women, young people and volunteers, and Western Australians are 
engaged in the process. 

• families and communities are supported to provide for the care and safety of their members. 
The department, through its administration of the Children and Community Services Act 2004, provides for the 
protection and care of children in circumstances where their parents have not given, or are unable to give, 
that protection and care.   
The department’s offices across the state provide services that protect children from harm, and care for 
children who are unable to live at home.  The department also supports children, young people, men, women, 
seniors and families; assists people in crisis; and enables families and communities to find solutions to issues 
which affect them.  The department also has specific services that support adoptions; license child care 
services; and check the criminal records of persons working with children. 
The department has policy offices for issues concerning women, seniors and volunteers, children and young 
people, and family and domestic violence.  These offices coordinate policies across government and engage 
with communities to develop sustainable solutions to social issues. 

Departmental Customer Profile 
In 2005-06, the department’s service delivery offices provided one-to-one services to around 43,000 individual 
customers.  In addition, the department’s offices provided short-term assistance, such as information and 
referral, to people on around 95,000 occasions.  Through its funded partners in the not-for-profit sector, the 
department also provided services to people on around 135,000 occasions.  Some people received services 
both from the department and from funded service providers.  A list of the department’s funded services can 
be found in Appendix 1. 

Table 1: Summary of the department’s customer base over the last four years 

Service 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Departmental one-to-one services - clients 43,000 41,000 41,000 40,000 

Departmental short-term assistance - occasions 95,000 90,000 90,000 84,000 

Funded not-for-profit services - occasions 135,000 125,000 N/A N/A 
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In 2005-06, just over 60 percent of the department’s overall customer base (customers of both departmental 
and funded services) were female and just under 40 percent were male. Around 37 percent of the 
department’s customers were aged 18 or younger. About 24 percent of the department’s overall customer 
base was Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander.  As in previous years, the department’s Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander customers were over-represented compared to their proportion of the general Western 
Australian population.  
Approximately five percent of the department’s customers in 2005-06 came from culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds. The age, gender and ethnicity breakdown of the department’s customers served by 
district offices is similar to those served through funded providers. 
However, the family types served by the department are quite different to those served by the non 
government sector.  A greater proportion of children and young people, and single people without children, 
receive services from the non government sector, whilst the department directly serves a greater proportion of 
couples and single people with children. 
Table 2 shows the reasons people contacted the department in 2005-06. The data relates only to customers 
making contact through the district offices, including both new and existing customers.  The most common 
reasons for contact with the department’s offices during the year were financial problems, family problems 
and concerns about the wellbeing of children.  There were 2,618 contacts involving crises other than financial 
problems (such as domestic violence and homelessness).  These figures exclude contacts to helplines and 
other one-off contacts, which do not become longer-term cases on the department's client database.  More 
information on these contacts, including Crisis Care and domestic violence helplines can be found in the Care 
and Safety section of this report. 
‘Concern for child’s wellbeing’ is a new category introduced on 1 March 2006 by the Children and Community 
Services Act 2004. It includes what would have previously been categorised as child concern reports and 
child maltreatment allegations, as well as certain family support matters. 

Table 2: Primary reasons for all new contacts to the department in 2005-06 (a)  

Primary reason Number of contacts Number of people 

Adoption issues 395 388 

Best beginnings home visiting service 409 399 

Carer enquiries (enquiries from foster carers/potential carers) 2,009 1,812 

Child care issues 9 9 

Child concern reports (b) 1,574 1,524 

Child maltreatment allegations (b) 2,303 2,176 

Concern for child’s wellbeing (c) 2,389 2,313 

Custody/access issues 381 374 

Family history/reunion 19 19 

Family problems 4,515 4,281 

Family violence  1,853 1,713 

Financial problems 14,315 9,230 

Homelessness 443 378 

Other crisis issues (suicide risk, psychiatric, medical, legal problems) 322 312 

Parenting issues 107 105 

Request for out-of-home care or no guardian 15 15 

Substance abuse problems 234 223 

Trauma support 215 211 

Youth support 30 30 

All other reasons 111 109 

(a) Data excludes contact log queries which are described as short-term assistance in the preceding text. 
(b) These categories ceased to be used as at 28 February 2006. 
(c) This is a new category introduced on 1 March 2006 and replaces child concern reports and child maltreatment allegations.   

In addition to this direct service delivery, the department also worked with a range of communities of interest 
through a variety of community development projects and other activities, described later in this report. 
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Structure and Management 

Ministerial Responsibilities 
On 3 February 2006, the Honourable David Templeman MLA was appointed Minister for Community 
Development; Seniors and Volunteering; Youth, and the responsibility for Women’s Interests was transferred 
to the Honourable Margaret Quirk LLB (Hons) MA MLA.  

The relationship of Ministers to services is shown below. 

Minister for Community Development; Seniors and 
Volunteering; Youth 

1. Community development 

2. Children’s and young persons’ policy 

3. Positive ageing policy 

5. Volunteering policy and coordination 
6. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander policy   
 coordination 

7. Care and safety services 

8. Family and domestic violence coordination 

9. Working with children criminal records screening 

Minister for Corrective Services; Women’s 
Interests; Minister Assisting the Minister for Federal 
Affairs 

4. Women’s policy and progress  

As at 30 June 2006, the following committees provided independent advice to the Minister for Community 
Development; Seniors and Volunteering; Youth: 

• Advisory Council on the Prevention of Deaths of Children and Young People 
• Child Care Advisory Committee 
• Child Death Review Committee 
• Carers Advisory Council 
• Ministerial Advisory Council on Child Protection 
• Supported Accommodation Assistance Program State Advisory Committee 
• Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Family and Domestic Violence Advisory Group 
• Aboriginal Family and Domestic Violence Reference Group 

The Indigenous Women’s Congress and the Women’s Advisory Council provide independent advice to the 
Minister for Women’s Interests.  The membership and terms of reference of these and other committees can 
be found in Appendix 2. 

Statutory Authority 
As at 30 June 2006, the Minister for Community Development; Seniors and Volunteering; Youth is responsible 
for administering the following acts and regulations: 

• Adoption Act 1994 
• Adoption Regulations 1995 
• Carers Recognition Act 2004 
• Children and Community Services Act 2004 
• Children and Community Services Regulations 2006 
• Children and Community Services (Child Care) Regulations 2006 
• Children and Community Services (Family Day Care) Regulations 2006 
• Children and Community Services (Outside School Hours Care) Regulations 2006 
• Children and Community Services (Outside School Hours Family Day Care) Regulations 2006 
• Volunteers (Protection from Liability) Act 2002 
• Working With Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 
• Working With Children (Criminal Record Checking) Regulations 2005 

The department also has responsibilities under Acts administered by other authorities.  These are listed in 
Appendix 3. 

Administrative Structure 
Figure 1 shows the department’s structure and executive directors at 30 June 2006.  The department 
employed over 1,600 people in 2005-06, and comprises the major directorates and policy offices shown in 
Figure 1.   
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Figure 1: Structure and executive directors at 30 June 2006 
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Office of the Director General 
The Office of the Director General has responsibility for ministerial support and liaison, public relations, 
strategic legal issues, standards monitoring and consumer advocacy.  The office also provides advice to the 
Director General and executive, and ensures appropriate engagement of other government departments and 
the media. 

Community Development and Statewide Services 
This directorate is the community development and service delivery arm of the department.  It performs the 
department’s statutory child protection functions, develops and provides services to families and individuals, 
provides contract management and support to funded agencies and undertakes community development and 
capacity building initiatives.  The directorate also contains the department’s Adoption Service. 

Service delivery is divided into three divisions (north, south and east) comprising both metropolitan and 
country districts (shown in Figure 2).  Each district works inclusively with other agencies and members of the 
community by providing the following responses including: child protection; children and young people in care 
and placement services; children’s services; community development; early education and parenting support; 
financial assistance; and psychological and therapeutic services to achieve better outcomes for individuals 
and families.  All districts have specialist officers responsible for children’s services, child protection, 
community development/funding and Aboriginal services.  Contact information for the department’s offices 
can be found in Appendix 4. 

Special Projects 
The Executive Director Special Projects has responsibility for placement services, including emergency care 
and accommodation, hostels, group homes and therapeutic care options, and oversees quality casework 
practice and the department's Duty of Care Unit. 

Indigenous Policy Directorate 
This directorate provides policy advice, strategic analysis and information to the department on Indigenous 
issues and undertakes initiatives to promote cultural awareness and improve attitudes towards Indigenous 
people. 

Program and Sector Development 
This directorate provides strategic planning, policy, program development, analysis and review in the areas 
of: supporting and protecting children, young people and families; funding non government services; 
children’s services and child care licensing and standards; social inclusion; access and equity.  This 
directorate conducts research and evaluations, provides information for state and national reporting and 
supports advisory committees. 

Business Services 
This directorate supports the department’s corporate governance by providing financial, purchasing, asset, 
human resource, information, internal audit, and business improvement services, and working with children 
criminal records screening. 

Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
The major objective of the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering is to strengthen and promote the 
capacity of Western Australian communities to meet the needs of an ageing, diverse, participatory and 
changing society and the capacity of individuals to contribute and be fully involved in the community.  

Family and Domestic Violence Unit 
The role of the unit is to coordinate an across-government response to family and domestic violence and to 
deliver a range of policy and community engagement programs.  It provides advice to government, supports 
regional coordination of services, and collects, monitors and evaluates evidence from research and practice.  

Office for Children and Youth 
The role of this office is to promote and develop the ideas of young Western Australians by connecting them 
with government and communities, and using their insights and experiences to shape government policy and 
programs.  The office encourages consultation with children and young people and enhances their capacity to 
participate in society and decision-making.   

Office for Women’s Policy 
The role of this office is to lead, facilitate and promote public policy that delivers sustainable positive 
outcomes for all women. 
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Figure 2: Districts and offices 
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The Department’s Contribution to the  
Strategic Planning Framework 

 

Better Planning: Better Services – a Strategic Planning Framework for the Western Australian Public Sector is 
a concise statement of the State Government’s intentions to improve the quality of life for all Western 
Australians.  The framework is built around five strategic goals that contribute to achieving the Government’s 
vision to ‘… provide the best opportunities for current and future generations’. 

The following section describes the department’s contribution to all five Government strategic goals:  People 
and Communities, the Economy, the Environment, the Regions and Governance.   

 

Goal 1:  People and Communities 
One of the State Government’s goals is to enhance the quality of life and wellbeing of all people throughout 
the state.  The majority of the department’s activities contribute directly to this goal.  These activities are 
discussed in detail in the report on services.  In addition, the department has achieved the following outcomes 
during the year. 

Disability Services Plan 
Wherever possible, the department endeavours to make provisions for customers with disabilities to access 
services, contribute to decision-making and participate in public consultations.  Information continued to be 
provided to the public using clear, concise and jargon-free language in department publications.   
A range of TTY numbers are available for people who are hearing-impaired to contact the department.  These 
are listed in Appendix 4. 

Through the Community Skills Training Centre, the department included ‘working with people with disabilities’ 
in several aspects of its training program.  As an example, Start-Up field worker training includes disability 
awareness and more specific reflective practice workshops, whereby field workers consider the needs of 
parents (clients) with disabilities and their children.  This assists provision of services and day-to-day field 
staff interactions with clients, such as during interviews and home visits.   

The training increases emphasis on children’s wellbeing, with focus on their circumstances.  The training also 
contributes to longer-term development of capacity building strategies for improved support through district 
offices, such as the formation of partnerships and service provision, for example respite provision and 
maintaining contact with a child. This improves officers’ and services’ ability to meet the needs of clients with 
a disability as part of best practice service delivery and standards for learning development.  

Workshops were held in regional and metropolitan areas to reinforce and build the capacity of the sector to 
work with and for people with disabilities.   Workshop topics included Mental Health First Aid, Mental Health 
and Adolescents, Introduction to Mental Health and Working with People with Disabilities. 

Work is continuing on the development of a training package for service providers to address issues that 
affect women with disabilities who are experiencing family and domestic violence. 

The department’s Parenting Line has a TTY contact number and a relay service for hearing-impaired callers.  
The Parent Help Centre is a single-storey venue with ramps for disabled access.  The centre provides parent 
information, using session Auslan interpreters, for parents who are deaf.  Parenting programs for parents who 
are deaf will be held during 2006-07. 

Through the Western Australian Grants for Women Program, the Office for Women’s Policy provided financial 
support for a respite camp for mothers of children with disabilities, and a training course for volunteers who 
work with women with psychiatric disabilities.  

Youth Outcomes 
Agencies are required to report against outcomes of programs and policies specifically targeting young people 
aged 12 to 25 years.  This information is found in the report on children’s and young persons’ policy later in 
this report. 
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Cultural and Linguistic Diversity  
The department’s Cultural and Linguistic Diversity Strategic Plan 2005-2007 was launched in March 2006.  It 
outlines the department’s strategic priorities in working with multicultural communities.  The plan 
demonstrates the department’s commitment to the Western Australian Charter of Multiculturalism, and to 
deliver culturally responsive services through enhanced relationships with strategic partners from culturally 
and linguistically diverse communities.  The plan was completed after an extensive internal and external 
consultation process that covered metropolitan and regional locations across the state, and included the 
participation of over 80 government agencies, not-for-profit organisations and ethnic community groups.  Two 
dedicated Senior Cultural Diversity officers had a central role in the plan’s development, and will have a lead 
role in its implementation.   

The department will continue to work with other agencies to meet the ongoing needs of new migrants, in 
particular humanitarian migrants.  The department participated in the development of an across-government 
working group to address the settlement needs of new emerging African communities.   

All new service delivery staff attend Start-Up training, which includes sessions on working with culturally and 
linguistically diverse communities.  As part of the State Language Services Strategy, in 2005-06 the 
department spent $24,880 on interpreting and translating services for clients not fluent in English.  The Senior 
Advisor, Cultural Diversity provided expert case management support to field staff in relation to cases 
involving clients from culturally diverse backgrounds.  To ensure diverse communities have better access to 
services, local coordination networks were developed with service providers in three metropolitan districts.  
The department’s parenting services continued to increase their focus on ethnic communities to ensure 
appropriate service delivery on parenting issues.  

The Office for Children and Youth is committed to connecting young Western Australians with government and 
community, including young people from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds.  To provide opportunities and deliver outcomes for at-risk children and youth from these 
backgrounds, the office strengthened its partnership with the Office of Multicultural Interests.  To engage with 
young people from new and emerging communities, the office assisted the Australian Asian Association by 
sponsoring a facilitator to coordinate a workshop in June 2006.  When developing the Charter of Rights for 
Children in Care, the office consulted with children and young people in foster care, including Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islanders and those from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.  The charter will be 
published in several languages.   

The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering has a continuing commitment to identifying and addressing 
the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander seniors, and those from culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds.  During 2005-06, the office improved its community and stakeholder feedback processes.  The 
office’s research and evaluation processes were expanded to include reviewing implications of policy with 
regard to cultural background of seniors.  

The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering was funded to conduct a cultural diversity analysis research 
project among culturally and linguistically diverse seniors, as part of the implementation of the State 
Government’s Active Ageing Strategy.  Independent researchers conducted the project.  It involved consulting 
with 500 culturally and linguistically diverse seniors, through 30 discussion groups and individual interviews.  
The majority of discussion groups were conducted with the assistance of a bilingual translator.  The research 
provided qualitative data to supplement a number of the indicators contained in Western Australia’s Seniors – 
Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators.  The research also supplemented the findings of the report, Seniors 
Community Participation Survey.   

The department’s Family and Domestic Violence Unit progressed a number of initiatives to respond to 
domestic violence in ethnic communities.  In October 2005, the unit launched two publications, Violence in the 
family and A guide for families, friends and neighbours for new arrivals to Western Australia and those from 
non-English speaking backgrounds. The publications are available in 18 languages. 

The Family and Domestic Violence Unit continued to support the African Communities Family Support and 
Domestic Violence Planning Group.  Following an African Forum on Domestic Violence, the unit produced a 
report with recommendations aimed at addressing domestic violence in the state’s African communities.  The 
report was launched at a celebratory event in September 2005.  The Family and Domestic Violence Unit also 
produced a review of literature relating to family and domestic violence in culturally and linguistically diverse 
communities. 

The Office for Women’s Policy provided grants for initiatives for women from culturally and linguistically 
diverse communities for International Women’s Day, and through the Western Australian Grants for Women 
Program. The office sponsored the Australian Asian Association’s 50th anniversary celebrations. The office 
analysed housing needs of new migrant communities, and submitted recommendations for culturally 
appropriate housing to the Department of Housing and Works’ draft housing strategy.  
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 
The department undertook a wide range of activities to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
customers and staff, including: 

• An Indigenous Induction Program was developed for new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff.  It 
will be provided to all new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff across the state from 2006-07. 

• A pilot Wrap Around Program commenced in the Kimberley, Southern and Wheatbelt regions to promote 
the attraction and retention of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff.  A Working in Partnership with 
Indigenous People Program was piloted in the Kimberley and Great Southern regions, to complement the 
Wrap Around Program. 

• The department progressed the development of a Cultural Leave and Sensitivity Framework to help 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff meet their cultural obligations. 

• Best Start services, which engage families with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children aged zero to 
five years, operate from three metropolitan and 14 country sites.  

• There are six Aboriginal Early Years Support Services for Aboriginal families with children aged zero to 
three years, located in Midland, Joondalup, Thornlie, Kalgoorlie, Katanning and Albany. 

• The Strong Families initiative operates in 14 locations across the state. 

• Youth and family engagement workers engage with high-risk, multiple-problem Aboriginal families and 
young people. Aboriginal support worker positions across the state work with at-risk Aboriginal youth and 
children who are reluctant to work with the department or the police.  

• Grant agreements to administer the Safe Places Safe People Program were made with local Aboriginal 
organisations in Halls Creek, Kununurra, Port Hedland and Fitzroy Crossing.   

• Two additional community child protection worker positions were created at Halls Creek and One Arm 
Point (Lombadina). 

• The Indigenous Community Partnerships Fund provided grants for 53 community projects to address 
issues identified by the Gordon Inquiry.  

• The Family Information Records Bureau dealt with more than 400 applications for family history 
information from Aboriginal people. 

• The Office for Children and Youth’s Indigenous Youth Leadership Program was progressed through a 
summit held in November 2005 with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people from across the 
state. 

• The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering partnered with the Office for Children and Youth and the 
Department for Indigenous Affairs to fund the Nyikina Association in Derby to provide cultural camps and 
activities for grandparents and grandchildren, to foster intergenerational understanding.  

• The Office for Women’s Policy monitored the progress of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women 
through the Indigenous Women’s Report Card.  

• The department developed the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Community Consultation and 
Placement Model. 

• Forums were held during the year with local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander men’s groups.  A youth 
consultation was conducted in Cannington in September 2005. 

• The department participated in activities during National Reconciliation Week and National Aboriginal and 
Islander Day Observance Committee Week.   

More information on the department’s work with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people can be found in 
the report on services. 

Substantive Equality 
The department continued to support the development of the Public Sector Substantive Equality Policy 
Framework, which aims to ensure public services are not only accessible, but also responsive to the needs of 
different individuals and groups.   

In June 2006, the department’s executive endorsed the Department for Community Development Policy for 
Substantive Equality.  It requires routine assessment of all new policies and major initiatives to ensure 
consistency with the Public Sector Substantive Equality Policy Framework.  Additionally, each year, a service 
or divisional area of operation is selected for a substantive equality review of all policies and practices.  The 
department began identifying areas of operation for assessment during 2006-07.   
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Goal 2:  The Economy 
This goal relates to the development of a strong economy that delivers more jobs, more opportunities and 
greater wealth to Western Australians.  It includes financial management, purchasing, facilities, employment 
opportunities, and research and development. Further information regarding the department’s finances can be 
found in the financial statements and the efficiency measures later in this report. 

The department works primarily with families and single people with children, many of whom live in rural and 
remote regions, and around one quarter of whom are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander. The social 
circumstances of these people and their communities can limit their access to services and employment.  By 
utilising its funding for service provision, policy development and community capacity building initiatives, the 
department assists those at risk of disadvantage to participate more fully in the state’s economy. 

Funding and Financial Information 
Table 3 presents a summary of the department’s actual and budget position funded by appropriations from the 
consolidated fund, Commonwealth specific-purpose grants and other revenues. 

Adjustments to service appropriation for 2005-06 of $2.2 million relate to additional funding received for the 
Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit, Emergency Management initiative and additional indexation for non 
government services.  Other revenue received in 2005-06 was $2.9 million greater than budget, due mainly to 
unanticipated revenue from other State Government departments. 

Total cost of services in 2005-06 was greater than the published budget figure by $12.7 million.  However, the 
total cost of services estimate in the Government’s 2005-06 Mid Year Review was adjusted to $246 million to 
reflect an increase in expenditure of unanticipated revenue and a higher-than-expected level of carryovers 
from 2004-05, due to delays in expenditure on Gordon Inquiry Initiatives, expensed capital works and election 
commitments. 

The net asset position for the department on 30 June 2006 was $2 million more than at the same time in 
2005.  This increase is mainly as a result of a revaluation of non current assets made during 2005-06. 

Table 3: Funding and other financial information  

Funding Budget 2005-06 
$’000 

Actual 2005-06 
$’000 

Actual 2004-05 
$’000 

Recurrent funds 

Service appropriation 

Commonwealth specific-purpose grants 

Other revenues 

Total recurrent funds 

 

213,970 

18,023 

2,948 

234,941 

 

216,149 

18,024 

5,848 

240,021 

 

199,853 

17,635 

5,360 

222,848 

Capital funds 

Contributed equity/appropriations 

Capital funds carried over/service appropriations 

Holding account drawdowns 

Total capital funds 

 

7,072 

4,465 

2,973 

14,510 

 

7,072 

6,844 

2,973 

16,889 

 

4,984 

307 

3,155 

8,446 

Total funding (a) 242,013 247,093 227,832 

Total cost of services 235,367 248,100 232,881 

Total net assets 68,201 73,668 71,675 

(a) Total funding is comprised of total recurrent funds plus contributed equity/appropriations. 
 

Capital Projects 
The department’s capital works program provides for the replacement, maintenance and expansion of assets 
that support the delivery of the department’s services. These assets include service delivery offices, 
community facilities including childcare, hostels and group homes, office furniture and equipment, information 
services, hardware and related software. 

Significant projects completed during 2005-06 include the new Canowindra Hostel, Myera Hostel upgrade, 
Hudson Road Family Centre additions, and extensions to the Dalyellup Community Centre (in partnership with 
the Shire of Capel).   
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Other projects commenced during 2005-06 but yet to be completed include the Bamburra Hostel upgrade, 
Esperance office refurbishment and the new Broome office.  Planning commenced for the relocation or 
refurbishment of the Carnarvon, Kalgoorlie and Manjimup offices.  Planning commenced for a new office to be 
located in the Town of Kwinana (funded by Department of Defence).  The department is also planning for the 
relocation of the Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit to Perth from Fremantle. 

Other community facilities in the planning stage include Kununurra Youth Facility, Busselton Community 
Centre, Fitzroy Crossing Community Resource Centre and Craigie Community House.  Refer to Table 4 for a 
full description.   

Table 4: Capital works projects 2005-06  

Project Estimated cost Estimated year 
of completion 

Canowindra Hostel (completed) $1,300,000 2006 

Dalyellup Community House (completed) $400,000 2006 

Hudson Road Family Centre (completed) $550,000 2006 

Myera Hostel (completed) $560,000 2006 

Kununurra Community Youth Facility $820,000 2007 

Broome office accommodation $750,000 2006 

Manjimup office accommodation $600,000 2007 

Esperance office accommodation $100,000 2006 

Busselton Community Centre $706,000 2007 

Fitzroy Crossing Community and Child Care Centre $1,500,000 2008 

Child care and family centre – minor capital works $450,000 Ongoing 

Carnarvon office accommodation $300,000 2007 

Service delivery – Kalgoorlie office upgrade $1,300,000 2007 

Provider support – South Hedland office upgrade $684,000 2007 

Craigie Community Centre $869,000 2007 

Bamburra Hostel $480,000 2006 

Kwinana office accommodation $315,000 2006 
 
Information, communication and technology projects completed in 2005-06 include: 

• implementation of internet protocol telephony at a number of sites. 
• restructure of the software environments the department uses to develop new computing processes, in 

line with best practice. 
• implementation of the Working with Children Checks system. 
• replacement of personal computers across the state. 
• major computer system upgrades resulting from new legislation. 
• introduction of improved security to support a mobile workforce and interagency collaboration. 

Purchasing Services 
The Department for Community Development has a strong commitment to working with the not-for-profit 
sector to enrich communities and improve opportunities for all families and individuals. During 2005-06, the 
department and its policy offices provided more than $71 million in funding to 328 organisations for provision 
of 568 services. Collectively, this partnership between the sector and the department ensures a much broader 
range of services for individuals, families and communities.  

The department continued to collaborate with the Department of the Premier and Cabinet, other State 
Government departments and non government agencies in the development of the Industry Plan for the Non 
Government Human Services Sector. The plan aims to improve the relationship between the State 
Government and the non government human services sector, and to enhance the work of non government 
services.  

Indexation payments to non government services funded by the department continued in accordance with the 
State Government Indexation Policy for the Non Government Human Services Sector.  Indexation payments 
assisted services to meet cost increases in service delivery.  Payments increased from 2.9 percent, as 
originally announced in the budget, to 3.5 percent for 2005-06.  

In 2005-06, for the first time, the same level of indexation was applied to the state component of funding to 
the Commonwealth/State Supported Accommodation Assistance Program (SAAP). This initiative boosted 
funding to SAAP services in Western Australia by $1.5 million over four years. 
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Goal 3:  The Environment 
The department continued to contribute to a better environment through a waste paper recycling program, a 
water audit and energy saving initiatives. 

Recycling 
The department continued to recycle all discarded paper through Paper Recycling Industries. Staff were 
encouraged to recycle paper, and recycling boxes were placed in all offices across the state. 

Water Audit 
As part of the Sustainability Action Plan, an approved Water Auditor assessed five departmental offices 
greater than 1,000m2 in area.  While investigations are continuing for two of the offices, the audits revealed 
potential actions that could save a typical office five percent of total annual water usage.  These included: 

• installing reduced-flow control valves in toilets and kitchens. 
• installing water saving shower heads and dual flush cisterns. 
• replacing inefficient appliances such as dishwashers.   
Recommended changes will be introduced once all audits are completed.  

Energy Smart 
In accordance with the Government’s Energy Smart initiative, the department continued to introduce initiatives 
to achieve a 12 percent reduction in non transport related energy use between 2001-02 and 2006-07, with a 
10 percent reduction targeted for 2005-06. 

Table 5 shows that the department has to date achieved an 8.78 percent reduction since 2001-02.  There was 
a five percent reduction in 2002-03, one percent in 2003-04 and two percent in 2004-05.  A further two 
percent reduction was required in 2005-06.  Given that some upgrades such as lighting were yet to be 
completed as at 30 June 2006, significant energy reductions were not yet realised in 2005-06.  However, 
when completed, the targeted 12 percent reduction should be achieved by June 2007.   

The department undertook the following initiatives during 2005-06: 

• ongoing advice to work units on to how to save energy.  
• an analysis of energy consumption history to targeted work locations.  This initiative is being implemented 

in all district offices. 
• visiting work locations to present findings, and to encourage Energy Smart as a standing item on 

management team meetings. 
• a review of more energy-efficient technology procurement.  Smarter systems are being incorporated into 

information technology equipment, such as shutting down equipment when not in use.   
• following the success of the 2004-05 lighting upgrade and installation of sub meters at the department’s 

central office, the department secured additional funds from the Sustainable Energy Development Office 
to undertake energy audits at six major metropolitan service delivery offices and seven units in the great 
southern area.  As a result, the department obtained a refundable loan from the Sustainable Energy 
Development Office to rectify problem areas, such as lack of insulation, unsuitable and outdated lighting, 
and lack of metering and adjustment of air-conditioning running times to ensure maximum consumption 
savings.   

Table 5 provides a breakdown of the results for 2005-06.  There was a 39 percent reduction from 2001-02 in 
the performance indicator ‘mega joules per full-time equivalent’.  This was a significant reduction considering 
full-time equivalent staffing numbers increased by 16 percent since 2001-02. 

Table 5: Energy Smart Government Program 2005-06  

Energy Smart Government Program 2001-02 Baseline Data 2005-06 Actuals Variation 

Energy consumption (mega joules) 18,302,597 16,694,921 -8.78% 

Energy cost $778,425 $623,281  

Greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes of CO2) 4,263 tonnes 3,936 tonnes  

Performance indicators (mega joules) 

- mega joules per square metre (office space) 

- mega joules per full-time equivalent 

 

793 

22,169 

 

576 

13,399 
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Goal 4:  The Regions 
The State Government’s goal is to ensure that regional Western Australia is strong and vibrant.  Strategic 
outcomes include effective government service delivery, safe and cohesive regional communities, and 
enhanced quality of lifestyle in the regions.   

The department is committed to strengthening regional Western Australia.  The department has offices in 
eight country districts (as shown in Figure 2) which ensure service delivery to regional and remote areas. 
During 2005-06 it undertook a range of activities to enhance quality of life in regional communities, including: 

• creating a new community capacity builder position in Halls Creek. 
• creating two community child protection positions at Halls Creek and One Arm Point (Lombadina). 
• creating two part-time senior intergenerational officer positions in Albany and Geraldton. 
• extending the Helping Young People Engage Strategy to Broome, Port Hedland, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, 

Derby, Wyndham, Fitzroy Crossing, Halls Creek and Kununurra. 
• creating a new child sexual abuse response service in Roebourne. 
• creating a new Early Years community site in Merredin. 
• providing $15,000 in funding to each district office to encourage Early Years activities. 
• providing $237,648 in Early Years grants to projects in regional areas. 
• providing grants to administer the Safe Places Safe People Program in Halls Creek, Kununurra, Port 

Hedland and Fitzroy Crossing. 
• funding camps for grandparents and grandchildren in ‘grandfamilies’. 
• funding the Nyikina Association in Derby for cultural camps and activities for grandparents and 

grandchildren. 
• providing 15 grants for women’s projects and initiatives under the Western Australian Grants for Women 

Program. 
• providing emergency and financial assistance to those affected by natural disasters in Carnarvon, 

Dwellingup, Lake Grace and the Pilbara. 
• piloting employee development programs in various regional areas, including the Wrap Around Program, 

Working in Partnership with Indigenous People Program, and Existing Worker Traineeship Program. 
• holding information sessions for department staff in the Goldfields, Pilbara and Kimberley on dealing with 

aggressive behaviour by clients. 
• a study into the impact of the Visiting Volunteers Assisting Rural Communities Project. 
• a study into family and domestic violence issues in rural areas. 
• establishing the Wyndham Youth Advisory Council. 
• the Bush Magic Film Festival for the Ord Valley Muster. 
• the Fun Day Out initiative in Esperance. 
• the Kalgoorlie Youth Festival. 
• the Port Hedland Youth Coordination Study. 
• Get Out There Project, a Reconciliation Week event in Geraldton. 

The department’s regional activities are discussed in further detail in the report on services.   

Attraction and Retention of Staff in Regional Areas 
The department is currently developing a pilot intranet site for employees interested in working in regional and 
remote locations.  The site allows employees to gain a sound understanding of an area prior to deciding to 
relocate.  It provides information about available entitlements if they relocate to that area, as well as general 
information about the area, such as facilities and attractions. 

Online Travel System 
An online travel allowance application system has been developed, and is being piloted in the Pilbara region.   
This system replaces the previous manual process and has been brought about due to changes in the 
Australian Taxation Office legislation from 1 July 2005, requiring tax to be deducted from travel allowance 
payments.   

The new system enables staff to apply for travel allowances online, and automatically calculates tax payable.  
It also provides an electronic database of information as required. 

 



 
 
 
 

   17  

 
 

Goal 5:  Governance 
The State Government’s goal is to govern for all Western Australians in an open, effective and efficient 
manner that also ensures a sustainable future. The department is committed to appropriate governance 
including planned decision-making and resource allocation, increased use of technology, and effective, 
independent oversight and reporting. 

Staffing Levels 
As at 30 June 2006, the department employed 1,668 permanent, fixed term and casual employees.  During 
the year it utilised an average of 1,398 full-time equivalents (FTE) throughout the state (see Table 6).  The 
department's average FTE usage increased by 36 from 2004-05. 

As at 30 June 2006, 77 percent of all employees were females and 23 percent males.  Permanent employees 
accounted for 72 percent of the total workforce.     

Table 6: Employment levels at 30 June 2006  

Number of staff at 30 June 2006 (a) (b) 

Full-time Part-time 

Directorate/Office Actual 
average 

FTE usage 

2005-06 P F C P F C 

Total 

Office of the Director General 25.02 18 5  5 5  33 

Business Services Directorate 143.06 122 18  6 10 2 158 

Community Development and 
Statewide Services Directorate 

1,051.28 709 217 59 197 92  1,274 

Indigenous Policy Directorate 5.81 5 2     7 

Program and Sector Development 
Directorate 

92.66 62 24  13 6  105 

Office for Children and Youth 20.69 17 5  3 1  26 

Family and Domestic Violence Unit 11.69 9 3     12 

Office for Seniors Interests and 
Volunteering 

30.89 20 7  4 3  34 

Office for Women’s Policy 17.15 13 5   1  19 

Total number of FTE/staff 1,398.25 975 286 59 228 118 2 1,668 
(a) P = Permanent; F = Fixed term contract; C = Casual. 
(b) Staffing numbers include seconded staff from other government agencies who are paid by the department. 
 

Cultural Change  
The Organisational Cultural Change Program aims to progressively align the workforce culture to better reflect 
the department’s vision and values.  The seven identified projects continued during the year: addressing 
violence and aggression towards staff by clients; attraction and retention of staff; addressing workplace 
bullying; leadership and management; performance development; valuing Aboriginal and non social work 
staff; and communication.  

The Transformational Leadership Program improves leadership skills and supports personal development.  
Executive members were the first participants to complete the program in February 2005.  During 2005-06, 
over 120 employees, including the majority of management staff, also completed the program.  Regional 
workshops were held in the Pilbara and Kimberley, and other country workshops will follow in the second half 
of 2006.  A guiding coalition made up of executive staff was formed to support the roll-out of the program. 

New anti-bullying policy and procedures were developed and implemented.   

A new Dealing with Aggressive Behaviour by Clients Policy was implemented.  It included safety checklists, 
hints and tips for staff, protocols for providing a safe physical environment, procedures for the work 
environment and external visits, and procedures for managers to set guidelines with difficult clients.   

Information sessions on how to deal with aggressive behaviour by clients were conducted in the metropolitan 
area, the Goldfields, Pilbara and Kimberley.  In June 2006, a workshop was conducted to provide skills to 
customer service and administrative staff.  Repeat workshops will occur throughout 2006-07. 

A number of initiatives were developed to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff. These are 
outlined under the Equal Opportunity and Valuing Diversity section. 
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Pool Recruitment 
Given the current tight labour market, considerable work was undertaken with district offices to ensure flexible 
and innovative recruitment processes to attract a wide and appropriate field of applicants.  

Pool recruitment processes were used to engage direct care workers and child care licensing officers.  
Targeted recruitment pools are currently underway to address potential resourcing requirements in identified 
critical demand areas, and to fill vacancies for level 2/4 field worker positions.   

Occupational Safety and Health 
In line with legislative requirements, the proportion of elected safety representatives on the Occupational 
Safety and Health Steering Committee was increased to more than 50 percent.  There are currently 45 safety 
representatives who assist in establishing safe systems of work and enhance communication structures in the 
workplace.   

During 2005-06, a number of initiatives were introduced, including monthly Safety News newsletters, Hazard 
Alerts, and three-monthly safety representative network meetings. 

The Coordinator of Occupational Safety and Health and Risk Management actively promoted a safe work 
environment by visiting a number of metropolitan and regional sites including Goldfields, Pilbara and 
Kimberley districts.   

Training and information sessions were a major focus, including general occupational safety and health, 
manual handling and dealing with aggressive behaviour.   Provisional Improvement Notice training was 
provided to safety representatives in accordance with legislative requirements.   

Employee Assistance Program 
The Employee Assistance Program is a confidential counselling service that assists employees to overcome 
problems that may be causing difficulties in their work or personal lives.  It continues to receive extremely 
high employee satisfaction ratings. Following a work-related incident that may have a serious negative impact 
on an employee’s personal and work life, on-site debriefings are held.  This has proved extremely valuable in 
defusing and resolving issues.  The value of having a quality professional service with 24-hour access and an 
extensive statewide network has been of immense value in responding to employees’ work and personal 
issues. 

Workers’ Compensation, Injury Management and Rehabilitation 
Further amendments to the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 in November 2005 
increased many of the statutory benefits available to injured workers and affected the management of 
workers’ compensation claims.  During 2005-06, there was a decrease in the total number of claims (Table 7).   

However, there was an increase in the number of complex claims.  This was expected due to the changes in 
the legislation, and has increased the total estimated cost.  The department continues a practical claims 
management approach of focusing on injury management and rehabilitation. 

Table 7:  Workers’ compensation and lost time incidents 2003-04 to 2005-06 

 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 

Total workers’ compensation claims 54 61 49 

Lost time injuries (days) 21 26 17 

Lost time frequency rate (a) 6.93 8.30 6.08 

Duration rate (b) 18.69 22.76 22.29 

Number of incidents reported 209 231 251 

Total estimate $3,790,533 $2,744,775 $2,488,094 

(a) This is a ratio involving a calculation of number of accidents to staff hours worked. A smaller rate indicates an improving trend. 
(b) The average number of days lost per incident. 
 
 
The department now provides online information for employees on workers’ compensation and injury 
management, including information on how to lodge a workers’ compensation claim and the injury 
management process.   
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Equal Opportunity and Valuing Diversity 
In 2005-06, the department continued to increase numbers of employees from culturally diverse backgrounds, 
who now comprise eight percent of the workforce.  The number of employees with disabilities decreased over 
the year.  The department has successfully appointed a person with disabilities to a graduate position under 
66R of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984, which gives special provisions to attract staff in diversity groups.  

The number of employees under the age of 25 years decreased in 2005-06.  The department has been 
successful in employing five school-based trainees who are undertaking their Certificate II in Business.  This 
two-year program commences in Year 11.  Trainees undertake two days paid work for the department and 
attend school for the remaining three days per week.   

Employees from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds decreased in 2005-06, largely due to the 
expiry of temporary fixed-term contracts and resignations in country regions.  To address this issue, the 
department is implementing a range of initiatives to attract and retain Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
staff, particularly in country regions.   

Table 8 indicates actual staff numbers within each diversity group at 30 June 2006, and Table 9 shows the 
percentage of employees in each group as a proportion of the total workforce.  The department is currently 
developing its new Equity and Diversity Plan for 2006-2009, which will focus on strategies to increase the 
numbers and/or equity levels of staff in these diversity groups. 

Table 8: Actual employee numbers within equal opportunity groups at 30 June 2002 to 2006 

Equal employment opportunity group Year Number of 
employees 

Culturally 
diverse 

Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait 

Islander 

People with 
disabilities 

Youth 

June 2006 1,668 133 166 46 71 

June 2005 1,625 130 184 50 85 

June 2004 1,541 96 174 43 66 

June 2003 1,435 95 129 33 49 

June 2002 1,428 90 118 35 50 

 

Table 9: Comparison of diversity groups as a percentage of total employees at 30 June 2005 to 2006  

Percentage of total employees  

Culturally  
diverse 

Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait 

Islander 

People with 
disabilities 

Youth 

June 2006 8.0 10.0 2.8 4.3 

June 2005 8.0 11.3 3.1 5.2 

 

Table 10 indicates the equity index profile for each diversity group.  The equity index is a measure of the 
extent to which a group is distributed throughout the salary levels in comparison to all employees. An index of 
100 indicates a group is perfectly distributed and no compression is evident.  An index below 100 indicates a 
group is compressed at lower salary levels, whereas an index greater than 100 indicates a group is 
represented at more senior levels throughout the agency. 

The equity index for culturally diverse employees is 132, which indicates that these employees are 
concentrated more at the senior salary levels than the average for all staff.  Whilst Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander staff numbers decreased in comparison to 2004-05, the equity index for this group continues to 
increase, indicating that more Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff are occupying positions at the senior 
levels.  This result is significantly higher than for the wider public sector generally, which reported an index of 
35 last year.    
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The equity index for women (83) indicates there is compression at lower levels in comparison to male staff.  
The result is similar for employees with disabilities.  This reflects public sector-wide results for these groups. 

Table 10: Equity index for each diversity group at 30 June 2004 to 2006 

Equity index (a) Year 

Culturally diverse Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait 

Islander 

People with 
disabilities 

Women 

June 2006 132 70 56 83 

June 2005 127 65 64 83 

June 2004 89 61 47 81 

(a) Equity index calculation excludes casual employees. 

 

Tables 11 and 12 show the percentage representation and actual numbers of women in levels six and above.  
This indicates that women continue to increase their representation at these senior levels and occupy  
64 percent of all level six and above positions.   

Table 11: Percentage representation of women in senior positions at 30 June 2002 to 2006 

Women as a percentage of total employees Year 

Level 6 Level 7 Level 8 Level 9 and 
above 

Total Level 6 
and above 

June 2006 69 63 43 65 64 

June 2005 64 58 41 69 61 

June 2004 61 59 35 65 58 

June 2003 55 50 35 71 53 

June 2002 59 49 44 50 55 

 

Table 12: Number of women in management at 30 June 2002 to 2006 

Number of women Year 

Level 6 Level 7 Level 8 Level 9 and 
above 

Total Level 6 
and above 

June 2006 122 42 13 11 188 

June 2005 102 35 11 11 159 

June 2004 89 35 8 11 143 

June 2003 71 27 7 10 115 

June 2002 105 30 11 7 153 

 

During 2005-06, a range of diversity initiatives were implemented. 

An Indigenous Induction Program was developed for new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff.  The 
program was piloted in the Perth metropolitan area.  In 2006-07, it will be rolled out for all new Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander staff in regional and metropolitan areas. 

A Wrap Around Program is being piloted in the Kimberley, Southern and Wheatbelt regions.  This program 
provides a total human resources package of support services to specific regional locations enabling the 
attraction and retention of local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff.  The focus of the program is to 
develop local community networks, improve community perceptions of the department, and enhance staff 
skills in working more effectively with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.   
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A Working in Partnership with Indigenous People Program was piloted in the Kimberley and Great Southern 
regions.  This complements the Wrap Around Program and focuses on strengthening relationships between 
staff and the Indigenous community. 

An Existing Worker Traineeship Program was implemented in the Murchison and Wheatbelt regions.  This 
program provides existing employees with the opportunity to do external study and gain a formal Certificate III 
or IV in Community or Children’s Services.   

To support cultural obligations of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff, the department progressed the 
development of a Cultural Leave and Sensitivity Framework.  This was developed with the Departments of the 
Attorney General, Corrective Services, Housing and Works, Education and Training, Indigenous Affairs, 
Consumer and Employment Protection and the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity.  The next phase of 
the project will be to gather information to establish a database of all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
staff employed within the relevant departments.  Surveys will be conducted electronically, and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander staff will be encouraged to respond. Survey responses will inform the future 
development of the Cultural Leave and Sensitivity Framework. 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
In accordance with section 31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the department is required to 
comment on the extent to which it has complied with public sector standards, codes of ethics and any relevant 
code of conduct.   

These policies and procedures are contained in a best practice manual, accessible by all employees on the 
department’s intranet. 

To monitor and assess the extent of compliance with the ethical codes and public sector standards, the 
department conducts an annual audit.  The audit for 2005-06 reported that the department met the 
requirements of the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management and continues to diligently 
meet its compliance requirements. It also indicated the department needs to progress the Performance 
Management System for staff. 

In 2005-06, no complaints were made in relation to non-compliance with the ethical codes.  No claims were 
received for breach of standards from Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management 2001.  This 
was an outstanding result, given the significant increase in recruitment and selection processes during  
2005-06.  It is a significant improvement from 2004-05, when seven breach of standard claims were received 
(none of which were substantiated).   

In September 2005, the Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner launched the new Public Sector 
Management (Breaches of Public Sector Standards) Regulations 2005.  The new regulations were 
communicated widely across the department, and policies were updated to reflect the new regulations.  In 
June 2006, the Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner conducted an audit of the Temporary 
Deployment (Acting) and Grievance Resolution Standards, to assess the department against the requirements 
of the new regulations.  

Corruption Prevention 
The department’s strategic risk management plan targets potential risks in security of data, theft, fraud, 
unauthorised transactions, misconduct and inappropriate purchases.  In line with the requirements of 
Premier's Circular 2005/02, the department continued to develop strategies to identify and reduce the 
likelihood and consequence of risks associated with corruption and misconduct.  This included ongoing 
refinement of policies and procedures in the department's best practice manual.   

In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 825, the Internal Audit Branch targeted appropriate areas and 
systems for audit.  Ongoing assessments identified risks of corruption and misconduct.  Treatment action 
plans were developed as risks arose.  Regular reports on the strategic risk management plan were tabled with 
the department's Internal Audit Committee and at executive meetings.   

The Human Resources Division continued to take measures to reduce corruption and misconduct in the 
department.  Information sessions were held with employees in the Kimberley, Pilbara, Murchison, Goldfields, 
South West and Great Southern regions.  Sessions covered the standard of behaviour expected of all public 
officers, as set out in the Public Sector Management Act 1994, Public Sector Code of Ethics, the Corruption 
and Crime Commission Act 2003, and the department’s Code of Conduct. 

Sessions also covered the discipline process under the Public Sector Management Act 1994, and the 
department’s obligation to report incidents of misconduct and corruption to the Corruption and Crime 
Commission under Section 28 of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003.  An employee guide on the 
discipline process is being developed.  During 2005-06, there were no incidences of a discipline process due 
to an allegation of corruption. 
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Public Interest Disclosures 
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 defines special action that must be taken by agencies in relation to 
disclosures of public interest information that may show that a public authority, officer or contractor has been, 
or proposes to be involved in, improper conduct, committing an offence, misuse of public resources, or an act 
or omission which poses a risk to the public or the environment. Details of the department’s Public Interest 
Disclosure Officers and internal procedures are published on the department’s website and intranet.  There 
were no reported cases in 2005-06.   

Research and Evaluation 
The department undertakes a broad program of research and evaluation initiatives to support the 
development of effective policy and practice.  These include projects conducted by departmental staff, 
projects contracted to independent consultants, and research partnerships with other organisations.  This 
approach enables the most efficient use of resources, and allows an independent perspective on key issues.  
Two department staff were outposted at the University of Western Australia and Curtin University to undertake 
research activities relating to the needs of vulnerable children, and community capacity building. 

Research and evaluation projects on a wide range of topics were completed during the year (refer to 
Appendix 5). 

Freedom of Information 
Under the Freedom of Information Act 1992, the department is required to release information following 
appropriate requests by members of the public.  Procedures for freedom of information requests are available 
on request and on the department’s website.  Members of the public may request information by lodging a 
freedom of information application form, or in any other written form, at any office.  

In 2005-06, the department accepted 76 valid applications for access to information. The number of 
applications was greater than in 2004-05.    

Applications took an average of 30 days to process, higher than the previous year’s figure but within the 
government requirement of no more than 45 days.  Table 13 shows the number of applications over the last 
five years. 

Table 13: Freedom of information applications 2001-02 to 2005-06  

 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 

Applications received 76 46 61 42 71 

Applications withdrawn (a) 18 19 17 8 18 

Personal applications 51 34 37 24 39 

Non personal applications 25 12 24 18 32 

Average days taken to process 30 18 24 31 25 

(a) The number of applications withdrawn is a subset of the total applications received.  Some applications withdrawn may have been 
received in the previous financial year. 

 

Record Keeping Plan 
The State Records Act 2000 requires the department to have a record keeping plan.  In accordance with the 
State Records Commission Standard 2: Principle 6, the department is required to comment on compliance 
with the plan in the annual report. 

The planning phase for the introduction of the department’s new electronic document and records 
management system is underway.  Implementation is planned for mid-2007. The record keeping plan will be 
updated at that point as new policies and procedures are introduced during implementation. 

Training in records management is provided to departmental staff using the current records management 
system, TRIM. Several training packages are offered, depending on the user’s requirements.  The training 
program will be reviewed in line with requirements of the new electronic document and records management 
system.  Table 14 shows the numbers of training sessions and staff who completed training in 2005-06. 
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Table 14: Staff records management training 2005-06  

 2005-06 

TRIM Webdrawer training sessions 64 

TRIM Production training sessions 96 

Total training sessions 160 

Staff trained in client records management 91 

Staff trained in administrative records management 109 

 

The department provides information on records management practices and employee responsibilities through 
its online induction program for new employees, and in its best practice manual. 

At least once a year, Information Support Services staff conduct quality assurance and compliance audits of 
administrative and client records held by each office of the department. They have reported improvements in 
compliance to the department’s record` keeping plan over the past two years. 

Advertising and Sponsorship 
As required under the Electoral Act 1907, Table 15 shows the department’s total expenditure and names of 
recipients under the categories of advertising, market research, media advertising and direct mail 
organisations.  There was no expenditure in the category of polling organisations.  Details of sponsorships 
received and provided by the department are listed in Appendix 6. 

Table 15: Advertising and marketing expenditure 2005-06  

Category Organisation Total category 
amount 

Advertising agencies Christine Glenister and Associates; Equilibrium Integrated 
Communication; Vinten Browning 

$51,639 

Market research organisations Patterson Market Research $85,220 

Media advertising organisations Channel 9 Commercial Productions; Concept Media; Core 
Marketing; Evoke Media; Have A Go News; Marketforce 
Productions; Media Decisions; Redline; Riverina Media Group; 
Swan Television & Radio Broadcast; Unity Publications 

$586,324 

Direct mail organisations Hermes Precisa Australia; Northside Distributors; Salmat Laser 
Printing & Mailing Services; Zipform 

$59,302 

 

Sustainability 
Consistent with the requirements of the Western Australian State Sustainability Strategy, the department 
continued to progress its Sustainability Action Plan in 2005-06. 

A key component of the plan is to promote sustainable development by contributing to the development of the 
not-for-profit sector and the broader community, through the principles of inclusiveness, engagement, 
collaboration and capacity building.   

At an operational level, the department continued to pursue environmental and economic sustainability 
activities through recycling programs, energy conservation and fleet management practices. 

Some examples of community capacity initiatives undertaken by the department in 2005-06 were: 

• Building the capacity of the not-for-profit sector  

The department funds 328 not-for-profit organisations for provision of 568 services for individuals, families 
and communities.  The sector’s capacity is enhanced through training opportunities, information provision, 
engagement and planning processes that will inform continuous improvement strategies, policy formulation, 
program development, provision of services and responses, and strategic directions.   
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• Community capacity builder positions 

In 2005-06, three new positions were created in Joondalup, Peel and Halls Creek, in addition to existing 
positions at Carnarvon, Esperance, Meekatharra, Onslow, Tom Price, Katanning, Perth and Mirrabooka.  
Their role is to work collaboratively with local community groups and community members to develop 
sustainable solutions to key social issues.  Suggested models of practice and performance indicators for 
success are being developed through a partnership with the Alcoa Research Centre for Stronger Communities 
at Curtin University of Technology.  The centre is also evaluating the roll-out of the first eight positions. 

• Helping Young People Engage Strategy  

This program was extended from the metropolitan area to Broome, Port Hedland, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, 
Derby, Wyndham, Fitzroy Crossing, Halls Creek and Kununurra.  The strategy builds the capacity of the 
community to deal with antisocial behaviour in young people.  It involves partnerships between the 
department, local government and local businesses. 

Audit Reviews 
The department undertook a comprehensive program of internal audit reviews during 2005-06. The areas and 
systems subject to audit were identified via a formal risk assessment that included management requirements 
and generally accepted governance approaches.  

The audits included: 

• Compliance with public sector human resource standards. 
• Children in the department's care. 
• Reviews of department-funded organisations. 
• Systems for funding to non government organisations/contract management. 
• Case support costs. 
• Contract for services. 
• Financial assistance to clients. 
• Records management. 
• Tenders and written quotes. 
• Complaints management. 
• Child care licensing. 
• Information technology security/disaster recovery. 
• Building maintenance. 
• Review of activities in service delivery offices. 
• Working with Children card. 
• Online travel system. 
• Strategic risk management.  

Information Technology 
The department commenced work on a new computerised client information system supported by an 
electronic document and records management system.  The project, ASSIST, will replace existing ageing 
systems with a single, fully integrated information system that addresses core business processes and 
improves management of the department’s records and documents. 

In January 2006, an information system supporting the requirements under the Working with Children 
(Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 was implemented.  The department was a finalist in the 2006 Excellence 
in Australian Government’s e-Government Award for the development of this system.   

Significant changes were made to client-related systems in support of the practice and procedural changes 
resulting from the Children and Community Services Act 2004, which came into operation on 1 March 2006.  

A project to replace the department’s computers was completed during the year.  Improved security features 
were introduced, and considerable work was carried out to enable staff to access the department’s 
information network from external locations. 
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Report on Services 
 

 

 

This section includes reports on the following services: 

 

• Community development 

• Children’s and young person’s policy 

• Positive ageing policy 

• Women’s policy and progress 

• Volunteering policy coordination 

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander policy coordination 

• Care and safety services 

• Family and domestic violence coordination 

• Working with children checks 
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   Community Development 

 
 
This section includes: 
• Community capacity building 
• Early intervention and parenting services 
• Not-for-profit organisations 
• Grants programs 
• Child care and child care licensing and standards 
• Family information 
• Training 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 1. 

 

Community Capacity Building 
The overall aim of community capacity building is to increase the ability of community members to make 
informed choices to shape a positive future.  The department supports individuals, families and communities 
to make their own decisions about how to manage the issues confronting them.  

A capacity building approach acknowledges that no single agency or service provider has all the answers to 
the very complex issues confronting families and communities.  It recognises that while there will always be a 
need to help those with insufficient resources to achieve solutions, every individual, family or community with 
an issue has existing strengths, holds some of the answers and can contribute to the solutions.    

Building resilience and resourcefulness helps people to be self-sufficient rather than dependent.  It 
encourages people to discover their own strengths; reach their own potential; problem-solve for themselves; 
and throughout the process, develop the confidence necessary for an independent life.   

Capacity building includes working in partnership with other government agencies, business, industry, the not-
for-profit sector, community organisations and other sectors to achieve better outcomes for people.  

The department has a key responsibility to protect children harmed through abuse and neglect.  The 
department recognises that responsibility for the wellbeing and safety of children belongs to the whole 
community, and that strong and cohesive communities are important sources of support to vulnerable 
families.  A community development approach is an important strategy in creating safe communities that can 
protect children from harm. 

During the year, the Capacity Building Strategic Framework 2005-2007 was reviewed and updated internally, 
to ensure it remained current and to incorporate new good practice examples.  

The framework outlines the department’s approach to developing capacity in three areas:   

• children, young people, individuals and families. 

• communities.  

• the department, its staff and its funded services.  

The framework supports the objectives of the department’s Strategic Plan 2005-2007.  It underpins all areas 
of the department’s work and encompasses all of its functions, including policy formulation, program 
development, funding arrangements and relationships, administration, coordination, provision of services and 
responses and volunteering support. 

In 2005-06, community capacity builder positions were increased from eight to 11, with new positions created 
in Joondalup, Peel and Halls Creek.  The second phase of an evaluation of the initial eight positions was 
conducted by Curtin University’s Alcoa Research Centre for Stronger Communities.    

The Helping Young People Engage Strategy was further extended during 2005-06 to Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, 
Derby, Wyndham, Fitzroy Crossing, Halls Creek and Kununurra.  This strategy aims to build the community’s 
capacity to deal with issues of antisocial behaviour in young people.  It involves partnerships with local 
government and local businesses.   
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A number of community capacity building strategies were undertaken to respond to community concerns in 
Halls Creek, and support families and the community in providing for the wellbeing and safety of their children 
and young people: 

• the Safe Places Safe People initiative provides funding for local responses to children and young people 
who, because of violence, abuse or other problems, cannot stay in their own home overnight and instead 
go to a family they trust. This initiative, funded under the Gordon Inquiry, was developed alongside local 
Aboriginal communities.  

• the Helping Young People Engage Strategy was established to divert young people away from an 
offending lifestyle and/or becoming a victim of crime. The program was developed with local Aboriginal 
people, and provides local employment opportunities.  

• Protective Behaviours training was provided to service providers and community members, to help people 
feel safe in the community.  

• the Halls Creek Early Years Group, supported by the department as part of the Government’s Early Years 
Strategy, builds the community’s capacity regarding the importance of effective care in the early years. It 
aims to increase knowledge of early brain development, the effects of alcohol on pregnancy, nutrition, 
safe environments for children, child health and parenting skills.  

• a new community capacity builder position was created.   

Early Intervention and Parenting Services 
The early years are a critical period in children’s development, and it is important that every child has the 
opportunity to make a strong start.  Alongside the developmental opportunities that enrich the early years, 
children are also vulnerable to harm during this period.  Early intervention and prevention services 
complement the department’s statutory services to strengthen the ability of families and communities to 
promote children’s wellbeing.  This can help break intergenerational cycles of abuse and neglect, and reduce 
the need for more intrusive intervention services in a child’s life.  

It is in the early years that the greatest gains can be made in the prevention of later-life problems.  A priority 
for the department is promoting a focus on children in the early years, and investing in support for families 
and communities.  Evidence shows that investing resources early can provide greater gains for long-term 
child health and social outcomes, and can prevent the occurrence or recurrence of maltreatment. 

The Early Years Strategy is an across-government initiative designed to improve the wellbeing of young 
children aged zero to eight years.  As part of its commitment to the strategy, the department supported  
25 Early Years community sites in 2005-06.  This included three new target communities: the Merredin region; 
the City of Canning; and parents in metropolitan prisons. Three project officers worked collaboratively with 
community members and agencies in these sites to develop local Early Years networks, map existing services 
and identify local priorities for young children.  

The Best Beginnings home visiting service delivers a structured program to support expectant parents and 
parents with children up to two years of age, where there are a number of risk factors that may lead to poor 
life outcomes for children. It is a strengths-based program based on developing a relationship of trust 
between the parent and the home visitor. The program focuses on improving both parent and child wellbeing, 
particularly through developing parental skills.  There are currently six metropolitan and two rural services. 
Best Beginnings is a collaborative program with the Department of Health.  At Fremantle, the City of Cockburn 
has joined the partnership.  

An analysis of Best Beginnings program data between 2001 and 2005 found positive outcomes for primary 
caregivers and children.  Based on a comparison of risk factors at referral to and discharge from the program, 
outcomes included:  

• more stable housing. 

• a decrease in parental depression. 

• an increase in children's immunisation rates and general health. 

• an increase in children's social and emotional competence. 

• decreased parental social isolation. 

• an increase in parents returning to the workforce and or/education.  

The capacity for flexible service delivery allows the program to meet the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander or culturally and linguistically diverse families.  A small number of fathers have now engaged in the 
service, as the primary caregiver of their child.  Home visitors developed local initiatives for vulnerable 
parents in need of additional assistance, for example teenage parents. 
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Best Start services engage with parents and extended family of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children 
aged zero to five years, to ensure children’s needs are met and to improve their transition to school.  The 
service offers a range of activities including playgroups, home visits and workshops. The service operates 
from three sites in the metropolitan area, and 14 sites in rural and remote areas.  

There are six Aboriginal Early Years Support Services for Aboriginal families with children aged zero to three 
years.  These services are located in Midland, Joondalup, Thornlie, Kalgoorlie, Katanning and Albany, and 
have unique service delivery models that work in partnership with the local community. 

In March 2006, a two-day positive parenting workshop was held for seven pregnant Aboriginal women and 
one new mother. The aim was to better prepare the women for parenthood and to link them into parenting 
support services for the first five years of their child’s life.  The program was a partnership with Best 
Beginnings home visiting service, Best Start and the Aboriginal Early Years Support Service. 

Fourteen Parenting Services provide information and advice to parents and carers.  Information includes 
books, videos, pamphlets, talks, workshops and parenting groups, and the opportunity for parents to speak 
one-to-one with coordinators and volunteers.  Services are located at Albany, Balga, Broome, Bunbury, 
Carnarvon, Geraldton, Joondalup, Kalgoorlie, Karratha, Langford, Mandurah, Midvale, Northam and Port 
Kennedy.   

The eight departmental and five non government Parent Link services provide home visits to help parents 
develop skills, knowledge and confidence for parenting young children aged zero to five years.  Services are 
located at Albany, Armadale, Fremantle, Geraldton, Joondalup, Mandurah, Midland, Mirrabooka, Northam, 
Rockingham, Scarborough, South Hedland and Victoria Park. 

Both Parent Link and the Parenting Service were enhanced by recruiting and training volunteers from the local 
communities to work with parents. 

Not-for-Profit Organisations 
During 2005-06, the department and its policy offices provided more than $71 million in funding to 328 
organisations, for provision of 568 services. Of these, 170 organisations and 250 services were in regional 
areas.  Funding contributed to community wellbeing by enabling the revision of a range of services for 
individuals, families and communities, and by building networks and local support.  

The department assisted the non government sector to build its organisational capacity during the period 
2003-2005 by providing $314,303 to the Western Australian Council of Social Service for the EmployRight 
Project.  EmployRight provides non government services funded by the department with training, website and 
helpline support for staff selection, recruitment, and occupational health and safety. The handbook Choose 
With Care: Building Child Safe Organisations was provided to funded services.  The handbook assisted 
services to develop child safe policies and procedures. The EmployRight Project concluded on 31 December 
2005.  

Grants Programs 
The Youth Development Holiday Program funds school holiday activities for young people to build self-esteem 
and social development. The program allocates a short-term finite grant to eligible service providers to enable 
them to undertake developmental activities for young people in secondary schools (Years 8 to 12). During 
2005-06, 88 organisations received $201,764 in funding for 185 programs.   

To encourage Early Years activities at a local level, metropolitan offices were provided with $10,000 each and 
country district offices were provided with $15,000 each.  In total, $163,460 was allocated to districts. 

Communities in the Early Years Program can access grants to help implement their local plans.  The 
department and Lotterywest work in partnership to provide a combined grants approach.  During 2005-06, 
$583,672 was allocated for Early Years projects; of this, $237,648 was for projects in regional areas, and 
$346,024 for projects in metropolitan areas. 

The Indigenous Community Partnerships Fund provides small-scale grants of up to $15,000 for innovative 
community initiatives, where Aboriginal communities work in partnership with government agencies to address 
the issues identified by the Gordon Inquiry.  Key themes are: 

• reducing abuse and violence in Aboriginal communities. 

• strengthening responses to vulnerable children and adults at risk. 

• strengthening the safety of the community. 

• strengthening the governance, confidence, economic capacity and sustainability of communities. 

In 2005-06, funding of $694,374 was allocated to 53 projects. 
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Child Care and Child Care Licensing and Standards  
At 30 June 2006, there were 1,521 licensed child care services in Western Australia, consisting of 552 child 
care centres, 773 family day care services, 192 outside school hours care centres and four outside school 
hours family day care services.  Combined, these services offer 37,731 child care places throughout the state 
at any one time.   

In August 2003, the Community Services (Outside School Hours Care) Regulations 2002 came into effect, 
requiring all outside school hours care services to be licensed by 27 August 2005.  Early in 2005-06, the 
department completed the licensing of 185 outside school hours care services.   

During the year, 34 complaints involving a regulatory breach were made to the Child Care Licensing and 
Standards Unit.  The department successfully prosecuted two services for breaches of the regulations.  One 
case to refuse a licence was heard before the State Administrative Tribunal. 

In October 2005, the State Government announced an injection of $3.6 million over the next four years into 
the Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit to allow for an increased emphasis on compliance with the 
regulations.  The additional funding allowed for the following: 

• the appointment of a director strengthened the management of the unit. 

• staff were permanently appointed to the new investigation and prosecution team.  

• the number of permanent licensing staff was increased.  

• a new information and reporting officer was appointed.   

• a senior legal officer now supports the investigation and prosecution team and licensing staff.   

• in October 2005, the Office of the Auditor General released a report detailing its examination of the 
regulation of child care.  The strengthening of the unit assisted the department to address issues raised in 
the report. 

The department successfully fulfilled its 2004-05 contract with the Australian Government’s Department of 
Families, Communities and Indigenous Affairs.  Under the contract, the department provided training and 
support to assist the outside school hours care sector to implement the Australian Government’s Outside 
School Hours Care Quality Assurance System Program.  In 2005-06, the department was awarded a further 
contract valued at $253,060, for the period July 2005 to November 2006.  Training and support were delivered 
throughout the state, with high levels of participation and reported satisfaction. 

The department developed new child care regulations, required for the commencement of the Children and 
Community Services Act 2004 on 1 March 2006.  Feedback from the child care sector resulted in amendments 
to the regulations.  There are five sets of regulations for child care: 

• Children and Community Services Regulations 2006, which refer to crèches and transitional provisions. 

• Children and Community Services (Child Care) Regulations 2006. 

• Children and Community Services (Family Day Care) Regulations 2006. 

• Children and Community Services (Outside School Hours) Regulations 2006. 

• Children and Community Services (Outside School Hours Family Day Care) Regulations 2006. 

The development of regulations occurred in two stages.  The first stage included the transfer of existing 
regulations into the new regulations, and the development of those regulations required to reflect the 
provisions of the new Act.  The second stage will see a further revision of the regulations, to consider more 
complex issues such as qualifications, transport and premises.  This will commence in 2006-07, and will be 
developed in consultation with the children’s services sector. 

During 2005-06, the Child Care Advisory Committee continued to meet, focussing on the following priorities: 

• child care regulations – monitoring and advising on appropriate consultation, and evaluating stage one of 
the regulations review; and monitoring and advising on appropriate consultation processes for stage two 
regulatory changes. 

• consideration of appropriate service delivery models (including resourcing issues) for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander and rural and remote communities, with a view to encouraging more effective and 
appropriate involvement by State Government. 

• scoping and advocating for the development of a Western Australian Integrated Child Care Strategy, to be 
based on a comprehensive review of the existing context and successful interstate initiatives.  

The committee introduced several initiatives to research innovative child care staff training models, 
recognising that quality training underpins quality service delivery.   



 
 
 
 

   30  

 
 

Family Information 
During 2005-06, the Family Information Records Bureau continued to deal with significant and sensitive 
challenges relating to the separation of children from their families. In 2005-06, there was a significant 
increase in the number of formal applications and telephone enquiries received by the bureau. 

Table 16: Applications received by the Family Information Records Bureau 2005-06 (a) 

(a)  324 informal enquiries were also received but not recorded. 
 
The bureau continued to identify and preserve records of significance to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander community, former British and Maltese child migrants and children in care. The bureau also 
continued to digitally image records from the former Native Welfare and Community Welfare departments to 
preserve deteriorating original records. 

The bureau visited Stolen Generation meetings and remote community reunions, and gave presentations to 
service providers.  

In August 2005, a consortium made up of the Australian and State Governments purchased the Jan Goodacre 
Collection, a private collection of Aboriginal records and photographs.  This collection holds information 
that can help Western Australian Aboriginal people rebuild family ties and cultural links. 

Training 
The focus of the new Learning Development Unit, based at the Community Skills Training Centre, was to 
support strategic directions and introduce changes proposed for 2005-06, through increasing skills, improving 
standards, adopting best practice, updating resources, facilities and technology, and building partnerships 
across the community services sector and within the department.  

In 2005-06, the centre delivered 181 training courses to 3,190 participants, including 1,607 departmental staff 
and 1,583 staff from the Commonwealth/State Supported Accommodation Assistance Program and other 
funded community service sectors.  

During 2005-06, the centre established a Resource Library cataloguing over 900 training resources.  The 
centre updated and expanded training facilities to include multimedia resources and an additional training 
room.  The centre updated training systems to include web-based communications, a training calendar, online 
registrations and expansion of data recording and retrieval.  The centre introduced technologies to support  
e-learning, computer-enhanced training that provides flexible work-based learning and can be customised to 
meet individual needs. 

During 2005-06, the Start-Up Program was refined for fieldworkers, incorporating capacity building, child 
protection and children in care streams.  The centre delivered six Start-Up practice induction programs, 
combining the expertise of over 40 presenters.  

Application Description Status Complete 

Child migrant 11 

Client file (Aboriginal) 25 

Client file (non Aboriginal) 76 

Family history (Aboriginal) 131 

Full family history (Aboriginal) 206 

Full family history (non Aboriginal) 1 

General information 30 

General information (Aboriginal) 75 

Interstate 78 

Proof of Aboriginality 6 

Tracing (Aboriginal) 4 

Tracing (non Aboriginal) 7 

Total 650 
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The centre provided professional development through the department’s communities of practice forums for 
the community development and funding officers, psychological assessment and treatment services, 
Aboriginal support works and team leaders. 

The centre worked in partnership with the Legislation Unit on the design and implementation of the Children 
and Community Services Act 2004, and worked with the Indigenous Policy Directorate to introduce the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Community Consultation and Child Placement Model.   

The department is the state’s largest single provider of social work student placements.  In 2005-06, the 
department provided 42 social work placements, including students from the three Western Australian schools 
of social work, and from eastern states and overseas universities.  This is an effective source of recruitment; 
the department subsequently employed 67 percent of students who previously undertook their placement with 
the department.  The contribution of the department’s social workers to providing placements and supervision 
for the students is gratefully acknowledged. 

During 2005-06 the centre revitalised its approach to the Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 
(SAAP).  New strategies included: 

• over 80 courses held throughout the year. 
• upskilling departmental and SAAP trainers in the new Certificate IV Training and Assessment (Train the 

Trainer accreditation). 
• a Training Consultation Day in late 2005. 
• new systems including the online SAAP and Community Services Sector Calendar.  
• improved access to course information.  
• programs to address diverse sexuality and gender identity.  
• expression of interest courses. 
• specialist training with agencies such as the WA Aids Council.   

To increase the number of SAAP subsidy applications and payments, wider access to the program was 
provided by assisting rural SAAP services to attend training. 

During 2005-06, the Community Development Seminar Series operated four seminars and one workshop.  
Each attracted between 50 and 150 participants. A grant from Lotterywest improved country participation 
through four videoconferences, reaching between four and 20 regional sites each session.  Western 
Australian Country Health Services, Department of Health and Conferwest assisted with broadcasts.   

International specialist in community development, Ms Flo Frank, visited from Canada.  Ms Frank gave a 
metropolitan community development seminar for around 150 people, a videoconference for country locations, 
a workshop, and a round table for key leaders from relevant organisations to contribute to practice and 
knowledge development.  This was funded by the department and Curtin University of Technology’s Alcoa 
Research Centre for Stronger Communities.   

Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the department will: 

• progress the implementation of the Helping Young People Engage Strategy in the metropolitan area, and 
link the five Kimberley sites (Derby, Fitzroy, Halls Creek, Wyndham and Kununurra) with local Safe 
Places Safe People initiatives to support local communities to keep their young people safe. 

• introduce an improved framework for compliance with, and enforcement of, child care regulations. 
• develop a policy framework and service options to promote an increase in the number of men accessing 

services. 
• continue community development roundtables with key stakeholders from relevant organisations to 

discuss and debate issues that further develop practices in Western Australia. 
• enhance field worker Start-Up and other training by incorporating the strengths-based approach to 

practice, whereby staff work with the strengths of communities and individuals to achieve positive results. 
• implement the department’s Cultural Diversity Policy and Framework 2006-09 to promote the development 

and delivery of culturally and linguistically responsive, and accessible, services. 
• continue the Parent Support service in the South East and East metropolitan police districts as part of the 

Responsible Parenting initiative, and undertake work to commence services in a remote site and the 
South metropolitan and Peel police districts. 
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Children’s and Young Persons’ Policy 
 

 
This section includes: 
• Customer profile 
• Policy and programs 
• Children and youth development 
• Promoting positive images of children and youth 
• Consultation and participation 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 2. 
 

Customer Profile 
At 30 September 2005, there were an estimated 688,477 children and young people aged under 25 years in 
Western Australia.  They represented 34 percent of the state’s total population; 20 percent were children aged 
14 years and younger, and 14 percent were young people aged between 15 and 24 years. 

In 2004, 70 percent of the state’s children and 76 percent of the state’s young people lived in the Perth 
metropolitan area.  There is considerable diversity among children and young people in Western Australia, 
meaning emerging issues must be treated with sensitivity. 

Six percent of the state’s total population of children aged 14 years and younger are Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander.  Six percent of the state’s total population of children were born overseas, and half of these 
are from non-English speaking countries.  The two most common languages spoken by children apart from 
English are Chinese languages and Vietnamese.  However, there are a large number of language groups with 
a small but significant proportion of speakers. 

The proportions for young people aged 15 to 24 years are similar.  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young 
people are four percent of the state’s total.  Seventeen percent of young people were born overseas, and 
nearly half of these are from non-English speaking backgrounds.  The most common languages other than 
English are Chinese languages, Italian and Indonesian. 

There are more children and young people living with two parents than within a one-parent family.  Eight 
percent of young women have moved from the family home to form partnerships and families of their own, 
compared to five percent of young men. 

Four percent of young people are a husband, wife or partner and have children, and one percent are lone 
parents. 

Policy and Programs 
A book for young children, Caterpillar Toothpaste, was launched by the Minister for Youth during National 
Families Week in May 2006.  The book helps younger children develop early decision-making and literacy 
skills, and encourages children to think about their decisions, seek guidance from those they trust, and weigh 
up positive and negative aspects of potential outcomes.  The book acknowledges the important role of parents 
as their child’s first teacher.  Research shows that book reading, rhymes and language play in the earliest 
years have the potential to bring about improved language, decision-making and literacy outcomes for 
children. 

Statistics released in 2005 indicated that the average estimated debt for those under 18 years of age was 
$3,000, and for 18-24 year-olds it ranged from $5,000 to $6,000.  The most common household debts were 
mortgages (35 percent of all debts), bank loans (18 percent), car finances (13 percent), and HECS-related 
debts (13 percent).  The department’s Office for Children and Youth, in collaboration with the Department of 
Consumer and Employment Protection and the Youth Legal Service of Western Australia Inc, launched a 
booklet in August 2005 called Managing and Avoiding Debt: A Young Person’s Guide.  It covers topics 
including budgeting techniques, credit cards, mobile telephone bills, buying a car, shopping on the internet, 
house sharing considerations, and where to get help on managing debts. 

The Indigenous Youth Leadership Program was progressed through a summit held at The Vines in November 
2005.  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people from across the state gathered for the two-day 
summit.  They developed a series of recommendations to be implemented during 2006-07 in partnership with 
a non government service provider.  Funds to develop the program were contributed by the Department for 
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Community Development, the Department of Education and Training, Office of Crime Prevention, Department 
of the Premier and Cabinet, and Healthway. 

In partnership with the Australian Bureau of Statistics, the Office for Children and Youth edited the final 
version of the statistical wellbeing indicators for children and youth in Western Australia.  The indicators, to be 
released in early 2006-07, will support informed decision-making across government by providing an evidence 
base for policy and programs. 

Support and assistance was provided to 28 youth coordination networks throughout the state, to ensure 
programs and services for young people were supported and coordinated.   

The Cultural Grants Review of the Youth Grants WA Program was published in a 30-page booklet, and 
distributed to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and review participants. 

Regional development officers continued to support the development and implementation of programs and 
initiatives.  Regional staff are located in the Kimberley, Goldfields, Pilbara, Midwest, Great Southern, and 
South West regions.  Two development officers based in Perth service the northern and southern outer 
metropolitan corridor.  Significant achievements in 2005-06 included: 

• establishment of the Wyndham Youth Advisory Council, in partnership with key stakeholders.  
• development of asset maps of regional and local stakeholders. 
• assisting the planning, development and implementation of the Halls Creek Helping Young People 

Engage Strategy. 
• supporting the Bush Magic Film Festival for the Ord Valley Muster. 
• assisting organisation of the Fun Day Out initiative in Esperance. 
• development of the Kalgoorlie Youth Festival. 
• implementation of the Port Hedland Youth Coordination Study. 
• assisting with the Get Out There Project, a Reconciliation Week event in Geraldton. 
• developing a mobile youth space, including a mobile youth activities and support bus. 
• assisting in the development of a youth music event which raised awareness and funds for positive mental 

health. 
• facilitating a workshop for a young mother’s group on self-esteem and assertiveness. 

Children and Youth Development 
Now in its tenth year, the State Government’s youth development program, Cadets WA, continued to grow in 
2005-06.  A community awareness and recruitment campaign was launched in March 2006 at John Septimus 
Roe Anglican Community School.  The campaign unveiled a fresh new look for the program, which increased 
interest amongst schools and young people.  As at 30 June 2006, 193 cadet units were operating in Western 
Australia, involving approximately 6,200 cadets.  This is an increase of 10 cadet units over the same period 
last year, however the total number of cadets is slightly down, reflecting a general trend in 2006 towards a 
higher number of smaller cadet units.  This provides better opportunities for participants to access the cadet 
program of their choice. 

Under the Community Service Grant Program, grants totalling $1.36 million were allocated to 23 community-
based organisations, to provide development services to children and young people.  These offered 
opportunities to develop leadership, life skills and teamwork through activities, events and experiences.  
Telephone services provided support for those in need of assistance.  A review of all funded services by an 
independent assessment panel commenced during 2005-06.  Recommendations will be made to the Minister 
for Youth in July 2006. 

Increasingly, grandparents are taking a lead role in caring for their grandchildren on a full-time basis. To 
engage children and youth currently in the primary care of their grandparents, the Office for Children and 
Youth, in partnership with the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering, coordinated a series of 
‘grandfamily’ camps in Pinjarra, Albany and Joondalup.  Camps provided grandparents and their 
grandchildren an opportunity to share experiences with those in a similar situation, and to enjoy some much-
needed respite. 

In 2005-06, the Youth Grants WA Program provided 32 grants of up to $5,000 for activities, services and 
facilities for young people aged 12 to 25 years.  Funded projects promoted young people’s broad social health 
and wellbeing, strengthened their resilience, better prepared them for work and adult life, and promoted active 
citizenship.   

National Youth Week grants, a component of the Youth Grants WA Program, offered funding for projects and 
activities run during National Youth Week.  Young people were encouraged to organise and conduct events 
that highlighted the positive contributions they make, and how they are integral to the vibrancy of local 
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communities.  Funding for National Youth Week grants was matched by the Australian Government.  During 
2005-06, 63 projects were funded, the highest to date.  

To ensure young people, community groups and local councils were aware of the funding available through 
the Youth Grants WA Program and National Youth Week grants, a number of public presentations were made 
by staff from the Office for Children and Youth. 

The Office for Children and Youth provided sponsorships to contribute towards opportunities for children and 
young people, and those who work with children and young people.  These are listed in Appendix 6.  

Promoting Positive Images of Children and Youth  
The Office for Children and Youth worked in partnership with the Youth Media Committee to develop the 2006 
Youth Survey, which will provide comprehensive data on issues and topics of concern to young people.  It is 
anticipated that the survey will be launched in October 2006. 

The Positive Image Award was held in December 2005.  The award recognised students who promote a 
positive image for other students within their school or wider community.  Twenty-five students were 
acknowledged at a breakfast at Parliament House, and participated in a reward day involving team games in 
Kings Park, the screening of a pre-release movie and a twilight sail on board the STS Leeuwin. 

The eighth annual Western Australian Youth Awards Showcase recognised young people’s achievements and 
contributions to the community.  The 2006 Western Australian Young Person of the Year was Darren 
Lomman, who modified recreational vehicles to enable people with disabilities to lead a more active and 
fulfilling life, and set up the Disabled Recreation Club, a not-for-profit organisation dedicated to helping 
people with disabilities broaden their skills and experience.  Winners of other awards are listed in Appendix 7. 

Since 2004, the department has partnered with Meerilinga Young Children’s Foundation in the annual 
Children’s Week Awards of Recognition.  Held in October, they recognise outstanding young Western 
Australians aged three to 12 years, and groups and organisations that provide services and support to 
children.  In 2005, six awards were presented to groups of children who demonstrated a commitment to 
improving their health and wellbeing through participation in physical activities such as dance, sport and 
theatre.  In 2006, the Awards will give greater recognition to recipients and profile the contributions and 
achievements of children in their communities.  In 2006, for the first time the Awards will recognise adult and 
media recipients who contribute in the area of children’s interests. 

In 2005-06, the department began to develop a new website with focus groups of children and a survey of 
young people about design and content ideas.  The website will be ‘live’ in early 2006-07, and will have 
separate sections for under 12 year-olds and for 13 to 25 year-olds.  

Consultation and Participation 
In partnership with Grandcare and Wanslea, the department conducted focus groups with grandchildren cared 
for by their grandparents.  Focus groups aimed to elicit children’s views on ‘grandfamily’ issues, and identify 
coping mechanisms to encourage resiliency in children.  

During 2005-06, the Children’s Advisory Group was expanded from three metropolitan schools to five.   
Membership reflects the diversity of children in Western Australia, and includes primary school children from 
Years 5, 6 and 7. The group meets once a month during school hours, and is involved in other consultations 
with the community. In 2005, five Aboriginal children from Mullewa attended a camp with the metropolitan-
based group. The Children’s Advisory Group was a finalist in the department’s ‘Innovation’ category of the 
department’s 2005 Community Services Industry Awards.   

In 2006, the Children’s Advisory Group Alumni was established.  On 12 May 2006, alumni members 
participated in a consultation with the Museum of Childhood, located in temporary premises at Edith Cowan 
University’s Churchlands campus.  The alumni members provided their ideas and thoughts for the future 
planning of the museum.  

Early in 2006, a postcard survey was distributed to 1,000 children across Western Australia.  The survey 
asked children to identify the three most important issues from a list of nine issues (school, family, friendly 
neighbourhood, public transport, health, safety, cleaner community, road/traffic, and places to have fun).  The 
130 responses received identified family, school and safety as the top three issues.  A further postcard survey 
is being undertaken with primary school children, with a focus on regional participation.  This survey aims to 
further refine information obtained through state-wide focus group consultations undertaken in 2004-05 with 
over 240 children. 

In 2005-06, Youth Advisory Councils located around the state continued to be supported and assisted by staff 
from the Office for Children and Youth.  Staff attended council meetings, provided information and advice 
regarding grants and other issues, and liaised on a regular basis with coordinators. 

The State Youth Council was established in July 2004 for an initial period of one year to provide the Office for 
Children and Youth with advice on government reports and strategies.  During that time, it made a positive 
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contribution in a consultative and advisory capacity.  The council was disbanded in September 2005, as a 
review showed that the model was limited in terms of youth representation.  As an alternative, the Office for 
Children and Youth supports Youth Advisory Councils and the Children’s Advisory Group, which provide 
opportunities for a diverse range of children and young people to give feedback on government policy and 
program development.  

Future Directions  
In 2006-07, the Office for Children and Youth will: 

• continue to provide opportunities for children and young people to have their say on issues of importance 
to them through the development of a postcard design competition enabling children to send messages to 
the Office for Children and Youth. 

• coordinate workshops for children, and adults working with children, on building resilience in children and 
youth. 

• develop a booklet for parents on building resilience in children. 
• coordinate a parenting campaign in both metropolitan and regional Western Australia, with an emphasis 

on identifying and addressing gaps in information provision. 
• work with key stakeholders to develop youth-appropriate information covering legal issues, rights and 

responsibilities. 
• conduct a review of funding provided through the Community Service Grant Program. 
• streamline the funding and application processes of the Youth Grants WA Program. 
• conduct community education in regional areas of Western Australia based on the priorities in the  

2006-08 Strategic Plan of the Office for Children and Youth. 
• in partnership with key stakeholders and in accordance with the priorities of the  

2006-08 Strategic Plan of the Office for Children and Youth: 
o provide leadership and development opportunities for children and young people, based on best 

practice principles; 
o promote positive mental and emotional health; 
o increase awareness of the harm of inappropriate alcohol consumption and reduce the onset of 

high-risk patterns of alcohol consumption during adolescence and beyond; and 
o recognise and celebrate the achievements of children and young people, and the contributions 

they make to the community. 
• continue to administer and enhance the Cadets WA program, working in partnership with host 

organisations and the Department of Education and Training and the Curriculum Council to ensure 
participants in the program have their voluntary work recognised through the State Government’s 
Community Service Program. 
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Positive Ageing Policy 

 

This section includes: 
• Customer profile 
• Seniors Card Centre 
• Changes to Western Australian Seniors Card 
• State housing strategies 
• Active ageing strategy 
• Carers Advisory Council 
• Depression 
• Elder abuse 
• Intergenerational activities 
• Benchmark indicators 
• Transitions in ageing 
• Diversity analysis 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 3. 
 

Customer Profile 
It is predicted that by 2031, over one in four Western Australians (28 percent) will be a senior aged 60 years 
and over. It is projected that there will be approximately 773,000 seniors in Western Australia, and about one 
quarter of seniors will be aged 80 years and over.  

As at 30 June 2005, there were 327,989 seniors in Western Australia, making up 17 percent of the population. 
More than half of Western Australia’s seniors (53 percent) were women.  

Population ageing is a worldwide trend and, in response, it is essential to revise attitudes to work, retirement 
and the retention of older people in the labour force.  Workforce projections show that meeting future demand 
for goods and services will require governments and employers to encourage higher workforce participation 
rates by people aged between 55 and 70 years. 

Older people contribute knowledge, experience and labour to all sectors of the community. The growing 
number of seniors means there has never been such a large group of active, skilled and experienced older 
people. One in five primary caregivers (21 percent) caring for an adult or child with a disability or chronic 
illness is aged 75 years and over.  It is estimated that more than 100,000 Western Australians aged 55 years 
and over are involved in volunteer work. 

Ninety percent of people aged 70 years and older are living independently, or with minimal support, in the 
community. When seniors do need care, it is most commonly provided by family members, belying the 
perception that caring for seniors is costly for the community and government. 

With increased longevity, Western Australians now have as much as a third of their lives to live beyond what 
is currently thought of as retirement age. In Western Australia, a 60 year-old female can expect to live until 
86, while a 60 year-old male can expect to live until 82. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people represent three percent of the total Western Australian 
population, but Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander seniors comprise only about one percent of the Western 
Australian senior population.  This is a result of higher birth rates, combined with higher mortality rates at all 
ages. Relatively few Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people live to become seniors. Their life expectancy 
at birth is nearly 20 years less than other Western Australians. 

Around 74 percent of Western Australian seniors live in the metropolitan area and 26 percent live in country 
areas. However, the picture changes with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander seniors, with approximately  
66 percent living in non-metropolitan areas, which raises issues for ensuring access to health and other age-
related services.  
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Seniors Card Centre 
The Western Australian Seniors Card Centre opened in November 2005, providing seniors with better access 
to advice and information.  

The centre is located at Albert Facey House amongst retail space opposite the Perth Railway Station.  This 
prime location provides a ‘one-stop-shop’ offering a wide range of advice for Western Australia’s 300,000 
seniors, including details about the Seniors Card. The proximity to the railway station and bus services means 
seniors are able to easily access Seniors Card services. The centre averages 300 counter enquiries per 
month and this figure is escalating as more seniors become familiar with the centre’s new location.  The 
centre is also home to a computer information kiosk for seniors to access the internet.   

The Seniors Telephone Information Service is housed at the centre.  The service’s 36 volunteers provide 
advice and referral information on issues such as accommodation options, education, finance, business, 
health and lifestyle.  It handles between 22,000 and 25,000 calls per year, with a recent busy period of over 
1,000 calls in one week regarding the new Seniors SmartRider program. 

The centre provides seniors with details of State Government concessions and business discounts. Part of the 
centre’s marketing strategy is to expand the number of business partners in regional Western Australia and to 
further promote the State’s Seniors Card Program.  

Changes to the Western Australian Seniors Card 
During 2005-06 the Western Australian Seniors Card was combined with the new Transperth SmartRider card, 
meaning one less card for seniors to carry.  New cards were mailed to 220,000 seniors in May 2006. The 
Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering worked closely with Transperth to provide seniors with 
information and assistance with the new technology. The office established a SmartRider Volunteer Program 
in bus and train stations, where volunteers assisted their fellow seniors to learn how to use the SmartRider.  

Previously, the Western Australian Seniors Card had to be replaced every five years, and the onus for 
ensuring that the card had not expired was on the card holder.  The new card is a lifetime card, with no expiry 
date.  This change ensures that as long as a senior remains eligible to hold the Seniors Card (that is, remains 
a resident of Western Australia and works 20 hours or less per week), there is no risk of missing out on any 
concessions due to failing to renew their card.   

In recognition of the value of concessions now attached to the Seniors Card, seniors applying for a card must 
now provide a witnessed copy of Proof of Age documentation.  

State Housing Strategies 
The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering consulted with stakeholders in the seniors and housing 
sector, including the Department of Housing and Works and the Department for Planning and Infrastructure.  
The consultation generated comment on the most important housing issues facing older Western Australians. 
Key stakeholders, including international expert on housing for older people Dr Jim Sykes, attended a meeting 
on 31 October 2005 to discuss current housing options in Western Australia for older people.   

Information from both the consultations and meeting was used in a submission to the draft Western Australian 
Housing Strategy, and the development of a research proposal on housing for older people.     

Active Ageing Strategy 
Under the Active Ageing Strategy, the Department of Local Government and Regional Development received 
funding of $1.35 million over three years for the Active Ageing at the Local Level initiative, and developed a 
framework for the three-year funding period.   

Funding aided development and implementation of the Active Ageing Strategy, and provided opportunities for 
community groups, agencies and Local Government authorities to develop initiatives to promote active ageing 
messages, and encourage the active participation of older people.  

As the lead agency in managing the Active Ageing Strategy, the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
partnered with the Department of Local Government and Regional Development in the selection process of 
the grants program. 

Carers Advisory Council 
As required by the Carers Recognition Act 2004, the Carers Advisory Council was established and held its 
first meeting in November 2005.  

The functions of the council are:  

• to advance the interests of family carers and promote compliance by applicable organisations with the 
Carers Charter. 
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• to make recommendations to the Minister for Seniors on fostering compliance by applicable organisations 
with the Carers Charter. 

• to provide general advice to the Minister for Seniors on matters relating to family carers. 
• to carry out other functions as directed by the Minister for Seniors. 

The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering provides executive support to the council. The council 
consulted with the Department of Health and the Disability Services Commission on their obligations under 
the Carers Recognition Act 2004. The council also worked with these agencies to identify the key elements of 
its annual report. 

Depression 
The State Government committed $455,000 over four years under Western Australia's Active Ageing Strategy, 
Generations Together, to raise community awareness about depression in older people. 

A scoping project was undertaken to inform the direction of the depression initiative.  The project focussed on 
population-level initiatives to address community awareness about older people and depression, rather than 
service delivery or clinical responses.  The project was expanded to include development of state and national 
level partnerships, and to address the lack of senior-appropriate services.  Action undertaken on the 
depression initiative included: 

• publishing the widely-distributed ‘Staying Mentally Healthy’ topic sheet. 
• training in depression awareness and referral for seniors. Volunteer staff trained in depression awareness 

and referral provide an information service at the Western Australian Seniors Card Centre. 
• identifying the national depression initiative, ‘beyondblue’ as a key strategic partner, to provide access to 

the National Depression Monitor which will provide relevant benchmark indicators for Western Australian 
seniors. 

• ‘Have a Go’ television program broadcast segments covering the issue of depression in seniors. 
• a community forum on depression and seniors, provided in partnership with the Council on the Ageing 

(WA). 

Elder Abuse 
One of the office's operational priorities is to work in collaboration with other agencies to help create a society 
where the abuse and neglect of older people does not occur.  The Alliance for the Prevention of Elder Abuse 
WA brings together organisations that provide support and services to older people and their families and 
friends.  The Alliance continued to meet during the year to develop responses to elder abuse prevention.  A 
priority for the Alliance was developing a new protocol for service providers to assist them to identify and 
respond to elder abuse. 

The Alliance and the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering co-hosted an elder justice forum on  
16 August 2005.  At the forum, the Minister for Seniors launched the group’s three-year strategic plan.   

A community education campaign was developed to promote the inaugural World Elder Abuse Awareness 
Day, held 15 June 2006. The campaign included broadcasting emails and posting messages on the 
department’s intranet site. 

To learn about current issues in elder abuse directly from members of the community and stakeholders in the 
aged care sector, the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering organised the first ministerial roundtable 
on the topic.  Issues raised at the event will inform the development of initiatives to address elder abuse and 
to raise awareness of the need to value older people, particularly those who are vulnerable. The event 
provided information for a meeting about elder abuse between the Federal Minister for Ageing and other 
relevant state and territory ministers.  Ministers agreed to a range of measures to toughen existing reporting 
mechanisms and clarify the responsibilities of the sector when dealing with allegations of abuse.   

Consultation commenced in May 2006 with relevant key stakeholders to inform the development of service 
specifications for a new elder abuse legal service. The new service will commence in January 2007. 

Intergenerational Activities 
During 2005-06, two part-time senior intergenerational officers were appointed in Albany and Geraldton.  
Officers work collaboratively with departmental staff and Office for Children and Youth regional development 
officers.  They create opportunities for seniors, children and young people to participate in local decision-
making and facilitate their engagement in events and activities.  They link seniors, children and young people 
into broader community activities, and establish relationships with key stakeholders within their region.  They 
provide support to existing intergenerational policy and programs, and promote and support new Active 
Ageing initiatives and relevant plans.  The positions are tied to four-year funding through the Active Ageing 
Strategy and therefore are fixed term. The positions will cease on 30 June 2008. 
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The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering funded camps and activities for Indigenous and non 
Indigenous grandfamilies in both metropolitan and country regions. 

The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering funds Wanslea Family Services to provide the highly 
successful Grandcare Program. Grandcare provides a free 1800 telephone information and referral service to 
assist grandparents who have full-time care of their grandchildren. The program provides seven grandparent 
support groups in the metropolitan area, and two in country areas. The Grandcare coordinator maintains close 
links with community organisations who are working with grandfamilies. 

The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering partnered with the Office for Children and Youth and the 
Department for Indigenous Affairs to fund the Nyikina Association in Derby to support grandparents and 
grandchildren to undertake cultural camps and activities to foster intergenerational understanding. The elders 
of the Nyikina Association expressed a strong wish to educate local children on their connection with the land 
and their people’s history, language and culture, and to engage young Aboriginal children inside and outside 
school in Derby as a way of diverting truancy and supporting family strengths.  Students from local schools 
including the Derby Enterprise Class (specialising in Aboriginal children with a history of truancy) were invited 
to attend activities. The project was supported by a regional officer from the Department of Indigenous Affairs. 

Benchmark Indicators 
Western Australia’s Seniors – Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators were developed as a set of community 
indicators to report on the status of active ageing among Western Australia’s seniors. This was an initiative of 
the State Government’s Active Ageing Strategy, Generations Together. 

The indicators were developed in consultation with the World Health Organisation, Council on the Ageing 
(WA) and several State Government departments.  The indicators were a first not only for Western Australia, 
but for any Australian State or Territory Government. 

The benchmark indicators indicated that policies and strategies must continue to address the following areas 
to facilitate active ageing among Western Australia’s seniors: 

• improving the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 
• increasing involvement in physical activities, particularly among female seniors. 
• encouraging healthy eating, particularly among male seniors. 
• improving the social participation of seniors, particularly male seniors. 
• reducing or managing physiological risk factors (high blood cholesterol, high blood pressure and obesity). 
• increasing employment opportunities, particularly for female seniors. 
• encouraging access to and training in computers and the internet, particularly for female seniors. 
• improving financial security, particularly for female seniors and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

seniors. 
• improving community attitudes towards ageing, among the general community and seniors themselves. 

The indicators will provide the strategic direction for future initiatives under the State Government’s Active 
Ageing Strategy. 

Transitions in Ageing 
The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering researched the impact of major life transitions on Western 
Australia’s seniors, to meet one of its commitments under Generations Together. 

The research investigated the links between successful ageing and major life transitions in seniors aged 65 
years and over.  It involved two stages: an initial exploratory phase, followed by a major telephone survey of 
600 Western Australian seniors.  

Seniors ageing most successfully were more likely to say that marriage of their children, minding 
grandchildren, or finding a new purpose in life after retirement were having a positive influence on their lives.  
Conversely, those who were not ageing so successfully were more likely to say that experiencing an age-
related illness or injury, becoming less independent or adjusting to widowhood were having a negative impact 
on their lives.   

The majority of seniors indicated emphatically that they were ageing successfully.  One key predictor of 
seniors ageing successfully was found to underlie the other indicators: the absence of depression. A 
secondary predictor was gender: female seniors were more likely to be ageing successfully than males.  One 
life event caused a substantial number of seniors to say they were not ageing successfully: experiencing an 
age-related illness or injury.   

Approximately half the seniors expected to have the best old age possible based on their current quality of 
life.  In addition, one in three seniors expected to have a good old age. 
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Diversity Analysis 
The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering conducted a cultural diversity analysis research project to 
provide qualitative data to supplement a number of the indicators contained in Western Australia’s Seniors – 
Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators. 

The research project, undertaken by independent researchers, involved a major consultation phase with 500 
culturally and linguistically diverse seniors through 30 discussion groups and a number of individual 
interviews, with the assistance of a bilingual translator known to the seniors.   

Discussion groups were held in partnership with local groups and organisations, including ethnic community 
organisations, community language groups, seniors groups, carer groups, and specific culturally and 
linguistically diverse and ethno-specific groups. 

The project found: 

• in Australia, the number of older immigrants of non-English speaking background has been growing at five 
times the rate of the Australian-born population in recent years. 

• many of the issues that affect culturally and linguistically diverse seniors highlighted in the report also 
affect the general seniors population; however, issues of language, ethnicity and culture impact on 
culturally and linguistically diverse seniors, and compound difficulties. 

• local community centres and programs provided by local government, non government organisations, and 
ethnic community organisations play a vital role in community participation.  

• increasing the capacity of multicultural and ethnic organisations, groups, centres and programs to provide 
activities for culturally and linguistically diverse seniors will be an important strategy to increase 
community participation.   

• lack of proficiency in English is a major barrier to community participation. 
• transport is one of the most critical factors affecting community participation. 
• while most seniors value and appreciate the opportunity to participate with seniors of a similar cultural 

background, they also want to participate with people of a different cultural and linguistic background. 

Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering will: 

• initiate a major research project into the benefits and costs associated with the ageing of the Western 
Australian population. 

• expand and update the range of topic sheets produced by the Office for Seniors Interests and 
Volunteering to include topics such as carers and mature employment, and an update of the popular 
Population Characteristics and Trends topic sheet. 

• continue to support the Carers Advisory Council, including the preparation of its inaugural report to 
Parliament. 

• work with the community on the issue of abuse and exploitation of older Western Australians, including 
appropriate support and information services. 
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Women’s Policy and Progress 

 

This section includes: 
• Customer profile 
• Women in leadership 
• Indigenous Women’s Congress 
• Gender analysis project 
• Conference on the Status of Women 
• Report card 
• Superannuation for women 
• Grace Vaughan Memorial Lecture 
• Western Australian Women’s Grants Program 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 4. 
  

Customer Profile 
Women continued to experience strong labour market performance due to a buoyant Western Australian 
economy. This was reflected in a lower unemployment rate in 2005 (5 percent compared with 6 percent in 
2003) and a higher labour force participation rate (59 percent compared with 57 percent in 2003). Other major 
influences affecting employment outcomes for women include the effect of the Australian Government’s 
welfare changes on single parents and the affordability and supply of child care. 

The proportion of women in the senior executive service in the Western Australian public sector increased 
from 20 percent in 2003 to 24 percent in 2005. Women's representation on government boards and 
committees increased from 29 percent in 2003 to 31 percent in 2006. Following the 2005 Local Government 
elections, women’s representation as councillors increased from 26 percent in 2003 to 29 percent. 

The ongoing disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women was highlighted in the 
Indigenous Women’s Report Card developed in 2005-06.  The indicators reveal that Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander women had lower labour force participation rates, lower levels of educational achievement and 
subsequently lower household incomes.  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women’s safety continued to be 
a key concern.  The report card identified that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women were more likely to 
have been a victim of physical or threatened violence than non Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women.  
The indicators also showed the strong and important role played by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
women in maintaining cultural identity in their communities.   

Women in Leadership  
Despite the significant increase in women’s participation in further education and the labour force, this is not 
translating into comparable improvements for women in leadership roles. The proportion of women in 
leadership positions such as chief executive officer, in senior management and on boards remains 
comparatively low.  

The department’s Office for Women’s Policy, along with other jurisdictions, participates in a National Strategy 
to Increase the Participation of Women on Boards. This involves reviewing existing efforts to improve the 
representation of women on boards, identifying and promoting best practice, creating a skilled, accessible 
pool of ‘board ready’ women, and facilitating the connection between ‘board ready’ women and board 
opportunities.  As part of the strategy, the Office for Women’s Policy reviewed the mechanisms used in 
Western Australia to promote women to government boards and committees, and progress towards the state’s 
50 percent target for gender balance on these bodies. The current gender balance stands at around  
31 percent.  The review will inform future state strategies. 

Another aspect of leadership is the representation of women in senior positions. In the Western Australian 
public sector, targets are set for the representation of women in senior positions.  Targets are monitored 
through the Equality and Diversity Plan by the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity.  A review of the 
state’s public service shows Western Australia is lagging behind the rest of the nation in employing women in 
management positions. Women make up more than 60 percent of the public sector, but the majority are in 
lower paid positions; less than a quarter of women are in middle management roles.  In 2005-06, the Office 
for Women’s Policy commissioned research into the effectiveness of leadership programs for women in the 
Western Australian public sector.  
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Indigenous Women’s Congress 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in Western Australia continue to experience significant social and 
economic disadvantage. The Indigenous Women’s Congress was established in September 2003 to provide 
advice on issues of concern to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women across the state.   

The Indigenous Women’s Congress recently contributed to the State Housing Strategy, the department’s 
family reunification policy, the review of the Community Development Employment Program, the Law Reform 
Commission’s Enquiry into Customary Law and the review of the Department of Indigenous Affairs.   

In 2005, the Office for Women’s Policy conducted a review of the Indigenous Women’s Congress.  It found the 
congress had been a valuable mechanism to engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women across the 
state and should be retained.  It recommended some modifications to improve the effectiveness of the 
congress as a state-wide policy advisory body.   The recommendations were endorsed in principle, subject to 
securing financial resources for the continuation of the congress.   

Gender Analysis Project 
The Gender Analysis Project is a collaborative initiative between Western Australian and South Australian 
Offices for Women’s Policy and researchers from the University of Western Australia and the University of 
South Australia, funded by the Australian Research Council.  The project will develop a gender impact 
assessment tool for use in trial agencies across governments in the participating states.  

During 2005-06, a gender analysis audit of the department’s family and domestic violence policy was 
completed.  Dr Mieke Verloo, one of the architects of the current model of gender analysis used in the 
Netherlands, visited Western Australia to conduct seminars and workshops on gender analysis that were 
attended by large numbers of public servants, policy makers and academics.  The Gender Analysis Project 
will be finalised in 2007. 

Commonwealth, States, Territories & New Zealand Ministers’ Conference on the Status of Women 
The Office for Women’s Interests, through its involvement with the Commonwealth, States, Territories & New 
Zealand Ministers’ Conference on the Status of Women, contributes to a range of projects and issues 
affecting women, such as superannuation, work and family balance, patient access and priorities for breast 
reconstruction, women’s safety issues, child care, industrial relations changes and human trafficking and 
sexual slavery.  

The Office for Women’s Interests is leading a national research project, Good Practice in the Assessment, 
Skills Gap Training and Employment of Overseas Trained Nurses. The project is a collaboration with the 
Overseas Qualifications Unit in the Department of Education and Training, funded from the Activities Trust 
Fund and on behalf of Commonwealth, States, Territories & New Zealand Ministers’ Conference on the Status 
of Women. Also participating are the Australian Government and Tasmanian, New South Wales and 
Queensland Women's Policy Offices.  

The project analyses barriers and proposes solutions to employing women from culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds with qualifications in nursing and aged care.  These are areas of acute skills shortages. 
The project identifies projected skills shortages, good practice pathways that lead to recognition of culturally 
and linguistically diverse women's skills, and a matrix of current skills that women from diverse communities 
can offer to the relevant industries. The project will be completed in December 2006. 

National and Western Australian reference groups were formed to provide strategic direction and advice to 
project researchers.  Groups consisted of representatives from relevant industries, academia, government 
agencies, non government organisations and professional registration boards.  Consultative committees were 
established in each state. 

Report Card 
During 2005-06, the Office for Women’s Policy undertook the first update to the Women’s Report Card 
indicators, established in 2004 to measure certain aspects of women’s lives across Western Australia.  

Superannuation for Women 
During the year, the Office for Women’s Policy produced a publication, Women and Superannuation – 
Securing Your Future.  It aims to raise awareness among women of the need to plan for retirement, and ways 
to improve retirement savings.  Women generally retire on less than half the superannuation of men and it is 
estimated that 50 percent of women who retire in the next 10 years will retire on a lump sum of less than 
$20,000 ($300,000 allows a retiree to live modestly).  The publication was developed in consultation with the 
Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering, Office for Children and Youth, and the Government Employees 
Superannuation Board.   It will be distributed widely through industry funds, unions, Office for Women’s Policy 
events, TAFE and community organisations. 
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Grace Vaughan Memorial Lecture 
The Grace Vaughan Memorial Lecture is an annual event that commemorates the life and achievements of 
parliamentarian and social activist Grace Vaughan.  It draws female speakers from diverse fields related to 
social justice and activism. It is a partnership project between the University of Western Australia, the 
Australian Association of Social Workers and the Office for Women’s Policy. In 2005, over 200 people 
attended Nobel Prize nominee and anti-nuclear activist Dr Helen Caldicott’s lecture, The Medical Implications 
of the Nuclear Age.   

Western Australian Women’s Grants Program 
The Western Australian Grants for Women Program 2006 provides one-off grants to women’s groups and 
community organisations for projects that support women’s choices at home, in the workplace and in the 
community, create new leadership and capacity building opportunities, engage with women from diverse 
communities and promote positive images of women. 

The program was recently evaluated and a more flexible framework was developed, amalgamating the 
program with the Capacity Building Grants. This will result in $150,000 being available for women’s projects 
and initiatives. Of the 172 applications received, 27 were approved for funding, including 12 in metropolitan 
areas and 15 in regional, rural and remote areas.  Figure 3 shows the target groups of the projects funded by 
the grants. 

Figure 3: Target groups of projects funded by Western Australian Women’s Grants Program 2006  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the Office for Women’s Policy will: 

• strengthen the engagement of the non government sector with government policies, programs and 
services affecting women, through the establishment of a new Women’s Advisory Council and increased 
mechanisms such as a summit for women from the non government sector to advise the Minister. 

• promote opportunities for women in leadership roles, with a focus on increasing women's participation on 
government boards and committees. 

• lead research to address the under-utilisation of migrant and refugee women’s skills in the aged care and 
health sectors. 

• progress the Australian Research Council Project to develop Australian models of gender analysis. 
• use the information in the Women’s Report Card, the Indigenous Women’s Report Card and the Culturally 

and Linguistically Diverse Women’s discussion paper, and the updates of these, to engage with 
government agencies and non government organisations to seek improved outcomes for women.  
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Volunteering Policy Coordination 
 

This section includes: 
• Customer profile 
• Policy and programs 
• Capacity building 
• Recognition programs 
• Communication 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 5. 
 

Customer Profile 
Volunteering is an important contribution to social capital, which is a measure of connectedness and wellbeing 
of communities.  Volunteers play a crucial role in Australian society: in sport, health and welfare services, arts 
and culture, the environment, education, emergency services, politics and advocacy.  Apart from the tangible 
value of providing services, their participation enriches the quality of life for both individual volunteers and 
society at large.  The Giving Australia Survey, commissioned by the Australian Government’s Department of 
Family and Community Services in 2005, found: 

• nationally, 41 percent of adult Australians volunteered in the year to January 2005, giving an estimated 
836 million hours of their time at an average of 132 hours per year per volunteer.    

• in Western Australia, 37 percent of people in Perth and 49 percent in regional areas volunteered, however 
city dwellers volunteered more hours on average than country dwellers. 

• community and welfare organisations are the recipients of the highest level of volunteering, with a quarter 
of all volunteering hours devoted to this area. In the last four years, there has been an increase in the 
proportion of volunteering to the community welfare, health and environmental welfare sectors, and a 
decline in sport, religious organisation and education related volunteering.  

• those aged 35 to 44 years volunteer more than those in younger or older age groups, but for fewer hours. 
• rates of volunteering are fairly constant for income level, but the amount of time given is greater the lower 

the income.  
• volunteers not only give their time, they are more likely to donate funds (91 percent) than non-volunteers 

(84 percent).  

Policy and Programs 
Over 70,000 volunteers contribute to the work of public sector agencies across the state.  In 2005-06, the 
department’s Volunteering Secretariat worked with an across-government reference group of key public sector 
agencies who involve volunteers, to extensively review and revise the Guidelines for Public Sector Agencies 
Working with Volunteers. These guidelines set out good practice and give advice to public sector agencies on 
how to involve and manage volunteers in the delivery of products and services.  In recognition of the evolving 
nature of government volunteering, the guidelines were renamed as Guidelines for Successful Partnerships 
between Public Agencies and Volunteers and are now accompanied by a background discussion paper.  

The Volunteering Secretariat, together with the Western Australia Police, continued to give eligible Western 
Australian volunteering organisations access to reduced-fee national police checks. Approximately 13,500 
volunteer checks were completed during 2005-06.  

The National Police Checks for Volunteers Program began providing free police checks for those volunteers 
required to have Working with Children checks following the introduction of the Working with Children 
(Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 on 1 January 2006. These checks allow volunteers who work with 
children, but also perform other duties such as bus driving or financial administration, to have a second check 
at no cost.  The Volunteering Secretariat worked closely with the department’s Working with Children 
Screening Unit to develop information and resources appropriate for the volunteering sector, and provide 
information distribution channels to inform the sector. 

An amendment to the Volunteer (Protection from Liability) Act 2002, to facilitate food donations to community 
groups, is currently before Parliament for debate.  
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Capacity Building 
Western Australia currently has 22 Volunteer Resource Centres in locations across the state.  The centres: 

• provide a linkage and referral service between volunteers and organisations.  
• provide support, training and information to organisations using volunteers.   
• promote volunteering and recognition of volunteers. 
• act as a centre for information in the local community.   

The year 2005-06 saw an increase in funding to the 16 Volunteering Resource Centres funded by the 
Volunteering Secretariat.  All 22 centres were financially assisted by the Volunteering Secretariat to attend 
twice-yearly Volunteer Resource Centre Alliance meetings in Perth. In 2006-07, those funded centres meeting 
output and outcome objectives will move to ongoing funding agreements.    

During 2005-06, the Volunteering Secretariat worked with Western Australian Council of Social Service to 
adapt the successful Employright Project to focus on the recruitment and management of volunteers.    

The Volunteering Secretariat partnered with Volunteering WA to develop the Visiting Volunteers Assisting 
Rural Communities Project.  The project recruits those intending to holiday in regional areas as volunteers in 
the towns they are visiting. Funding is being provided for a community impact study on the value of these 
visiting volunteers to the communities they assist. Still in its early stages, this project will continue through 
2006-07.  

The Volunteering Secretariat conducted discussions with eight key organisations which have either 
implemented employee volunteering programs, or been the recipients of employee volunteers, to identify the 
barriers and facilitators to employee volunteering. Organisations suggested potential ways the Volunteering 
Secretariat could assist in promoting and enabling employee volunteering in the future.  

Recognition Programs 
Recognition of the contribution of volunteers to the community remains a major priority. The Thank a 
Volunteer Day Grants Program continued in 2005-06, with more than 60 metropolitan and regional community 
organisations, volunteer centres and local government authorities receiving a grant. This assisted 
communities, particularly small regional communities, to stage events that recognised and celebrated the 
contribution of volunteers to their community. 

On 5 December 2005, the Minister for Volunteering thanked around 150 volunteers at a special Thank a 
Volunteer Day celebration at the Perth Zoo.  This day is known worldwide as United Nations International 
Volunteers Day.  This year’s event focused on volunteers who dedicate their time and energy to improving the 
lives of children and young people in such areas as sport and recreation, the environment, and welfare and 
community organisations. 

The theme of 2006 National Volunteer Week, held 15 to 21 May, was ‘Change your world… start now!’ 
Sponsored by the Volunteering Secretariat, it included a busy calendar of events throughout the state.  The 
Volunteering Secretariat coordinated an across-government promotion and advertising campaign which 
featured the diversity and volume of government involvement in volunteering in an eight-page supplement in 
The West Australian newspaper.  As part of the State Government’s commitment to encouraging its 
employees to volunteer, staff from the Volunteering Secretariat volunteered at the Association of the Blind, 
making tactile pictures for the Association’s children’s library.  

Communication 
The Volunteering Secretariat recently revamped its website, Volunteers Resources Online.  Work is continuing 
to develop the website as a significant linkage and resource mechanism. The Valuing Volunteering Newsletter 
was converted from a printed version to electronic format to improve communication with the sector and to 
provide better information and resources.   

Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering will: 

• extend work with the volunteering community and the Volunteer Resource Centres to encourage, support 
and promote local community-based volunteering and, in particular, focus on ways to better harness the 
valuable resources of ‘baby boomers’, seniors and young people in volunteering. 

• amend the Volunteer (Protection from Liability) Act 2002 to extend protection from liability to food donors 
and facilitate the donation of food for charitable and benevolent purposes. 

• work in partnership with the community sector to develop and deliver a helpline, resource manual, website 
and training program to assist volunteer organisations to undertake effective recruitment, screening, 
supervision and support of volunteers. 
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander  
Policy Coordination 
 

This section includes: 

• Customer profile 
• Policy development 
• Coordination 
• Reconciliation 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 6. 
 

Customer Profile 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are over-represented as customers of the department compared 
to their proportion of the general population.  Approximately 24 percent of the department’s customer base in 
2005-06 were Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander.  Of particular concern is that 38 percent of children in the 
care of the Chief Executive Officer are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have a different age profile to other Western Australians, and 
tend to have a different geographic distribution.  Relatively few Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders live to 
become seniors, and a higher proportion of their population is under 18 years of age.  Over 60 percent of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people live outside the Perth metropolitan area, compared to 26 percent 
of the non Aboriginal Western Australian population. 
These trends illustrate the need to pay particular attention to the circumstances of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people when planning department activities. 

Policy Development 
During 2005-06, the department developed the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Community Consultation 
and Placement Model to meet the requirements of Section 81 (1) and (2) of the Children and Community 
Services Act 2004, which relates to consultation that must take place when arranging placements for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children. 
The purpose of the model is to increase the department’s ability to obtain appropriate advice on placement 
options for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and young people.  The department will engage and 
consult local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities on the placement of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander children and young people within their area. 
The Chief Executive Officer approved Yorganop Child Care Aboriginal Corporation and Armadale Noongar 
Corporation (Aboriginal Corporation) as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander agencies, for the purposes of the 
Children and Community Services Act 2004, Section 81 (2).  A standard fee for service has been determined 
and will vary according to duration to ensure local organisations are recognised and remunerated for their 
advice.  The model is an internal contract management process, supported and managed through the 
Indigenous Policy Directorate. 
To support cultural obligations of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff, the department progressed the 
development of a Cultural Leave and Sensitivity Framework.  This was developed with the Departments of the 
Attorney General, Corrective Services, Housing and Works, Education and Training, Indigenous Affairs, 
Consumer and Employment Protection and the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity.   
The next phase of the project will be to gather information to establish a database of all Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander staff employed within the relevant departments.  Surveys will be conducted electronically, and 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff will be encouraged to respond. Once survey responses are 
analysed, the Indigenous Policy Directorate will work with the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity and 
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection to progress the Cultural Leave and Sensitivity 
Framework through the Public Service General Agreement and agency specific agreements. 
The department developed a new policy guide, Building Solid Relationships: A Capacity Building Approach 
with Communities to Safeguard and Promote the Wellbeing of Children and Young People. The policy was 
developed following an extensive statewide consultation with departmental staff, Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander individuals and community organisations.  The practice principles focus on strengthening the 
workforce, supporting communities, child in family/child in community focused practice and promoting 
collaboration. 
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The new policy guide is the first stage of an ongoing process.  Further work will be undertaken to develop an 
action plan that reflects the intent of the consultation outcomes, link the action plan to newly developed 
policies and existing work, identify intended outcomes and measure the impact of the policy guide. 

Coordination  
Best Start aims to improve the life opportunities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children aged zero to 
five years by facilitating a range of activities to improve their health, educational opportunities, and social and 
cultural development. Best Start support staff held a three-day professional development workshop for all 
program coordinators and activity leaders.  The workshops were designed with a special focus on building the 
confidence, skills and personal strengths of the coordinators and activity leaders; to introduce the principles of 
departmental processes, capacity building and occupational health and safety throughout; and to continually 
reinforce these by helping workers to identify opportunities and plan their responses.  Recommendations from 
the previous workshop were reviewed, and progress in implementation was reported. 
The department continued to build relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander fathers and young 
men through forums with local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander men’s groups.  These forums were used 
to develop a framework to engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander fathers and young men. 
The department’s executive expressed concerns about the disproportionate number of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander children in care.  An internal case review examined the 50 most recent Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander children to come into the department’s care, between 2002 and 2004.  There were 26 
recommendations from the review and associated consultations about case practice, department responses 
and cultural appropriateness.  Several recommendations are reflected in the Children and Community 
Services Act 2004. 
The department conducted an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth consultation in its Cannington 
district in September 2005.  Thirty-four young people aged between six and 16 years attended.  The group 
identified the need to consult with a wider representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young 
people across the state.  A partner agency group was established with the Langford Aboriginal Association, 
Westan Aboriginal Corporation, Communicare and the department’s Cannington office.  The department’s 
Pilbara district will undertake a similar project in Port Hedland, in partnership with local Aboriginal 
organisations.   
The department’s executive endorsed the publishing of a model for consultation with Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander youth, and the development of a child-friendly version.  Executive also endorsed the 
establishment of an ongoing forum/support group to continue interaction with Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander young people, to address issues and improve services. 

Reconciliation 
Each year the department is involved in National Reconciliation Week to renew commitment to building and 
strengthening relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.  This year’s theme was 
‘Reconciliation: Take the next step’. 
Many district offices conducted their own events or coordinated activities in partnership with other 
organisations.  The department coordinated the annual flag-raising ceremony and official launch of National 
Reconciliation Week 2006, and a reconciliation forum.  Both events featured Indigenous elders, and both 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous keynote speakers and entertainment.  Events were in collaboration with the 
Department of Health’s Office of Aboriginal Health, Department of Education and Training and Yorgum 
Aboriginal Corporation. 
The department participated in National Aboriginal and Islander Day Observance Committee Week to 
recognise, celebrate and promote the richness and diversity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people’s 
culture and heritage.  The national theme for 2005 was ‘Our future begins with solidarity’.  Across the 
department, events and activities were conducted in partnership with other organisations.   

Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the department will:  

• conduct an Indigenous youth consultation project in Port Hedland to better understand the attitudes that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children hold about parental drug and alcohol use, and services that 
assist children and families with these difficulties. 

• develop an Elders Policy to acknowledge some common traits that identify the role of Aboriginal elders in 
the community across the state, as determined by family and community, and incorporate guidelines for 
the department to engage Aboriginal Elders in the work of the department in respectful ways. 

• establish a new Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Committee, including members external to 
the department. 

• design an Indigenous staff survey to determine the planning and development of an Indigenous staff 
conference for 2007 to discuss the Children and Community Services Act 2004 and retention of 
Indigenous staff, and review and progress the Indigenous Vision 2005-09 Action Plan. 

• complete the Cultural Leave and Sensitivity Framework to support staff to respond to cultural obligations. 
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Care and Safety Services 

This section includes: 
• Protecting children 
• Responses to child protection concerns 
• Children in the care of the Chief Executive Officer 
• Gordon Inquiry initiatives 
• Strengths based philosophy of practice 
• Quality care 
• Fostering services 
• Duty of care 
• Placement services 
• Reunification and leaving care 
• Adoptions 
• Appeals and complaints 
• Crisis services 
• Supported accommodation 
• State homelessness strategy 
• Services for family and domestic violence 
• Future directions 

 

It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 7. 
 

Protecting Children 
The department has a statutory responsibility to ensure children are protected from maltreatment and neglect. 
The department seeks to meet this responsibility in collaboration with the community and other organisations. 

The Children and Community Services Act 2004 came into operation on 1 March 2006 following an extensive 
process of consultation and deliberation within the department and with external stakeholders.  In preparation 
for its implementation, statewide training on the provisions of the new Act was made available to all 
departmental staff.  Training was extended to local stakeholder agencies in country areas, and a one-day 
overview session was provided in Perth to representatives from invited government and non government 
agencies.  Help-desk facilities were provided, and senior practice development officers supported the field to 
implement the legislation and its operational requirements. 

Regulations accompanying the Act also came into operation on 1 March 2006. Of relevance to this service 
group is Children and Community Services Regulations 2006.  

The Act encourages a more flexible approach, with a range of orders available to safeguard and promote the 
wellbeing of children. It offers a number of options to respond to concerns about a child’s wellbeing, including 
a range of preventative approaches and selection of protection orders. However, it is more prescriptive in the 
principles that underpin all the functions and powers exercised under the Act by the department and the 
Children’s Court, including: 

• the best interests of a child are paramount. 
• matters to consider when determining a child’s best interests. 
• guiding principles for working with children and their families. 
• the principle of child participation. 
• the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander child placement principle. 
• the principle of self-determination and community participation, for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

children. 

Responses to Child Protection Concerns 
The department receives and assesses reports about the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.  
If the assessment finds a child’s wellbeing needs to be safeguarded or promoted, the department may provide 
voluntary social services to support and strengthen the parents to care for their child.   

If there are reasonable grounds to believe that a child has been or is likely to be significantly harmed, the 
department conducts a child protection investigation.   
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In 2005-06, the department developed new processes and terminology to implement the Children and 
Community Services Act 2004 on 1 March 2006.   

Table 17 shows the department’s responses for the period 1 July 2005 to 28 February 2006 under the 
framework of the Child Welfare Act 1947 and Tables 18 and 19 represent responses under the Children and 
Community Services Act 2004 for the period 1 March 2006 to 30 June 2006.  The term ‘child maltreatment 
allegation’ referred to in Table 17 is replaced by the term ‘child protection investigation’ in Tables 18 and 19. 

Table 17: Responses to child maltreatment allegations by nature of allegation 1 July 2005–28 February 2006 

Nature of allegation (a) Finding 

Neglect Emotional 
abuse 

Physical 
abuse 

Sexual 
abuse 

Unknown (b) Total 
allegations 

Substantiated 204 106 228 163 1 702 

Unsubstantiated 183 91 391 307 6 978 
Unable to complete 
investigation (c) 

12 3 12 22 0 49 

Investigation not possible (d) 0 2 2 1 0 5 
Investigation not 
undertaken (e) 

8 1 13 15 0 37 

In process 141 55 167 157 8 528 

Total allegations 548 258 813 665 15 2,299 
(a) The alleged maltreatment reflects the assessment made at the time of receipt of the referral. In a small number of cases the nature of 

the alleged maltreatment may differ from the type of maltreatment identified and substantiated during the investigation.   
(b) Where the nature of the allegation was recorded as unknown, harm may not have occurred but a high level of risk was considered to 

exist. 
(c) ‘Unable to complete investigation’ refers to circumstances such as a young person’s refusal to engage with departmental officers or a 

family that relocates during the investigation and their whereabouts are unknown. These investigations may be finalised at a later 
date when new information becomes available. 

(d) ‘Investigation not possible’ refers to matters where an investigation cannot commence because of inadequate identifying information 
or the subject child or family cannot be located. 

(e) ‘Investigation not undertaken’ refers to a decision to not investigate an allegation of maltreatment because a further evaluation of the 
referral information indicates that an alternative response is more appropriate. 

 
For the eight-month period 1 July 2005 to 28 February 2006, the substantiation rate for completed 
investigations with a recorded outcome was 41 percent.  This is a decrease from the substantiation rate of  
44 percent for the full 2004-05 financial year. 

The child protection investigation responses under the framework of the Children and Community Services 
Act 2004 are shown in Table 18.  The Act introduces ‘psychological abuse’ as one of the grounds by which 
the department may take protection action.  The data for this category is combined with ‘emotional abuse’ in 
Table 18.  The Act also identifies situations where a child has been abandoned, orphaned, or has no suitable 
caregiver, as grounds for investigation and protection action.  Children in this category may not have 
experienced abuse or neglect, but may be at risk because of their circumstances.  Children in these situations 
are grouped under ‘No suitable caregiver’ in Table 18. 

Table 18: Reported concerns and findings resulting from child protection investigations 1 March 2006–30 June 2006 

Nature of concern (a)  
Finding 

Neglect Emotional /  
psychological 

abuse 

Physical 
abuse 

Sexual 
abuse 

No suitable 
caregiver 

Total 
concerns 

Substantiated 49 22 31 19 14 135 

Unsubstantiated 51 18 65 63 8 205 
Unable to complete 
investigation 

12 0 1 6 0 19 

In process 160 84 139 165 23 571 

No suitable caregiver (b) 0 0 0 0 2 2 

Total  272 124 236 253 47 932 
(a) The nature of concern reflects the assessment made at the time of receipt of the referral. In a small number of cases the nature of the 
 concern may differ from the type of maltreatment identified and substantiated during the investigation.   
(b) A finding of ‘no suitable caregiver’ refers to cases where, upon reasonable inquiries, no suitable adult relative or other suitable adult 
 can be found who is willing and able to care for the child. 
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The actions taken under the framework of the Children and Community Services Act 2004 immediately 
following a substantiated investigation are shown in Table 19.  When an investigation is substantiated, 
decisions are made as to how the identified needs of the child or family are to be addressed.  This may be by 
taking intervention action under the Act because the child is in need of protection, or taking other action such 
as the provision of social services where the child is not in need of protection but there are concerns that 
need to be addressed.  Alternatively, no further ongoing action may be appropriate when there are no current 
protection or other concerns for the child, and the department has no viable role.   

Table 19: Actions taken immediately following a ‘substantiation’ finding 1 March 2006–30 June 2006 

Outcome Number of investigations 

Intervention action (a)  

Provisional protection and care with a warrant 26 

Provisional protection and care without a warrant 42 

Application for a protection order 7 

Other action  

Child-centered family support (b) 27 

Other (c) 33 

Total 135 
(a) Intervention Action means action that involves making an application for a warrant (provisional protection and care), taking the child 
 into provisional protection and care without a warrant, or making a protection application. 
(b) Child-centred family support occurs when it is assessed that the child needs particular support to promote their wellbeing.   
(c) 'Other' refers to a range of circumstances including the provision of general family support services (such as advocacy, advice or 
 counselling) or no further action as the family are able to ensure the safety of the child without the involvement of the Department. 
 
When it is established that a child cannot be made safe in their family, the Act enables the department to 
provide immediate safety by taking the child into provisional protection and care, with or without a warrant.  If 
the child is assessed to be in need of protection, the department makes application to the Children’s Court for 
a protection order.  Details of new orders that have been introduced are discussed later in the report. 

Figure 4 depicts the statutory processes involved in the care and safety of children. The number of care and 
protection applications is relatively small compared to the number of allegations or reported concerns. It 
should be noted that for an individual child, not all these processes would necessarily occur in a single 
financial year. Hence, some of the care and protection orders recorded here may be the consequence of 
notifications which occurred during 2004-05 or earlier. 

Figure 4: Care and safety responses 2005-06  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Note: 
(a) 1,099 investigations were still ongoing as at 12 July 2006. 
(b) A number of care and protection applications are not preceded by allegations of abuse or neglect. 
(c) Care and protection applications made in previous years may result in orders granted in 2005-06.   
(d) Not all children are placed on orders for reasons of maltreatment.  Not all orders are preceded by a care and protection application.  

In 2005-06, 331 orders were the result of a care and protection application, 20 through adoption and three through interstate transfer 
of responsibilities.  This compares to 245 through care and protection applications, 26 through adoption, eight through interstate 
transfer of responsibility and two through the Immigration (Guardianship of Children) Act 1946 in 2004-05, for a total of 281. 

  

 
  

3,189 investigations  
involving 2,973 children 

839 substantiated investigations 
 involving 810 children (a) 

515 applications for care and protection orders  
or protection orders 

 involving 510 children (b) 

354 children were placed  
on protection orders (c)(d) 

3,231 reported allegations and concerns 
 involving 3,009 children 
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Care and Protection Applications 

One of the department’s strategies to protect children from harm is to make applications to the Children’s 
Court for protection orders.   

In 2005-06, 510 children were taken into provisional protection and care, and 515 applications were made to 
the Children’s Court.  This compares to 356 applications for 355 children in 2004-05.  There are more 
applications than children because the department may withdraw and then resubmit an application.  

In 2005-06, 354 children were placed on protection orders compared to 281 in the previous year.  This 
represents an increase of 26 percent.   

The number of care and protection applications, and the subsequent number of children placed on orders, 
increased significantly during 2005-06.  Four new order types came into effect on 1 March 2006: 

• protection order (supervision) provides for the supervision of the wellbeing of the child while remaining at 
home – these orders cannot exceed two years duration, can be extended only once, and can include 
conditions such as the parent participating in a parenting program. 

• protection order (time-limited) gives the department parental responsibility for a child for a period 
specified which cannot exceed two years but can be extended for further periods of up to two years on 
each occasion. 

• protection order (until 18) gives the department parental responsibility for the child until 18 years of age. 

• protection order (enduring parental responsibility) gives another person (other than the department or a 
parent of the child), or two people jointly, parental responsibility for a child until it reaches 18 years of 
age. 

The number of children on orders as at 30 June for each of the past five years is shown in Table 20.   

Thirty-nine percent of children on orders (663) at 30 June 2006 were Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander.   

The number of children on orders at 30 June 2006 represents 0.3 percent of the total Western Australian 
population of children and young people aged less than 18 years.       

Table 20: Trend in numbers of children on care orders at 30 June 2002 to 2006 (a) (b) 

Year Total 

2006 1,711 

2005 1,539 

2004 1,453 

2003 1,340 

2002 1,272 

(a)  Children in prospective adoptive placements were counted for the first time in 2004.  Figures before 2004 are not directly comparable 
 with later figures.   
(b) The 2006 figure is not strictly comparable with any previous years as new legislation has redefined those children who are considered 
 to be in care. 
 
 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children on care orders were far more likely to be placed with relative 
foster carers (51 percent) than were other children (24 percent).   

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children on care orders were also far less likely to be placed with 
departmental or external non-relative foster care (28 percent) than were other children (56 percent).   

This is shown in Table 21. 
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Table 21: Type of living arrangements of children on care orders at 30 June 2006  

Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander 

Non Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 

Total (a) (b) Type of living arrangements 

Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Parent/guardian 66 10.0 94 9.0 160 9.3 

Foster care with family member 341 51.4 252 24.0 593 34.6 

Department non relative foster care 114 17.2 532 50.8 646 37.8 

Funded service foster care 72 10.9 53 5.1 125 7.3 

Department residential 16 2.4 21 2.0 37 2.2 

Funded service residential 30 4.5 48 4.6 78 4.6 

Family/friend 7 1.1 9 0.9 16 0.9 

Independent living 4 0.6 17 1.6 21 1.2 

Prospective adoptive placements 2 0.3 12 1.1 14 0.8 

Other 10 1.5 10 0.9 20 1.2 

Unknown (c) 1 0.1 0 0 1 0.1 

Total 663  1,048  1,711  

(a) The percentage for all children is not directly comparable with data from annual reports prior to 2003-04 due to the inclusion of 
 children in prospective adoptive placements for the first time in 2004. 
(b) The 2006 figure is not strictly comparable with any previous years as new legislation has redefined those children who are considered 
 to be in care. 
(c) This child is on an enduring parental responsibility order and their placement type has not been recorded in the client database. 
 

Children in the Care of the Chief Executive Officer 
In January 2006, the department appointed an Advocate for Children in Care. The Advocate provides 
advocacy and complaints management services for children in the care of the Chief Executive Officer, and 
ensures out-of-home care is provided in accordance with the provisions of the Children and Community 
Services Act 2004.   

As at 30 June 2006, the Advocate for Children in Care provided advocacy or complaints management services 
for 44 children and young people in care.  The Advocate made contact with children and young people in 
departmental hostels who were identified as particularly vulnerable.  The Advocate began developing a model 
for participation for children and young people in care.  A database is being developed to enable analysis of 
trends and issues encountered by the Advocate. 

The Advocate for Children in Care also provides strategic advice, policy development and quality assurance, 
and liaises with a wide range of stakeholders.    

A 1800 freecall number was established for children and young people in care.  The service was promoted 
through the department’s websites, direct mailouts, networking with internal and external stakeholders, and 
articles in a range of publications.   

During 2005-06, there were 2,776 children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care for some 
period of time, compared to 2,721 in 2004-05.  Legislation introduced on 1 March 2006 changed the definition 
of children in care.  In the past, children in any type of placement arranged by the department, including at 
home with parents, were considered to be ‘in care’, regardless of their legal status.  The new term ‘in the 
Chief Executive Officer’s care’ replaces the terms ‘ward’ and ‘non ward’ and relates only to those children: 

• in provisional protection and care. 

• subject of a protection order (time-limited) or protection order (until 18). 

• subject of a negotiated placement agreement. 

• provided with placement services under s32(1)(a). 

• in transitional consented placements under the Children and Community Services Regulations 2006. 
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Table 22 shows the status of all children in the Chief Executive Officer’s care on 30 June 2006.   

Table 22: Legal status of children in the Chief Executive Officer’s care at 30 June 2006 (a) 

Legal status Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander 

Non Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 

Total (a) 

Time limited order 408 532 940 

Until 18 order 247 491 738 

Apprehended (Child Welfare Act 1947) 58 111 169 

Provisional protection and care 69 82 151 

Transitional consented placement 42 68 110 

Placement service 14 30 44 

Negotiated placement agreement 0 15 15 

Prospective adoption 2 12 14 

Application for protection order 4 9 13 

Ward orders expiring after 18 (a) 4 9 13 

Pre-adoption parent/guardian 2 6 8 

Other 1 3 4 

Temporary protection visa 0 1 1 

Total 851 1,369 2,220 

(a) Includes children who were previously made wards under the Child Welfare Act 1947 where their order was extended to expire after 
 their 18th birthday.  Most of these children are on longer orders due to disability. 
 
In 2005-06, 748 children and young people started a period of care with the department, compared to 841 in 
2004-05.  In 2005-06, 602 children and young people ceased a period of care, compared with 693 in 2004-05.  
It should be noted that some children and young people re-enter care in the same year that they leave care, 
and some children and young people have multiple periods of care during the year. 

Of the children and young people who started a period of care in 2005-06, 19 percent were aged under one 
year, 29 percent were aged one to four, 24 percent aged five to nine, 23 percent aged 10 to 14 and five 
percent were aged 15 to 17.  Compared to children and young people who started a period of care in 2004-05, 
there was a slightly higher proportion of children aged one to four. 
Of the 748 children and young people who entered care in 2005-06, 25 percent did so because the caregiver 
could not care adequately, 34 percent as a result of maltreatment, 9 percent due to caregiver illness and six 
percent because of behavioural problems or conflict with the child.  The remainder were for other reasons, 
such as respite for caregiver, or no guardian. 
At 30 June 2006, there were 2,220 children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care.  Seventy-
six percent were on protection orders.  Table 23 shows the number of children and young people in the Chief 
Executive Officer’s care as at 30 June for each of the past five years.  

Table 23: Number of children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care at 30 June 2002 to 2006 (a) (b)  

Year Total placed 

2006 2,220 

2005 2,100 

2004 1,993 

2003 1,922 

2002 1,772 

(a)  Children in prospective adoptive placements were counted for the first time in 2004.  Figures before 2004 are not directly comparable 
 with later figures.   
(b) The 2006 figure is not strictly comparable with any previous years as new legislation has redefined those children who are considered 
 to be in care. 
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Children in the care of the Chief Executive Officer are in a variety of living arrangements, as shown in  
Table 24.  The majority of children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care at 30 June 2006 
were in foster care (71 percent).  Of all children in care, 36 percent were living with friends or family other 
than their parents.  Thirty-eight percent were Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, and of these, 53 percent 
were living with friends or family other than their parents. 

Table 24: Living arrangements of children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care at 30 June 2006(a) 

Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander 

Non Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 

Total Type of living arrangements 

Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent(b) 

Parent/guardian 76 8.9 135 9.9 211 9.5 

Foster care with family member 439 51.6 335 24.5 774 34.9 

Department non relative foster care 150 17.6 661 48.2 811 36.5 

Funded service foster care 89 10.5 80 5.8 169 7.6 

Department residential 32 3.8 27 2.0 59 2.7 

Funded service residential 34 4.0 60 4.4 94 4.2 

Family/friend 11 1.3 23 1.7 34 1.5 

Independent living 4 0.5 18 1.3 22 1.0 

Prospective adoptive placements 2 0.2 15 1.1 17 0.8 

Other 14 1.6 15 1.1 29 1.3 

Total 851  1,369  2,220  
(a) Excludes children and young people in SAAP agencies apart from a small number placed there by the department. 
(b) The percentage for all children is not directly comparable with data from annual reports prior to 2003-04 due to inclusion of children in 

prospective adoptive placements for the first time in 2004. 
 

Gordon Inquiry Initiatives 
During the year, the department continued to implement initiatives as part of the State Government’s 
response to the Gordon Inquiry into Response by Government Agencies to Complaints of Family Violence and 
Child Abuse in Aboriginal Communities. 

During 2005-06, the Strong Families initiative was expanded from 13 to 14 locations across the state, with an 
additional coordinator positioned in the south east metro corridor (Armadale District).  The Strong Families 
Program integrates case management planning and service delivery to families experiencing complex social 
problems, who are receiving services from a number of different agencies. During the year, 822 Strong 
Families meetings were held, 727 of these with families new to the program. Fifty-five percent of the 
participating families were Aboriginal. 

The second phase of the Strong Families evaluation occurred, and the program was assessed as ‘effective for 
those families that engage with the process and for most agencies’. Of the 33 families interviewed during the 
evaluation, 70 percent were Aboriginal. All but one family considered Strong Families to be a good process 
and would recommend it to other families.  

In the youth and family engagement worker program, staff work intensively alongside identified Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander families to find appropriate solutions to high-risk behaviours.  Youth and family 
engagement workers each responded to an average of six families per quarter, with one third being new 
families.  In most families, the work also involved extended or blended family members.  During 2005-06, 
youth and family engagement workers undertook casework with approximately 450 families, and made contact 
with around 300 additional individual members of their target group.  An independent evaluation concluded 
that the program is innovative, widely valued and highly effective in engaging with high-risk, multiple-problem 
Aboriginal families and young people.  

Two additional community child protection worker positions were created during the year at Halls Creek and 
One Arm Point (Lombadina), increasing the number of positions to 27. Remote community child protection 
workers continued to work in Kalamburu, Balgo and Warburton, co-located with police in multi-functional 
police facilities. During the year, 45 percent of worker time was spent on community development activities, 
and 30 percent on child protection. 



 
 
 
 

   55  

 
 

There are 15 Aboriginal support worker positions throughout the state, whose primary role is to engage and 
form relationships with at-risk Aboriginal youth and children who are reluctant to work with the department or 
the police. In 2005-06, casework occurred for 835 individuals, an average of 42 individuals per support worker 
each quarter.  Approximately half were new casework contacts. An independent evaluation of the Aboriginal 
support worker and community child protection worker positions commenced, and will be completed in 
September 2006.  

Grant agreements to administer the Safe Places Safe People Program were made with local Aboriginal 
organisations in Halls Creek, Kununurra, Port Hedland and Fitzroy Crossing.  This program supports children 
and young people between the ages of seven and 15 to access a safe place overnight when they feel unsafe 
in their own home.  Community participants in the program receive a small reimbursement.  During the year, 
reference groups were formed by local Aboriginal women to guide and monitor the operation of this initiative. 
This will provide a clearer picture of how many children and young people are staying in homes other than 
their own for safety reasons. 

The Indigenous Community Partnerships Fund provides grants of up to $15,000 for innovative community 
initiatives that work in partnership with government agencies to address the issues identified by the Gordon 
Inquiry.  Key themes are: 

• reducing abuse and violence in Aboriginal communities. 
• strengthening responses to vulnerable children and adults at risk. 
• strengthening the safety of the community. 
• strengthening the governance, confidence, economic capacity and sustainability of communities. 

During 2005-06, 50 agencies were allocated a total of $694,374 in funding for 53 projects. 

The Child Interview Unit in Subiaco has completed over 1,170 interviews of children since it opened in July 
2004.  The child-focused interviews assess the ongoing safety needs of children and gather evidence for 
prosecution.  In 2005-06, four additional temporary positions were added to the unit to meet demand.  The 
unit was a finalist in the Innovation category of the Community Services Industry Awards in November 2005.   

Unit staff developed and implemented training in the specialist child interviewing model for 116 interviewers 
from the department and the Western Australia Police.  Training was delivered in the Northern Territory and 
across Western Australia.  An evaluation of the specialist child interviewing process has commenced, and will 
be completed in October 2006. 

Child Death Review Committee 

The department has a reciprocal agreement with the State Coroner to receive information in all cases where 
children aged 18 years and younger have died from non-natural causes, and where the cause of death was 
unknown.   

An independent Child Death Review Committee is an external review process that examines the department’s 
role in such cases.  The committee reviewed 24 cases during 2005-06.  Of these, 9 deaths occurred in  
2003-04 and 15 in 2004-05.  Common risk factors identified included exposure to parental violence, limited 
parenting capacity and ability to provide safe and adequate care, parental mental health concerns, and 
parental substance use.  The majority of families reviewed had complex needs, and required integrated 
services to address these multiple problems.  The Child Death Review Committee noted the need for a holistic 
approach when working with families; the importance of having a child focus; and the importance of 
information gathering, classification, prioritisation, recording, case closures, supervision and training for staff. 

Additionally, an internal review process examines the department’s role in cases where the child has had 
contact with the department in the two years prior to the child’s death.  This process identifies trends in child 
deaths, and systemic issues between the department and other agencies.  There were 98 notifications 
received during 2005-06, and 19 of these met the department’s criteria for review. 

Interagency Child Protection Coordination Committee 

In 2005-06, the department’s Interagency Child Protection Coordination Committee developed a collaborative 
interagency model for responding to concerns about child abuse and neglect.  In complex cases where there 
are concerns for the safety and wellbeing of children, the interagency child safety teams bring together for 
discussion representatives from the Department for Community Development, Department of Education and 
Training, Western Australia Police, Department of Corrective Services, Department of Health, local Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander organisations and other local agencies. This concept was endorsed by the Human 
Services Directors General Group.  The model is being trialed in Geraldton and Joondalup over a twelve-
month period.  An independent evaluation currently being undertaken will inform decisions regarding the 
future implementation of the model. 
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Ministerial Advisory Council on Child Protection 

During 2005-06, the Ministerial Advisory Council on Child Protection coordinated the Shaken Baby Prevention 
Campaign; established the council’s website www.childprotectioncouncil.com.au; and sponsored a series of 
public lectures and professional seminars by David Thorpe, Professor of Applied Science at the University of 
Lancaster.  The lectures and seminars, which addressed contemporary child welfare issues, were presented 
in partnership with the National Association for the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect, the Centre for 
Vulnerable Children and Their Families and the Australian Association of Social Workers. 

The council continued to focus on a number of projects arising from its 2004 report Caring well - protecting 
well: investing in systemic responses to protect children in Western Australia.  In February 2006, the council 
published its report Myths and realities: sharing information between agencies to enhance the safety of 
children and young people.  The report identified barriers to sharing information experienced by signatories to 
the Interagency Child Protection Procedures and other members of the community.  It also challenged myths 
frequently invoked to justify not sharing relevant information. 

The council commissioned a project to: 

• identify professional and industry groups where child protection training should be mandated, for example 
teachers, nurses and social workers. 

• quantify the current viability of the industry to provide high quality services. 

• undertake an inventory of the current situation in child protection training and skills development. 

• make recommendations on the level of investment and commitment required by government and 
professional industry training organisations to achieve and maintain high quality child protection services 
to children and their families in Western Australia.  

The resulting Child Protection Training Report was published in August 2005. 

Other Protection Initiatives 

The department provides and funds counselling and treatment services for children and families affected by 
child sexual abuse.  Seven not-for-profit organisations deliver nine services, in Bunbury, Geraldton, and 
metropolitan areas.  The department worked in partnership with communities in Roebourne, Derby and 
Carnarvon to develop Indigenous Child Sexual Abuse Response Services. 

In April 2006, a Reciprocal Child Protection Procedure was established between the department and the 
Joondalup Health Campus.  The procedure is additional to the existing Reciprocal Child Protection 
Procedures 2002 between the department and other agencies.  It is the first reciprocal protocol developed 
between the department and a private hospital.  Similar agreements are being developed with other private 
health providers. 

The department developed and distributed the information booklet Identifying and responding to child abuse 
and neglect – a guide for professionals, and the accompanying pamphlet, How do I recognise when a child is 
at risk. These publications enhance professionals’ understanding of child abuse and neglect, and how to 
respond to concerns for children’s wellbeing. 

To promote discussion and debate on effective responses and new approaches to the protection of children, 
the department sponsored local, national and international experts to present at roundtable discussions and 
seminars for staff and representatives from relevant agencies.  In 2005-06, speakers included Di O’Neil (St 
Luke’s Victoria), Professor Ilan Katz, (Social Policy Research Centre, University of New South Wales), 
Professor Dorothy Scott (Centre for Child Protection University of South Australia), Dr Maria Harries (School 
of Social Work and Social Policy University of Western Australia) and Tony Morrison (independent trainer, 
practitioner and consultant from the United Kingdom). 

Strengths Based Philosophy of Practice 
During the year, the department continued to implement a Strengths Based Philosophy of Practice.  It is a 
client-directed strategy that allows clients to define their own goals, and identify strengths and resources for 
their own empowerment.  The approach is particularly important for child protection, as parents are supported 
to take responsibility for the safety and wellbeing of their child, change parental behaviours that pose a risk, 
and discover their own capacity and resilience.  The department uses the strategy to engage individuals and 
families, and work cooperatively across agencies in a way that is both respectful and effective.   

The Strengths Based Philosophy of Practice curriculum was modified during the year to incorporate relevant 
departmental material.  Two separate curricula were developed, one for field staff and one for training staff in 
other than direct service directorates.   
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A curriculum was developed for strengths based supervision in a Department for Community Development 
context.  It will be piloted in the first quarter of 2006-07. 

The department also implemented the Child Safety Assessment Framework as the primary risk assessment 
tool for case work. 

Quality Care 
In February 2006, the Care for Children and Young People Advisory Committee was established.  It continued 
the work of the Children and Young People in Care Advisory Committee, which finished its term on 31 July 
2005.    The committee commenced a project with non government agencies to develop resources to assist 
young people leaving care to live independently.  The committee also worked with the department’s 
Indigenous Policy Directorate on strategies to address the increasing proportion of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander children in care.  Other areas of interest included the Charter of Rights for Children in Care, the 
needs of culturally and linguistically diverse children in care, improving support for carers, including relative 
carers, and examining the role of non government organisations in the sector. 

The department continued to fund the CREATE Foundation to provide services to represent and support 
children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care.  CREATE provides opportunities for children 
and young people to develop a wide range of skills, to enhance and expand their life outcomes, and to 
connect them with each other so they have a community in which they have a real sense of belonging. 
CREATE also provides advice to the department on issues in this area. 

During 2005-06, CREATE worked with district offices and local communities to run empowerment programs 
for children and young people in the Chief Executive Officer’s care, including Young consultants, Show me the 
ropes, mission:be and CREATing your community.  Children and young people participated in the 
development, delivery and evaluation of these programs.  Variety WA, in partnership with CREATE, 
sponsored a Christmas Party attended by 237 children and their carers.  

CREATE presented sessions in the department’s Start-Up Training Program, which enabled caseworkers to 
hear directly from young people about their experiences in care, their expectations of a relationship with their 
caseworker, and appropriate ways of encouraging children and young people to be involved in developing 
their own care plans.  During 2005-06, CREATE received a Community Champion Award from the National 
Association for the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect, for outstanding contribution to creating child-
friendly communities in Western Australia.   

The KicRock community engagement model for children and young people in care was developed by the 
department’s Rockingham District Office, in conjunction with CREATE and the Children and Young People In 
Care Advisory Committee.  The model received the department’s 2005 Innovation Award. 

The department continued to implement the National Plan for Foster Children, Young People and their Carers.  
The plan, launched in July 2004, aims to achieve high quality outcomes for children in foster care through 
partnerships between Australian, State and Territory Governments and the non government sector.  

Protocols to enhance collaborative education services and support for children and young people in care are 
being developed with the Department of Education and Training.   

To clarify agency responsibilities for children in care with disabilities, a memorandum of understanding was 
established in November 2005 between the department and the Disability Services Commission.  The 
memorandum aims to ensure the best possible outcomes for children with disabilities who are in care, and for 
parents with disabilities who are caring for their children. 

Fostering Services 
Fostering Services, previously known as the Foster Care Recruitment Service, was renamed during the year 
to reflect its broader role. While the unit continued to recruit, assess and train general carers, Fostering 
Services also established a state-wide screening service for both general and relative carers, and provided an 
on-site support service to district office staff and carers. These new services were introduced to ensure 
comprehensive initial and ongoing screening, and support for all carers. 

Table 25 summarises the work of Fostering Services for 2005-06 in comparison to 2004-05. The introduction 
of the Children and Community Services Act 2004, and changed departmental priorities, resulted in Fostering 
Services altering a number of its processes and recording mechanisms. Therefore, in several instances, 
equivalent figures were not available for the previous year. 
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Table 25: Fostering Services 2004-05 to 2005-06 

 2005-06 2004-05 

Information packs sent 698 398 

Participants at information session 314 238 

Expression of interest (Jan to Jun) (a) 107 N/A 

Home visits (Jan to Jun) (a)   49 N/A 

Full applications 209 174 

Departmental record screening (a) 584 N/A 

Police record screening (a) 675 N/A 

Assessments commenced 148 N/A 

Pre-registration (preparation) training   91   51 

Post-registration training 402 N/A 

Training to relative carers (a)   88 (38 ATSI)(b) N/A 

Assessments withdrawn   80 N/A 

New registered general carers   28 (3 ATSI)   50 (5 ATSI) 

New registered relative carers     3 (2 ATSI)   14 (8 ATSI) 

First stage of country assessments   40   31 

Assessments in progress as at 30 June   41   45 

On-site district support (a) (Feb to Jun)   11 N/A 
(a) Service and/or process introduced in 2005-06. 
(b) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander. 
 
The recruitment of general carers is proving increasingly difficult, reflecting in part increased employment 
levels and changing community attitudes. To counter this, Fostering Services actively partnered with non 
government agencies including Wanslea, Anglicare, Mercy, Mofflyn, Parkerville, Yorganop, Centrecare’s 
Djooraminda and the Foster Care Association to develop sector-wide recruitment strategies.  Requests for 
information packs and attendance at information sessions increased significantly over the last few months of 
the year as these strategies were implemented. 

The process of assessing general carers was reworked to reflect the Children and Community Services Act 
2004 and the introduction of a competency-based approach.  New processes were introduced, including an 
initial expression of interest form and home visit, to reduce the number of applicants withdrawing or being 
screened out of the assessment process. The re-writing of the carer assessment manual will be completed in 
2007. 

Training of both general and relative carers continued to be a priority, to ensure that newly registered carers 
were as prepared as possible for their critically important role, and to ensure that existing carers were kept up 
to date on current trends and practice.  

Two training calendars were produced at six-monthly intervals, and both general and relative carers were 
offered a broad range of learning and development opportunities.  Training was accessed by 402 carers.  A 
new training package, reflecting the carer competencies required in the new legislation, was developed during 
the year.  Supportive Learning is a training package for relative carers.  It outlines their rights and 
responsibilities, departmental processes, and focuses on the safety of children in their care.  It was delivered 
to 88 relative carers in their homes on a one-to-one basis. The package was well-received by relative carers, 
and will be incorporated into the re-write of the relative carer assessment package to be completed in 2007. 

Rigorous processes were established to ensure the initial and on-going screening of all carers.   
There were 584 departmental record checks and 675 police record checks completed during the year. 
Previously undertaken at the district level, these are now undertaken by Fostering Services, which 
experienced a 50 percent increase in requests for checks from March to June 2006. 

To support departmental district staff and carers, Fostering Services provided an on-site service to 15 
locations across the state (including five country areas) between February and June 2006.  Monthly reports on 
screening and support mechanisms for carers were distributed to all district managers, with an offer to provide 
assistance as required. 

Work continued on the Central Carer Register, established in March 2005 to record details of carers from the 
department and not-for-profit placement agencies, to enable monitoring of carers who move between fostering 
agencies and the department.  
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Duty of Care 
In September 2005, the department engaged independent expert in child protection, Gwenn Murray, to 
examine cases of substantiated harm to children in care between April 2004 and September 2005.   
Ms Murray’s report, A duty of care to children and young people in Western Australia, made 43 
recommendations.  It was presented to the Minister for Community Development in December 2005.  The 
report found no structural failure of the department’s systems; in the majority of the cases reviewed, practice 
was sufficient, but not ‘best practice’.   

An implementation committee commenced on 10 February 2006.  It is chaired by the department’s Director 
General, and includes representatives from the CREATE Foundation, the Foster Care Association, and non 
government agencies who care for children.  In response to the report’s recommendations, the committee 
developed an implementation strategy including an action plan, a communication plan, and a performance 
indicator framework by which actions will be measured and evaluated.  Ms Murray endorsed the strategy, 
which will be released for public information in August 2006.  It is anticipated that most actions will be 
completed within 18 months.   

Responses to reported notifications of alleged abuse and critical incidents for children and young people in 
the Chief Executive Officer’s care, or in child care services, are quality assured, tracked and monitored by the 
department’s Duty of Care Unit.  This unit also determines whether there is a need for a child or young person 
in the Chief Executive Officer’s care to be referred for independent legal advice. The quality assurance 
function ensures the child’s or young person’s immediate safety and wellbeing is met by an appropriate child 
protection response. The unit also provides a consultancy and training service on duty of care matters to the 
department’s field services and its not-for-profit partners. 

In March 2006, the department created the Executive Director, Special Projects position.  This position is 
responsible for Placement Services and the Duty of Care Unit, in acknowledgement of these critical areas of 
responsibility. The Executive Director is also responsible for the review of legal outcomes for children in the 
care of the Chief Executive Officer, and for overseeing the quality assurance of casework practice. 

The State Government endorsed the establishment of a central investigation unit to deal with all allegations of 
abuse in care, as recommended in the Gwenn Murray report. This unit will be managed through the Duty of 
Care Unit and resourced from the Government's May 2005 budget announcements. This unit will develop best 
practice in providing timely and consistent responses to children in care where concerns are raised, and will 
make recommendations from a systemic perspective.  

The department continued to implement the recommendations of the Report on the Quality Assurance of the 
Department for Community Development's Systems and Processes for Children in Care (December 2004).  

In April 2006, a Standards Monitoring Unit was established to oversee departmental legislation and policy 
compliance.  The Standards Monitoring Unit commenced work on consolidating the department's standards 
for protection and care services.  Work also commenced to determine the most effective way to assess the 
department's compliance with the standards within a framework that allows continuous improvement. 

Placement Services  
Placement Services, provided directly by the department, is undergoing a significant review and change 
program.  The program aims to develop best practice assessment, therapy and care services to the young 
people resident in the department's metropolitan hostels and group homes.  Residents, staff, program experts 
and other significant stakeholders will assist in the development of service delivery models.  Residents are 
being encouraged to contribute, to ensure the outcome reflects their needs and interests.  

During 2005-06, the department provided more than $9.7 million to nine non government agencies for a range 
of placement, family enhancement, tertiary family preservation and reunification services.  New three-year 
service agreements were negotiated for 14 services provided by the nine agencies. 

For children and young people in care who have complex needs and require intensive support, the department 
began to develop new assessment and treatment options, including the recruitment of specialised carers, and 
a support, intervention and therapy team to meet the needs of children.  

Reunification and Leaving Care 
During the year, 602 children and young people exited 679 episodes of care (that is, some children were in 
more than one episode of care during the year).  Eighty-one percent returned to immediate or extended family 
upon exiting care, and five percent moved to independent living.  The remainder of care episodes ceased with 
the child or young person living in a range of situations, including adoptive parents, with a friend, in Disability 
Services Commission residential care, or in detention.  

In January 2006, the department released for public comment a draft Policy for Reunifying Children with their 
Families.  The policy outlines how the department reunifies children in the Chief Executive Officer’s care to 
the care of their parents or relatives.  It is informed by the principles and requirements of the Children and 
Community Services Act 2004, and emphasises the best interests of the child as the paramount 
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consideration.  The consultation period concluded in April 2006.  Feedback will be included in the policy, to be 
finalised in 2006-07. 

The manual Protocols and Procedures for Preparation for Leaving and After Care Services was developed in 
partnership with funded services.  This innovative guide combines best practice from across Western 
Australia into consistent practices for the provision of quality services to young people moving from the care 
of the Chief Executive Officer towards independent living.   

The Ida Curtois Scholarships and the department’s Achiever Awards are given annually to young people who 
have been in the care of the department and who are enrolled in the first year of post-secondary study. In 
2006, nine young people applied and were awarded either a scholarship or an award. A Special Achievement 
Scholarship was awarded for the first time. The Lakes City Church generously donated a computer to each of 
the winners. 

The department is represented on the CREATE FACE to FACE National Steering Committee. The fourth 
FACE to FACE National Partnership Forum, The Superhero’s Journey: Supporting positive leaving care and 
transition experiences, was held in Brisbane in August 2005. The 200 participants included young people, 
peak bodies, and government and non government agencies.  They shared experiences and practices, and 
developed priorities and actions relevant for each state and territory.  Twenty-six Western Australians 
attended, including nine young people.  They identified as priorities the establishment of network meetings for 
stakeholders and the development of a Leaving Care Kit for young people.  Planning commenced for the fifth 
FACE to FACE National Partnership Forum, to be held in Western Australia in 2007. 

Adoptions 
During 2005-06, the Adoption Service continued to work with those wishing to adopt, those considering 
relinquishing a child for adoption, and those who were involved in an adoption in the past. 

In 2005, the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Family and Human Services held an inquiry 
into inter-country adoptions.  The inquiry committee, chaired by the Honourable Bronwyn Bishop MP, received 
266 written submissions, including one from the Adoption Service.  The department’s director East Division 
and the Adoption Service’s manager addressed the committee’s Perth hearing in October 2005. The 
committee’s report, presented to Parliament in November 2005, made 27 recommendations, on the Australian 
Government’s increased role in inter-country adoptions, on state procedures and time-frames for the adoption 
process, and on matters of Australian Government responsibility such as access to parental leave and 
benefits.  

The Adoption Service continued to update publicly available information through its website, used for queries 
both overseas and locally. The six Inter-country Adoption Guides were updated regularly for those interested 
or involved in inter-country adoptive parenthood.  A newsletter containing updates about adoption programs 
was published in December 2005, and distributed to departmental offices, adoption support agencies, and 
those applying to be or already approved as adoptive parents.   

A steady stream of queries from those involved in a past adoption continued, despite the existence of ‘open 
adoption’ since the 1995 implementation of the Adoption Act 1994.  In many cases there was a need for a 
social work service to support those involved in a past adoption.  Two thirds of queries were from adoptees. 
Of those requesting information, the majority (64 percent) were aged between 25 and 44 years; however 
some queries were from those in their seventies and eighties who had only just discovered they were 
adopted.   

Table 26 shows the number and categories of people who lodged applications for information during 2005-06. 

Table 26: Applications for information by adults lodged in 2005-06 

Person lodging the application Identifying information Non-identifying information 

Adopted person 206 172 

Adoptive mother 12 9 

Adoptive father 0 0 

Birth mother 38 31 

Birth father 10 5 

Other birth relative 20 18 

Other adoptive relative 5 4 

Child of adopted person 16 14 

Total 307 253 
 

During 2005-06, the local adoption team worked with an increased number of birth mothers who were 
considering adoption for their child.  Many of these children were not relinquished and were returned to the 
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care of their mother, father or other family members after periods in specialised pre-adoptive foster care.  In 
2005-06, nine adoption orders were granted for locally-born babies, compared to four in 2004-05. All local 
adoption orders were granted when the child was under one year old.  
Working with birth families and matching adoptive families to a child is intensive, and is increasing in 
complexity.  The consent of fathers is sometimes difficult to obtain.  More biological fathers or extended family 
members are considering caring for the birth child, necessitating intensive consultation and mediation. 
During 2005-06, demand for adoptions from overseas continued, although there was a decrease in the 
availability of children from countries with which Western Australia has adoption programs. This resulted in 
longer times for assessment and allocation, and at 30 June 2006 there were 107 approved applicants on the 
register.  In 2005-06, there were 36 orders granted for inter-country adoptions.   
In early 2005, China advised it would only allow adoptions for children aged two and under, although there 
may be children available aged over six years and with high additional needs.  This change meant some older 
children were no longer available for adoption. China reported significant increases in applications, and this 
meant applicants waited for longer periods. 
Korea reduced the number of children available for placement in Western Australia from 10 in 2004-05 to 
seven in 2005-06.  The actual number of placements from Korea was five, so it is anticipated that the actual 
number of adoption orders from Korea in 2006-07 may be fewer than in 2005-06. 
The number of adoption orders granted in the last five years are shown in Table 27.  While only nine local 
children were adopted in the year, more children were placed in pre-adoptive foster care while parents 
considered adoption.  Most of the children returned to their birth parents. 

Table 27: Adoption orders granted by the Family Court or country of origin by type of adoption  

Type of adoption 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 

Known adoptions      

Carer 2 5 2 5 3 

Step parent 7 6 2 28 26 

Adult 8 5 8 13 8 

Total known orders 17 16 12 46 37 

Unrelated placement adoptions      

Local 9 4 3 6 13 

Inter-country      

- Bilateral Program 19 13 33 18 26 

- Hague (a) 2 2 1 2 1 

- China (b) 15 14 10 4 2 

Total unrelated placement orders 45 33 47 30 42 

Total adoption orders 62 49 59 76 79 
(a) Inter-country adoption under the Hague Convention. 
(b) Adoptions from China are finalised in China and are automatically recognised in Australia under s.138A(2) of the Adoption Act 1994. 
 
Table 28 shows the number of inter-country adoptions in the last five years.  China has been the largest 
overseas program for the last two years. 

Table 28: Adoption orders granted by the Family Court and country of origin for overseas-born children (a)  

Country of origin 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 

China 15 14 10 4 2 

Ethiopia 4 1 3 3 3 

Hong Kong 1 1 3 1 3 

India 1 0 5 2 9 

Korea 11 8 16 12 11 

Philippines 2 2 1 1 1 

Sri Lanka 0 0 0 1 0 

Thailand 2 3 6 0 0 

Total  36 29 44 24 29 
(a) Year to year fluctuations in adoption numbers reflect a range of factors in other countries beyond the department’s control, such as 

moratoria, quotas, and number of children available for inter-country adoption. 
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The department’s internal research into ten cases of adoption disruption was nearing completion by June 
2006.  In five cases, the disruption occurred under the Adoption Act 1994 and before the adoption order was 
made. The other five cases were disrupted after the adoption order was made, and under the previous Act, 
Adoption of Children Act 1896.  Although half of the cases occurred under the previous Act, themes and 
issues identified continue to be relevant today for assessments, approvals and placements of children with the 
view to adoption. 

In September 2005, a Hague Special Commission meeting was held in the Netherlands to review the practical 
operation of the 1993 Hague Convention on Inter-country Adoption.  The department’s Adoption Service 
manager was one of three Australian delegates to attend. 

The Adoption Service manager met with adoption authorities in Brazil, to discuss the feasibility of an inter-
country program.  Program visits were also made to adoption authorities in Thailand and Hong Kong, 
countries with which the Adoption Service has partnership agreements. 

An Adoption Act Legislation Review Committee is being established to undertake a review of the Adoption Act 
1994 during 2006-07. 

Appeals and Complaints 
The department's Consumer Advocacy Service deals with complaints and assists customers who are 
concerned about departmental decisions affecting them.  The service ensures that the voices of customers 
are heard and their concerns are addressed. 

In 2005-06, the service dealt with 862 cases.  Of these, 87% were completed within 10 working days.  The 
case issues taken up by the service are shown in Table 29.  Over half of the issues raised concerned general 
casework and child protection matters.   

Table 29: Issues raised with the consumer advocacy service 2004-05 to 2005-06 

Issues Percentage 2005-06 Percentage 2004-05 

Child protection  23.0 16.8 

Case work  29.3 38.6 

Consumer advocacy role  6.8 10.8 

Contact 12.9 11.8 

Miscellaneous  28.0 22.0 

 

The Case Review Board continued to be an avenue of appeal for case conferences and care plan review 
decisions.  During 2005-06, the board received 11 applications for appeal.  Applications were more complex 
and contentious than in previous years, with some hearings running over several days rather than the usual 
one-day hearing.  Of the 11 applications: 

• four did not proceed as the applications did not fall within the mandate of the Case Review Board, or were 
withdrawn by the applicant.   

• three applications were upheld in favour of the department. 
• for two applications, plans were amended.  One case was amended as agreed between the parties to the 

hearing.  For the other case, members of the board recommended the amendments to be made. 
• for two applications, the board recommended that the entire case conference plans be reviewed.  One of 

these applications required further assessments to be undertaken.  

Of the seven applications heard: 

• in six cases, the applicants were one or both parents.  These appeals related primarily to placement of 
their children, and issues pertaining to contact with their children.   

• one appeal was lodged by a grandparent of a child in care, and concerned placement and contact with 
their grandchild.   

In all applications heard, one or both parents had drug problems, domestic violence issues were present, and 
there were concerns about parental mental health. 

The Case Review Board was enshrined in legislation on 1 March 2006 and became known as the  
Case Review Panel.  All decisions made by the department regarding children in the care of the Chief 
Executive Officer are now reviewed through the Case Review Panel process.  This change created a greater 
level of independence for the panel’s deliberations, and provided access to the State Administrative Tribunal 
if an applicant disagrees with the Chief Executive Officer’s decision on an appeal.  
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Crisis Services  

Emergency Responses 

During 2005-06, the department was successful in a submission to Treasury for the ongoing funding of an 
expanded Emergency Services Unit. The unit now has five permanent full-time equivalent positions. The 
expanded unit will provide more and improved training, advice, support, coordination and monitoring of 
people, systems and plans.  Allocations in the 2006-07 budget will allow for the creation of dedicated district 
emergency support officers and the development of early response teams based in the metropolitan area. 

Staff training was a priority during the year, with comprehensive training in the department’s emergency 
services role provided to the majority of districts. Staff were involved in a range of local and state exercises, 
including the annual airport exercise. 

In 2005-06, the department responded to a variety of community needs arising as a result of a range of 
disasters.   

In October 2005, staff provided information and support to people returning from Bali following a suicide bomb 
attack.  A disaster response hotline gave information about available support options.   

In December 2005 and January 2006, major fires occurred in the Carnarvon and Dwellingup areas.  Financial 
assistance was provided in Carnarvon, and centres were opened in Waroona and Harvey to provide safe 
refuge to those affected by the Dwellingup fire. 

From January to April 2006, a significant number of tropical lows and cyclones affected areas from Kununurra 
to Lake Grace.  Staff from local district offices ran emergency evacuation centres, with evacuees numbering 
360 in one centre.  The department provided emergency financial assistance, support and food to those 
affected. 

In the Pilbara, staff provided support, temporary living expenses and financial assistance to travellers who 
were stranded due to floodwaters associated with cyclone activity. 

Lake Grace was isolated by floodwaters, and the department was actively involved in planning evacuation 
alternatives should the need eventuate.  Department staff were involved in a local recovery committee to plan 
for the community’s restoration. 

Departmental Financial Assistance and Counselling  

In 2005-06, the department’s family crisis service provided over 13,500 instances of emergency assistance to 
people experiencing unforeseen crises, compared to 14,000 in 2004-05.  A total of 7,658 people were 
assisted in 2005-06, compared to 8,109 people in 2004-05.   

The main areas of assistance provided were food and accommodation. In most categories, there was a 
decrease in both the number of clients assisted and the number of instances of assistance.   

However, there has been a marked increase in providing accommodation from 2004-05 to 2005-06.  This 
reflects the shortage and rising costs of housing across the state. 

Table 30: Department for Community Development service provision 

Number of people (a) Instances of service provision (b) Outcomes 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 

Food for family 5,795 6,147 6,717 9,164 9,763 10, 821 

Essential services provided 620 643 654 749 783 765 

Medical/optical requirements 603 681 864 630 712 885 

Furniture provided 3 17 16 3 17 17 

Transport 207 205 247 247 258 297 

Accommodation provided 895 680 857 1,433 1,027 1,407 

Clothing/linen/blankets 90 98 72 98 113 77 

Funeral assistance 387 451 443 417 484 481 

Financial counselling 16 37 55 20 52 65 

Other 592 616 620 762 858 770 
(a) Persons can receive assistance in more than one outcome category during the financial year and thus the total number of persons 

assisted is significantly less than the number for each category added together. 
(b) Instances of service provision in each outcome tend to be greater than the number of people who received assistance, as persons 

can be assisted more than once during the year. 
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Funded Financial Assistance and Counselling Services 

In 2005-06, the department’s 54 funded financial counselling services assisted over 14,000 clients in over 
33,000 instances of service provision.  Assistance included advice about creditors, budgeting, and negotiating 
to maintain essential services.   

The types of counselling and assistance provided are described in Table 31.   

Table 31: Funded Financial Counselling Services service provision 

Number of instances  
Outcomes 

2005 2004 2003 

Advice concerning gambling issues 80 85 94 

Referral to DCD, legal advice, bill paying and other services 3,318 3,685 3,579 

Application for No Interest Loans Scheme 1,040 1,289 1,245 

Assistance to obtain entitlements 2,042 2,063 2,098 

Information and assistance with bankruptcy and other issues 5,250 4,541 4,379 

Housing Issues 2,237 2,393 2,393 

Legal and other creditor issues 5,254 5,544 6,523 

Negotiation with essential service providers (eg power/water) 3,497 3,840 3,890 

Budgeting advice and assistance 4,689 5,109 5,946 

Emergency relief (a) 2,637 N/A N/A 

Other 3,373 8,399 5,089 

Total 33,417 36,948 35,236 
(a)  This outcome for measured for the first time in 2005. 
 

Supported Accommodation 
The five-year Commonwealth/State Supported Accommodation Assistance Program Multilateral Agreement, 
SAAP V, commenced on 1 October 2005.  The SAAP V Bilateral Agreement between the Australian and 
Western Australian Governments was signed on 31 January 2006.  It provides ongoing funding for services 
for people who are homeless and those at risk of homelessness.   In 2005-06, the State Government provided  
$12 million in funding, and the Australian Government provided $17 million. 

Concerns about the financial viability of services in the supported accommodation sector were an ongoing 
issue in 2005-06. In response to concerns raised by the sector and the ‘More Than A Bed’ campaign, the 
department produced a report about cost pressures and expenditure trends facing service providers from 
1998 to 2004.  The report was provided to all SAAP agencies in May 2006. 

To promote improved electronic communication across the sector and to assist agencies to meet National 
Data Collection requirements, one-off grants of up to $3,250 were made available to SAAP agencies to 
undertake technology training and upgrade computer equipment. In addition, data collection training was 
provided for SAAP services in Karratha, Bunbury, Kalgoorlie, Albany, Geraldton and Port Hedland.  

The department investigated the use of support plans and implementation of service standards by SAAP 
agencies. To address the recommendations of the project, the department developed an action plan in 
consultation with the SAAP State Advisory Committee.  Strategies include development of a sample policy 
and procedures manual, and the provision of training to SAAP services through the Community Skills Training 
Centre. 

As part of the SAAP protocols project, protocols between the department (on behalf of SAAP services) and 
the Department of Education and Training were completed in February 2006, bringing the number of SAAP 
protocols to ten. Training in development of protocols continued, and a guide to developing protocols was 
made available to agencies via the department’s website.  

The SAAP State Advisory Committee’s term ended on 30 November 2005.  A new committee was established 
in February 2006.  Since its establishment, the committee has developed a work plan derived from the 
transitional plan prepared by the outgoing committee.  The new committee established working groups to 
focus on developing projects in the areas of sector viability, and the issues of mental health, alcohol and other 
drugs.  
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State Homelessness Strategy 
The State Government’s Homelessness Strategy began in May 2002.  The strategy’s three themes were 
better options for housing through improved access to affordable housing; recognising vulnerability and 
assisting those in transition from institutions and other situations to housing; and assisting with stability in 
housing by providing services to keep people housed.   

During 2005-06, the State Homelessness Strategy Monitoring Committee contracted an independent 
evaluation of the impact and effectiveness of the strategy.  It was completed in January 2006.  The findings of 
the evaluation were generally positive.  The majority of the initiatives were considered to have been 
successfully implemented or underway, and good outcomes were being achieved for clients.  The evaluation 
recommended that all funded initiatives be continued and expanded.  It also recommended ongoing 
development of services, and a reinvigorated commitment to coordinated service delivery.  All department-
funded services will receive ongoing funding, including a highly successful intensive service for those families 
who are homeless and experiencing multiple difficulties. 

The Directory of Accommodation and Homelessness Services was completed during the year.  The Minister 
for Community Development officially launched the directory at the Western Australian Council of Social 
Service Annual General Meeting on 24 November 2005.  Hard copies were distributed, and copies were made 
accessible at www.community.wa.gov.au/Resources/Accommodation/Directory.  

During 2005-06, the department and funded service providers experienced an increase in demand for 
emergency accommodation services, directly attributable to the strong housing market.  Despite progress 
made through the State Homelessness Strategy, and the ongoing work of the services funded through the 
Commonwealth/State Supported Accommodation Assistance Program, requests to the department increased 
by more than 30 percent.  The department will monitor and respond to this increased demand during  
2006-07. 

Services for Family and Domestic Violence 
During 2005-06, the department provided around $19 million in funding to 94 services, including two domestic 
violence helplines, to assist families and individuals experiencing, or at risk of, family and domestic violence. 
Over $13.5 million was provided through the Commonwealth/State Supported Accommodation Assistance 
Program.   

The department provides funding to non government services under three-year service agreements. Within 
the funding period, the department reviews groups of like services, to ensure their continued relevance to 
meeting the community’s needs.  In 2005-06, the Domestic Violence Supported Accommodation Services, the 
Domestic Violence Advocacy and Support Services and the Family Abuse Intervention Services were 
reviewed.  The reviews found that services were reaching their target groups and providing relevant 
responses.   

In 2005-06, the Crisis Care Unit received 4,896 calls related to family and domestic violence, compared to 
4,603 calls in 2004-05.  Support included assisting victims with safety planning, referral to refuge 
accommodation and assistance to leave.   

The Men’s Domestic Violence Helpline received 2,537 calls during the year, 25 percent less than 2004-05.  
There were 1,689 calls from victims, perpetrators, or persons at risk of perpetrating family and domestic 
violence.  The remainder of calls were from other community members and service providers seeking 
information, or calls not related to domestic violence.   

The Women’s Domestic Violence Helpline received 3,406 calls during the year, nine percent more calls than 
in 2004-05.  Of these, 2,554 involved family and domestic violence issues.   

The remainder of calls to the helplines were in relation to other issues, such as custody and access, 
information about men or women’s support/advocacy groups, and queries from students and professionals 
about the services.  Contacts to helplines fluctuate year by year depending upon events in the community and 
information in the media. 

In December 2004, the Acts Amendment (Family and Domestic Violence) Act 2004 was proclaimed, 
increasing the options available to the police and the courts to provide safety to vulnerable people through 
restraining orders.  This led to a change in responses and reported incidents of family and domestic violence.  
The police reported to the department an increased number of children exposed to serious incidents.  There 
were 69 referrals during June 2006, compared to 17 during December 2004, when the Act was introduced. 

During the year, the department endorsed and implemented a new Family and Domestic Violence Policy.  The 
policy was developed with input from a range of stakeholders both internal and external to the department.  It 
provides an overarching framework to guide current and future departmental responses to family and 
domestic violence.  Fieldworker guidelines in family and domestic violence are being redeveloped. 

During 2005-06, a gender analysis audit on the Family and Domestic Violence Policy was completed.  The 
audit was part of the Gender Analysis of Policy Project research initiative, funded through the Australian 
Research Council and the department.  Findings are informing the development of family and domestic 
violence fieldworker guidelines and training. 
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Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the department will: 

• progress the implementation of recommendations in the report A Duty of Care to Children and Young 
People in Western Australia. 

• implement policy on the reunification of children in the care of the department with their families. 
• enhance the department’s Fostering Services role to establish a state-wide foster care recruitment, 

assessment, training and support service. 
• appoint additional staff to alleviate workload pressures and improve the standard of services provided to 

children and their carers. 
• provide 20 new specialised placements available for high-need, high-risk children in the department’s 

care, ten of which will be provided by non government services. 
• trial an interagency child safety team model for cooperation between agencies in Geraldton and 

Joondalup, to strengthen the safety and wellbeing of children and families in those areas and clarify 
different agencies’ roles and responsibilities with regard to child protection. 

• consolidate the practice requirements of new Children and Community Services Act 2004 legislation. 
• complete an evaluation of child sexual abuse treatment services. 
• increase child sexual abuse treatment services in Mandurah and Bunbury. 
• strengthen requirements for the reporting of children who have been harmed through abuse and neglect 

by including standards for reporting in the funding agreements for those department-funded services 
working with vulnerable children and families. 

• promote the development of evidence-based responses to children in need of protection through public 
seminar forums and roundtable discussions by international and national social policy and child protection 
experts. 

• provide increased funding to SAAP services to enhance the viability of the sector. 
• establish a new refuge for women and children escaping family and domestic violence in the north 

metropolitan area. 
• implement the SAAP V Multilateral and Bilateral Agreements including initiatives funded through the 

Innovation and Investment Fund. 
• review the Adoption Act 1994 to ensure it supports the wellbeing of adopted children, reflects 

contemporary practices, and responds to changing patterns in the international adoption situation. 
• increase the capability of the department to respond to emergencies through expansion of the Emergency 

Services Unit, the creation of emergency services officer positions across the state, establishment of an 
Early Response Team and the co-location of the unit within the State Crisis Centre. 
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   Family and Domestic Violence  

 Coordination 
 
This section includes: 
• Customer profile 
• Initiatives for policy development 
• Safety and accountability audit 
• Good practice guidelines 
• Consumer advisory group 
• Early intervention initiatives 
• Initiatives for working with special interest groups 
• Initiatives with the Department of Health 
• Community education 
• Future directions 

 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 8. 
 

Customer Profile 
The Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 defines family and domestic violence as 
‘behaviour which results in physical, sexual and/or psychological damage, forced social isolation, economic 
deprivation, or behaviour which causes the victim to live in fear’.  The issue is complex and the consequences 
are extensive, however it is acknowledged that it is a gendered issue, with women and children predominantly 
the victims of such violence. 

Legislation introduced to Western Australia significantly strengthens the police response to domestic violence. 
The Acts Amendment (Family and Domestic Violence) Act 2004 amends three existing pieces of legislation to 
afford greater protection to victims of family and domestic violence, with a particular focus on the needs and 
protection of children.  

The Act requires police to investigate acts of family and domestic violence, and provides them with increased 
powers, including the ability to take out 24 and 72-hour orders to remove a perpetrator of violence from the 
home.  More than 5,200 police orders were issued in the first 12 months of the legislation.  The majority of 
those removed were men.  

In 2005, Western Australia Police responded to more than 22,000 family and domestic violence incidents, 
where more than 11,700 criminal offences had occurred.  For 9,400 of these offences, an offender was 
charged. 

When the Act came into effect, the department received an increase in police referrals of children present at 
family and domestic violence incidents.  This increased the department’s workload, and required appropriate 
responses.  Other agencies that assist those affected by domestic violence also reported increased demand. 

These changes led to increasing recognition by government and non government agencies of the need to 
work in a coordinated way at all levels, to achieve the safety of those experiencing family and domestic 
violence and the accountability of those responsible for violence.  This need for improved coordination 
informed a major review of Family and Domestic Violence Regional Committees.  It also led to the 
establishment of a new service group that will focus on improving agency coordination and service responses 
to those affected by family and domestic violence. 

Initiatives for Policy Development 

Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 

The Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008, released in April 
2004, aims to reduce and ultimately prevent the incidence of family and domestic violence in Western 
Australia. It guides the government and community in planning and implementing policies and programs 
aimed at the safety of women and children. 
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Three priority areas underpin the plan: 

• prevention – promote the prevention of family and domestic violence through community education and 
community development activities. 

• protection – ensure the protection of those experiencing family and domestic violence through law, policy 
and practice that prioritises the safety of victims, and holds perpetrators accountable for their abusive 
behaviour. 

• provision – develop an effective, coordinated service response that meets the needs of those affected by 
family and domestic violence. 

The first Annual Action Plan 2004-05 outlined a number of actions to be undertaken to address family and 
domestic violence by a range of government agencies. All agencies reported against these activities in the 
Progress Report released in October 2005.  A second Annual Action Plan 2005-06 was developed.  The 
process for developing further Action Plans is being determined, given the changing context and increase in 
knowledge and activity around the issue. 

Regional Domestic Violence Coordination 

In 2005, the Family and Domestic Violence Unit undertook a review of Regional Family and Domestic 
Violence Committees.  The review assessed the effectiveness of the current model in protecting women and 
children experiencing family and domestic violence.   

The review confirmed regional coordination structures were an important tool to improve service coordination 
and facilitate agency responses to victims of family and domestic violence.  While the current model was 
found to have enhanced agency relationships, the review found little evidence that it had improved service 
coordination or increased safety for women and children.  There were also limited connections between 
committees and across-government coordination structures, such as human services regional managers’ 
forums. 

The review supported a continuation of funding for regional coordination, but identified the need to strengthen 
the focus on the safety of women and children through improved agency coordination and service provision. 
Key recommendations were that core family and domestic violence agencies are the priority target group, and 
improving core agency coordination and service integration is the primary focus of the new model.  The review 
recommended regional boundaries be realigned, with the existing 17 committees becoming 14.  Eight are 
situated in country regions, and six in metropolitan areas. 

Safety and Accountability Audit 
In November 2005, Australia’s first Praxis Domestic Violence Safety and Accountability Audit was carried out 
by the Family and Domestic Violence Unit, in partnership with the Armadale Domestic Violence Intervention 
Project. 

The audit was facilitated by Dr Ellen Pence, an international expert in the area of domestic violence.  Dr 
Pence is the founder of the Praxis Audit, used in over one hundred communities worldwide.  It assesses multi-
agency interventions in domestic abuse cases, and evaluates their capacity to provide safety for victims of 
abuse and to hold offenders accountable for their violence.   

The audit examined the intersections between the criminal justice system, child protection system and the role 
of victim advocates, when intervening in cases of domestic violence with child protection concerns. Findings 
will improve coordinated responses by agencies and the Armadale Domestic Violence Intervention Project. 

Good Practice Guidelines 
In 1997-98, best practice models were developed for the provision of programs for victims and perpetrators of 
domestic violence.  The Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 
identified the need for a review of the models.   

In 2005-06, the Family and Domestic Violence Unit commenced re-writing the guidelines.  This was guided by 
feedback from the domestic violence sector and current trends in domestic violence literature and research.   

Consumer Advisory Group 
The Family and Domestic Violence Unit recognised that the voices of women who have experienced family 
and domestic violence must be included in the policy development process.  A consumer advisory group was 
developed to increase the accountability of policy and service provision to women and children experiencing 
family and domestic violence. Other government departments and agencies will be encouraged to discuss 
initiatives with the group so their experiences and voices can be considered. 
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Early Intervention Initiatives  
To help young people identify abusive and violent relationships, the Family and Domestic Violence Unit and 
the Office for Children and Youth worked in partnership to undertake a project called No more violence we’re 
breaking the silence. It was aimed at young people in three target groups:  

• young people affected by family and domestic violence. 
• young people affected by dating violence. 
• young people who support those affected by family and domestic violence and dating violence. 

The project included a booklet for each target group, postcards, bookmarks, Z cards, and a dedicated 
website, www.youthsayno.wa.gov.au, with a comprehensive list of service providers that assist young people 
experiencing family and domestic violence and/or dating violence.  

During 2005-06, the Family and Domestic Violence Unit continued to work with the Department of Education 
and Training on the Schools Project.  The project explored ways to engage schools and other local community 
support services as partners in the Government’s approach to reducing family and domestic violence in the 
community.  The project allowed staff working in school communities to consider the implications of 
addressing family and domestic violence within the school context.  At the completion of the project in 
November 2005, a showcasing event was held, and each school presented their project to an audience of key 
stakeholders.  The project worked with five selected schools: Girrawheen Senior High School, Amaroo 
Primary School Collie, Merriwa Primary School, Clarkson Primary School and Ranford Primary School.   

Initiatives for Working with Special Interest Groups 
The Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 indicated that issues facing women living 
in rural areas, particularly on stations, farms and in mining towns, required further attention. A combination of 
social, economic and geographical factors means women in these areas face increased vulnerability and 
decreased ability to seek help. To gain a better understanding of family and domestic violence issues in a 
rural context, the Family and Domestic Violence Unit completed a report in 2005.  The Rural Women’s Report 
is available on the unit’s website, www.domesticviolence.wa.gov.au. 

Developing a culturally and linguistically diverse response to family and domestic violence was a priority for 
the unit over the last eighteen months.  A key stakeholder group was established in October 2004 to oversee 
the mapping of current statewide initiatives, and the unit’s continuing work in this area. 

The Same Sex Domestic Abuse Group was developed in 2004-05 through funding provided to the Perth West 
Domestic Violence Action Group.  The Family and Domestic Violence Unit is working with the Same Sex 
Domestic Abuse Group to develop inclusive policies, procedures and training for mainstream service 
providers to ensure they are appropriate and accessible to gay and lesbian people experiencing domestic 
abuse. 

Initiatives with the Department of Health 
The Family and Domestic Violence Unit developed a project about the connections between family and 
domestic violence, mental health, and drug and alcohol issues.  Objectives included better cross-sectoral 
awareness of these linkages, and improved referral practices and service delivery between services dealing 
with these issues.  The project was undertaken in collaboration with the Office of Mental Health, Graylands 
Hospital, the Drug and Alcohol Office, Perth West Domestic Violence Action Group and Holyoake.  A three-
year stipend was established for an Edith Cowan University PhD student to undertake research on this area. 

The unit contributed to the development of a screening project at King Edward Memorial Hospital in 
partnership with the Women’s and Children’s Health Service. The project comprised a model for screening 
and responding to domestic violence in the obstetric and other clinics of the Women and Children’s Health 
Service.  Policy, protocols and training packages were developed to provide a template for other health 
services and government departments to design screening and response frameworks. 

A project was developed to provide general practitioners and their practice staff with training and resources 
on responding to family and domestic violence. The unit committed a further six months’ funding to allow this 
work to continue, and to ensure sustainability issues are addressed.   

Community Education 
The Freedom From Fear campaign was independently reviewed by the University of Western Australia’s 
School of Population Health.  The review reported on the campaign’s achievements, ways to raise awareness 
of domestic violence, and its impact on community attitudes and behaviours.  The final report will be 
considered by the Advisory Group on Family and Domestic Violence Prevention and Early Intervention 
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(currently being established by the unit), and will provide direction for future community awareness and 
education activities. 

Following a breakfast forum in June 2005 on the portrayal of family and domestic violence issues in the 
media, the Media Entertainment and Arts Alliance developed a code of ethics for its members on reporting 
family and domestic violence. The code, with supporting resources and a DVD of the forum, was sent to more 
than 850 journalists in August 2005.  The unit continues to develop further initiatives with the Media 
Entertainment and Arts Alliance. 

Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the Family and Domestic Violence Unit will: 

• undertake early intervention activities, including peer education programs with young people in schools, in 
partnership with the Women’s Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services (Western Australia) to 
prevent the future use of violence in relationships. Other early intervention activities will include projects 
for young and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander men, and men from culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds, to prevent the use of violence in family relationships. 

• develop and support innovative responses, including pilots of new approaches, to working with victims 
and perpetrators of domestic violence through outreach and coordination projects. 

• progress the Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 through 
the implementation of the Action Plan 2006-07. 

• implement new models of community and regional coordination, as outlined in the review of the Regional 
Family and Domestic Violence Committee model. These models will enhance safety and reduce violence 
through the core agencies of police, justice, health, housing, education and community services working 
collaboratively and in a coordinated manner. 

• implement a comprehensive information strategy based on the implementation of the review of the 
Freedom from Fear campaign. 

• maintain and strengthen the capacity of the community to contribute to the development of government 
policy through a consumer advisory group, an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisory group, and a 
culturally and linguistically diverse advisory group on family and domestic violence issues. 

• undertake a research and information agenda including measurement of rates and changes in rates of 
domestic violence in the Western Australian community, and the effect on specific groups. 
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Working with Children Checks 

This section includes: 
• Legislation 
• Operations 
• Community education strategy 
• Future directions 

 
 
It should be read in conjunction with the service-based management measures and performance indicators for service 9. 
 

Legislation 
The Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 was passed by Parliament on  
26 November 2004, and came into effect on 1 January 2006, along with the Working with Children (Criminal 
Record Checking) Regulations 2005.  The Act establishes procedures for checking the criminal records of 
people who carry out, or propose to carry out, child-related work.  It prohibits people who have been charged 
with, or convicted of, certain offences from carrying out child-related work. 

Operations 
The department established the Working with Children Screening Unit in the months leading up to 
implementation of the Act.  The unit carries out Working with Children Checks, and issues assessment notices 
in the form of Working with Children Cards that include a photograph, signature and assessment number.  

The unit employs 23 staff (FTE) to carry out the screening, administrative and legal roles.  In the months prior 
to commencement of the checks, the unit carried out the following: 

• negotiations with national criminal record checking agency CrimTrac, and the Western Australia Police, 
for provision of criminal records information to the unit. 

• negotiations with Australia Post to provide front-end services for receipt of applications at 184 outlets in 
Western Australia and one in Alice Springs. 

• completion of a unique dedicated information system, the Central Screening Unit Management System.  It 
interfaces with CrimTrac, Western Australia Police, Australia Post and the manufacturer of the Working 
With Children Cards, for receipt of criminal records information, applications and processing of 
assessments. 

• Memorandums of Understanding with the Director of Public Prosecutions and Western Australia Police. 
• completion of internal procedures for processing and assessing applications.  

The unit began receiving applications for checks on 3 January 2006 for the following groups, in line with stage 
one of the five-year phasing-in of Working with Children Checks:   

• ministers of religion. 
• volunteers in all categories of child-related work who work with children aged zero to seven years. 
• self-employed persons carrying out child-related work. 
• new paid employees in certain areas of child-related work, including babysitting or child-minding services, 

coaching or private tuition services, and overnight camps. 

Between January and June 2006, the unit received 9,141 applications, and issued 8,227 assessment notices, 
one negative notice and two interim negative notices.       

Community Education Strategy 
A comprehensive community education strategy, approved by the Minister for Community Development, 
commenced in July 2005.  The strategy developed relationships with key stakeholders within the major 
sectors affected by the legislation.  Initiatives to engage the community and promote the checks in line with 
phasing-in arrangements included: 

• three rounds of advertisements in metropolitan and regional radio and print media. 
• 165 presentations around the state. 
• distribution of print materials including a booklet, fact sheets, posters and videos. 
• development of a dedicated website, www.checkwwc.wa.gov.au, launched in November 2005. 
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Future Directions 
In 2006-07, the department will: 

• progress the establishment of approved screening agencies to carry out certain delegated functions under 
the Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004. 

• commence stage two of the phasing-in of Working with Children checks. 

• continue improvement of application processes including options for remote area locations. 

• continue implementation of community education strategies and production of materials to engage the 
public. 
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Performance Indicators 
 

 

 

 

 

Certification of performance indicators 
 

 

 

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for 
assisting users to assess the Department for Community Development’s performance, and fairly represent the 
performance of the Department for Community Development for the financial year ended 30 June 2006. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Jane Brazier 
Accountable Officer 
15 August 2006 
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Outcomes, Services and Performance Information 
Broad, high-level government strategic goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired outcomes.  Agencies deliver services to achieve these desired 
outcomes, which ultimately contribute to meeting the higher level government strategic goals.  The following table illustrates this relationship and how it relates to the 
performance information that follows. 

 

 

Strategic Plan 
Enabling Objective 

Service Delivery Department for 
Community 
Development Strategic 
Plan Objectives 

Department Outcome Government Strategic 
Goal 

1. Community development 

 

Building the capabilities of 
individuals, families, 
communities and the not-
for-profit sector 

1. Communities are strengthened so 
that individuals and families are able 
to better meet their needs, achieve 
self-reliance and contribute to their 
own solutions. 

2. Children’s and young persons’ 
policy 

3. Positive ageing policy 

4. Women’s policy and progress 

5. Volunteering policy and 
coordination  

6. Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander policy coordination 

Leading in the creation 
and implementation of 
policies for the social 
sustainability of Western 
Australian communities. 

2. Policies are developed and 
coordinated within the department 
and across government for children, 
families, communities, seniors, 
women, young people and volunteers 
and Western Australians are engaged 
in the process 

Growing our 
organisation to be 
the best 

7. Care and safety services 

8. Family and domestic violence 
coordination 

9. Working with children criminal 
records screening 

Striving for excellence in 
the standard of care and 
safety responses for 
individuals, families and 
communities 

3. Families and communities are 
supported to provide for the care and 
safety of their members. 

To enhance the quality 
of life and wellbeing of 
all people throughout 
Western Australia 

 Efficiency Measures  Effectiveness Measures  

 

The performance indicators that follow measure how efficiently the department is delivering its services and how effective it is at achieving the desired outcomes. 
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Indicators of Effectiveness 
The department’s effectiveness indicators are drawn from three main sources: surveys of external 
stakeholders with whom the department works on projects to achieve its outcomes; an annual customer 
perception survey; and indicators derived from the department’s administrative databases. 

 

Outcome 1 

Communities are strengthened so that individuals and families are able to better meet their needs, achieve 
self reliance and contribute to their own solutions. 

 

1.1  Percentage of stakeholders in community development projects who report the community  was 
 strengthened as a result of involvement in the projects 

Staff from the department’s local offices and policy offices are involved in a range of community development 
projects. Stakeholders of these projects are surveyed and report if the community was strengthened as a 
result of involvement in the project. 

Table 32: Percentage of stakeholders in community development project who report the community was 
strengthened as a result of involvement in the project  

Stakeholder Survey 

Key Performance Indicator – Community strengthened 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Target Result Result Result Result 

90% 94% 95% 88% 82% 

Note: 
 This survey question was introduced in 2002-03. 
 This question has a five point response scale with two positive and two negative ratings around a neutral midpoint.  The indicator 

calculates the percentage of respondents selecting the two positive ratings.  
 Total survey population 543; stakeholders identified by project owners. 
 Sample selection: quotas were established to ensure coverage of each portfolio area. Stakeholders were randomly selected until 

quotas were reached. 
 Total survey sample size: 365. 
 Total survey results have a 95% confidence interval of ± 2.9%. 

 

 

Indicators 1.2 to 1.5 encompass the following capacity development services delivered to customers: 

• parent skilling services. 
• parenting information services. 
• family and individual support services. 
• youth lifeskills services. 
• other services. 

Where appropriate, the results also incorporate data from customers receiving care and safety services. 

The indicators were obtained via a customer perception survey with the following response statistics: 

• response rate was 29%. 
• number of respondents was 3,327. 
• estimated population size was 178,369. 
• total survey sample size was 11,580. 
• sample selection: customers who received a service in October to December 2005 were invited to 

complete a confidential survey form. 
• survey demographics: Aboriginal respondents 22% of sample, non English speaking background 

respondents 5% of sample, male respondents 24% of sample. 
• total survey results have a 95 percent confidence interval of ± 1.68%. 
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1.2  Percentage of customers who report their needs were met as a result of using services 
Customers were surveyed as to whether their needs were met as a result of receiving these services. 

Table 33: Percentage of customers who report their needs were met as a result of using services  

Customer Perception Survey 
Key Performance Indicator – Needs met 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 
Target Result Result Result Result 
95% 97% 98% 98% 98% 

Note: 
 This survey question was introduced in 2002-03. 
 This question has a five point response scale with two positive and two negative ratings around a neutral midpoint.  The indicator 

calculates the percentage of positive responses.  
 

1.3  Percentage of customers who indicate they are confident to manage well in the future 
An indicator of how effectively the department assisted customers to achieve self-reliance is customers’ level 
of confidence in their ability to manage well in the future. Customers were surveyed and reported if they felt 
confident they will manage well in the future.  

Table 34: Customers who report confidence to manage as a result of community development services  

Customer Perception Survey 
Key Performance Indicator – Reported confidence 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 
Target Result Result Result Result 
95% 93% 92% 93% 94% 

Note: 
 This question has a five point response scale with two positive and two negative ratings around a neutral midpoint.  The indicator 

calculates the percentage of positive responses.  
 

1.4  Percentage of customers who report increased knowledge and skills 
These services aim to assist families and individuals achieve self-reliance by acquiring the knowledge and 
skills to meet their needs. Customers of these services were surveyed and reported if they had increased their 
knowledge and skills as a result of receiving the service. 

Table 35: Customers who report increased knowledge and skills  

Customer Perception Survey 
Key Performance Indicator – Increased knowledge and skills 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 
Target Result Result Result Result 
95% 92% 93% 95% 94% 

Note: 
 This question has a yes/no response.  The indicator calculates the percentage of yes responses.  

 
 

1.5  Percentage of customers who report the service involved them in contributing to the solution 
Customers of these services were surveyed and reported if the service involved them in contributing to the 
solutions developed as part of the service received. 

Table 36: Customers who report the service involved them in contributing to the solution  

Customer Perception Survey 
Key Performance Indicator – Involved them 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 
Target Result Result Result Result 
95% 96% 97% 98% 96% 

Note: 
 This question has a yes/no response.  The indicator calculates the percentage of yes responses.  
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Outcome 2 

Policies are developed and coordinated within the department and across government for children, 
families, communities, seniors, women, young people and volunteers; and Western Australians are 
engaged in the process. 

 

2.1  Percentage of stakeholders who identify policies for these target groups achieved an across-
 government focus 
The department has a number of policy offices, in addition to central office directorates, that have a role in 
developing and coordinating policies across government. The policy offices are: 

• Office for Children and Youth. 
• Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering. 
• Office for Women’s Policy. 
• Family and Domestic Violence Unit. 

For projects to achieve an across-government focus, the relevant government agencies must be involved.  

Stakeholders from the community and other government agencies were surveyed regarding the extent to 
which relevant government agencies were involved in the development of policy by the policy offices and 
central office directorates. 

Table 37: Stakeholders who identify that policy projects were conducted with the involvement of the relevant 
government agencies 

Stakeholder Survey 

Key Performance Indicator – Relevant government agencies were involved 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Target Result Result Result Result 

70% 74% 58% 73% 68% 

Note: 
 This survey question was introduced in 2002-03. 
 This question has a five point ordinal response scale. The indicator calculates a percentage based on the mean score of all 

responses.  This calculation method was introduced in 2005-06 and previous years’ results cannot be recalculated. 
 Total survey population 188; stakeholders identified by project owners. 
 Sample selection: quotas were established to ensure coverage of each portfolio area. Stakeholders were randomly selected until 

quotas were reached. 
 Total survey sample size: 162. 
 Total survey results have a 95% confidence interval of ± 2.9%. 
 The projects surveyed vary from year to year.   
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Outcome 3 

Families and communities are supported to provide for the care and safety of their members. 

 

3.1  Percentage of customers who report they were supported to provide care and safety to their 
 family members 
This indicator encompasses the following services delivered to customers: 
• Intensive family support and treatment. 
• Supported accommodation. 
• Foster and relative carers. 
• Other case managed services. 
• Financial assistance and counselling. 

Customers receiving these services reported if they were supported to provide care and safety to their family 
members. 

Table 38: Percentage of customers who report they were supported to provide care and safety to family members  

Customer Perception Survey 

Key Performance Indicator – Supported to care and provide safety 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Target Result Result Result Result 

95% 92% 93% 92% 93% 

Note: 
 This survey question was introduced in 2002-03. 
 This question has a five point response scale with two positive and two negative ratings around a neutral midpoint.  The indicator 

calculates the percentage of positive responses.  
 Response rate 29%. 
 Number of respondents = 3,327. 
 Estimated population size 178,369. 
 Sample selection: customers who received a service in October to December 2005 were invited to complete a confidential survey 

form. 
 Total survey sample size: 11,580. 
 Total survey results have a 95% confidence interval of 1.68%. 
 Survey demographics: Aboriginal respondents 22% of sample, non English speaking background respondents 5% of sample, male 

respondents 24% of sample. 
 
 
 

3.2  Stakeholder organisations that report communities in which they operate were supported to 
 provide care and safety to their members 
Stakeholder organisations were surveyed and reported if the communities in which they operate were 
supported to provide care and safety to their members. 

Table 39: Percentage of stakeholder organisations which report communities in which they operate were 
supported to provide care and safety to their members  

Stakeholder Survey 

Key Performance Indicator – Communities were supported 

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Target Result Result Result Result 

60% 72% 52% 56% 50% 

Note: 
 This survey question was introduced in 2002-03. 
 This question has a five point ordinal response scale. The indicator calculates a percentage based on the mean score of all 

respondents.  This calculation method was introduced in 2005-06 and previous years’ results cannot be recalculated. 
 Total survey population 52 - stakeholders identified by project owners. 
 Sample selection: quotas were established to ensure coverage of each portfolio area. Stakeholders were randomly selected until 

quotas were reached. 
 Total survey sample size: 48. 
 Total survey results have a 95% confidence interval of ± 3.9%. 
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The primary source of data for Indicators 3.3 to 3.6 is the department’s main case management database, the 
Client and Community Services System.   

The department seeks to support families in caring safely for their children. Indicators of how successfully the 
department is able to do this include: 

• Indicator 3.3: the rate of substantiated allegations of child maltreatment per 1,000 children. 

• Indicator 3.4: the extent to which substantiated abuse reported to the department is not followed by 
further substantiated abuse within the ensuing 12 month period. 

• Indicator 3.5: the extent to which children remain with their families. 

  

 

3.3  Rate of child maltreatment in the population 

Figure 5: Rate of children aged zero to 16 years who were the subject of substantiated allegations of abuse per 
1,000 children in the general population 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note: 
 Source: AIHW Child Protection Australia 2004-05, except WA data for 2005-06.  The WA figure for 2005-06 will be updated next year 

along with the inclusion of other states’/territories’ data. 
 As noted in the AIHW report, much of the variation in rates across jurisdictions is likely to be due to differences in policies and 

approaches to child protection matters, including the criteria for substantiation of child maltreatment. Some jurisdictions substantiate 
on the basis of the child having been harmed through a maltreatment event, whereas other jurisdictions substantiate the event itself, 
even if the child was not harmed. 

 The estimated population of children aged 0 to 16 years used for this calculation was 457,888. 
 Data not available for NSW for 2003-04. 
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3.4  Children with a substantiated report of maltreatment who did not have a further substantiated 
 report of maltreatment within 12 months 

Figure 6: Percentage of children who are not the subject of re-substantiated maltreatment in 12 months  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Note : 
 This measure reports on decisions to substantiate allegations in the previous financial year and whether or not these are followed by 

a further decision to substantiate an allegation within 12 months. Thus the figure for 2005-06 is the proportion of substantiated 
allegations in 2004-05 that were not followed by another substantiated allegation within 12 months. 

 It is not possible at present to identify the actual date of any maltreatment event thus the indicator uses the date the decision was 
made to substantiate the maltreatment. 

 In some cases, the subsequent substantiation is actually a report of earlier abuse/maltreatment. 
 An improved calculation method has been used since the 2004-05 report.  The improved calculation method has been applied 

retrospectively to previous reporting periods and data may vary from previously published results. 
 Results each year are impacted by the proportion of investigations that are still in progress at the time of compiling this report. 

 
3.5  Extent to which children remain with their families 
Wherever possible the department and funded non government services work to support families to provide 
for the care of their family members by preventing children being separated from their families. There are 
some circumstances however where children are placed in out-of-home care for reasons of safety or family 
crisis. The department seeks to minimise the proportion of children in the population who are in out-of-home 
care. 

Figure 7: Rate of children aged zero to 17 years in out-of-home care at 30 June  

 
Note: 
 Source: AIHW Child Protection Australia 2004-05, except WA data for 2005-06.  The WA figure for 2005-06 will be updated next year 

along with the inclusion of other states’/territories’ data. 
 Estimated population of children aged 0 to 17 used for this calculation was 485,786. 
 The WA figure for 2005-06 may change slightly due to revised population estimates and updated data. 
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One of the department’s key responsibilities is to provide safe care for all children in out-of-home care and 
licensed child care services in the community. Measures of the effectiveness of that care include: 

• Indicator 3.6: the rate of substantiated abuse by carers of children while they are in out-of-home care. 

• Indicator 3.7: the rate of substantiated breaches of regulations arising from allegations per child care 
service. 

 

3.6  Rate of substantiated maltreatment of children in care by carers 
The department endeavours to ensure quality care for all children in out-of-home care. One measure of the 
quality of that care is the rate of substantiated abuse by carers of children while they are in out-of-home care. 
This measure also includes cases where the person believed responsible was a worker at a placement 
service where the child was placed. 

Table 40:  Percentage of children abused by carers 

 2005-06 
Target 

2005-06 
Actual

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 

Children abused in 
care by carers 

0 0.25% 0.51% 

(0.84%) 

0.58% 

(0.78%) 

0.32% 

(0.63%) 

0.32% 

(0.71%) 

Note: 
 The 2005-06 figure represents seven children. 
 Data is compiled in mid July each year.  In some instances the outcomes of allegations of abuse by carers are not known until after 

the results for this indicator are finalised, therefore reported figures are liable to change over time. The figures in brackets represent 
the recalculated rates using the most recent annual report database. 

 The increases that occur from the original result are due mainly to an upward revision in the number of children harmed and a 
downward revision in the number of children in care in previous years, as more accurate data becomes available. 

 

 
 

3.7  Number of substantiated breaches of regulations arising from allegations per licensed child care 
 service 
This indicator uses data from the Child Care Licensing System. 

Table 41: Number of regulation breaches arising from allegations made to the Child Care Licensing Unit per 
licensed service 

 2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 2001-02 

Substantiated breaches per 
service 

0.022 0.07 0.062 0.026 0.053 

Note: 
 The Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit introduced a new system in 2005-06 for handling non-regulatory complaints.  It is likely 

that the new system now handles some of the allegations previously recorded as breaches. 
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Indicators of Efficiency 
The department’s efficiency indicators all relate to unit costs of its activities and case work.  The vast majority 
of the department’s work is unable to be distilled into equivalent units of output, so the average costs of 
projects and services should be treated as broadly indicative of performance. 

In 2005-06, the types of projects reported for Services 2, 3 and 4 were reduced by the merging of community 
engagement activities into other categories.  In some cases, this has resulted in significant increases in the 
total cost of projects compared to 2004-05.  Project lists for Services 1 to 6 and 8 are updated twice per year 
for budget estimates and annual reporting. 

 

Service 1:  Community Development 

1.1  Average cost per community development project for children and families 
Local offices of the department participate in a number of community development projects aimed at children 
and families. 

Table 42: Average cost per community development project for children and families  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$6,391,035 

171 

$37,375 

$6,630,462 

171 

$38,775 

$5,916,124 

196 

$30,184 

$4,117,267 

159 

$25,895 

$3,561,149 

193 

$18,452 

Note: 
 These projects vary in size and scope and are managed across 16 district offices.  They are responsive to community need and, 

therefore, overall numbers are subject to significant fluctuation. 
 

1.2  Average cost per capacity development service  
Capacity development services provided through local departmental offices or by funded non government 
organisations include parenting services, youth services and family and individual support services. 

Table 43: Average cost per capacity development service  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of services 

Average cost per project 

$50,235,378 

340 

$147,751 

$50,844,676 

326 

$155,965 

$50,915,758 

355 

$143,425 

$56,012,386 

330 

$169,735 

$52,331,422 

312 

$167,729 

Note: 
 Data for this indicator comes from the Contract Information Management System and other departmental records. 

 
1.3  Average cost per community development project for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people  
Local offices of the department participate in a number of community development projects aimed at 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 

Table 44: Average cost per community development project for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$2,998,359 

65 

$46,129 

$3,353,865 

79 

$42,454 

$3,095,438 

83 

$37,294 

$2,668,639 

70 

$38,123 

$2,471,869 

60 

$41,198 

Note: 
 The total cost was above budget due to the latest labour-time allocation survey showing that staff spent more time on this activity. 
 These projects vary in number from year to year, depending on community needs and district priorities. 
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Service 2:  Children’s and Young Person’s Policy 

2.1  Average cost per policy advice project for children and young people 
The Office for Children and Youth coordinates policy development across government to improve outcomes 
for children and young people. This includes strategic policy advice, research, operational (program) 
guidelines and information dissemination on a range of issues and topics. 

Table 45: Average cost per policy advice project for children and young people  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$933,611 

11 

$84,874 

$895,745 

12 

$74,645 

$890,735 

10 

$89,073 

$712,216 

10 

$71,222 

$344,717 

62 

$5,560 

Note: 
 The decrease in projects from 2002-03 to 2003-04 was due to a change in counting rules to achieve comparability across policy 

offices. 
 

 

2.2  Average cost per community development project for children and young people 
The Office for Children and Youth seeks to empower children and young people and facilitate their 
involvement at all levels in communities. 

Table 46: Average cost per community development project for children and young people  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$6,028,607 

18 

$334,923 

$6,142,856 

17 

$361,344 

$2,325,357 

7 

$332,194 

$2,667,717 

7 

$381,102 

$2,251,915 

5 

$450,383 

Note: 
 The increase in total costs from 2004-05 is due to reassignment of projects from community engagement to community development. 

 
 



 
 
 
 

85

 
 
 

Service 3:  Positive Ageing Policy 

3.1  Average cost per policy advice and information project which facilitates positive ageing 
The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering undertakes policy coordination and provides policy advice to 
promote positive ageing and encourage planning for the ageing population. This includes providing policy 
advice, strategic analysis and information about ageing to the Minister and all sectors of the community. 

Table 47: Average cost per policy advice and information project which facilitates positive ageing  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$1,378,541 

29 

$47,536 

$1,144,748 

29 

$39,474 

$1,073,321 

20 

$53,666 

$1,066,353 

18 

$59,242 

$547,033 

19 

$28,791 

Note: 
 In 2005-06, there was a once-off reprioritisation of funds from policy to community development, hence the reduction in total cost and 

average cost compared to target. 
 The increase in total cost compared to 2004-05 is due to the reassignment of projects from community engagement. 

 

3.2 Average cost per community development project for seniors 
The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering undertakes and administers community development 
projects to enhance positive ageing and to improve community attitudes towards older people. 

These projects include promotional, educational and community initiatives to improve attitudes towards older 
people (eg. Seniors Awards and Seniors Week) and strategies and services to enhance positive ageing (eg. 
Seniors Information Service). 

Table 48: Average total cost per community development project for seniors  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$2,181,040 

20 

$109,052 

$2,358,351 

20 

$117,918 

$2,120,087 

19 

$111,584 

$1,991,830 

19 

$104,833 

$1,529,904 

22 

$69,541 

 

3.3  Average cost of a Seniors Card 
The Seniors Card is used as a major tool by the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering to enhance 
positive ageing. The financial benefits associated with the Seniors Card encourage seniors to actively 
participate in the community.  As at 30 June 2006 there were 234,714 Seniors Card holders throughout the 
state representing 72 percent of all Western Australians aged 60 years and older, and approximately 
79 percent of eligible seniors. 

Table 49: Number and average cost of Seniors Cards managed  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Number of new Seniors Cards issued 

Number of renewals 

Total number of Seniors Cards issued 

Average number of Seniors Cards managed 

Total cost of Seniors Cards managed 

Average cost per Seniors Card 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

226,000 

$430,707 

$1.91 

15,339 

18,122 

33,461 

231,757 

$846,899 

$3.65 

16,780 

31,002 

47,782 

223,510 

$419,980 

$1.88 

16,029 

14,206 

30,235 

217,536 

$432,757 

$1.99 

15,162 

17,280 

32,442 

218,724 

$425,211 

$1.94 

Note: 
 Expenditure was higher in 2005-06 due to costs associated with the Seniors Card Discount Directory, the introduction of the 

Smartrider system and increased staffing for the Seniors Card program. 
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Service 4:  Women’s Policy and Progress 

4.1  Average cost per policy advice and information project for women 
The Office for Women’s Policy provides research, analysis, information and advice to the government on 
issues affecting women. A range of information services is also provided to women in the community. 

Table 50: Average cost per policy advice and information project for women  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$1,475,939 

22 

$67,088 

$1,464,181 

22 

$66,554 

$1,096,712 

16 

$68,545 

$1,085,359 

12 

$90,447 

$825,820 

536 

$1,541 

Note: 
 The decrease in projects from 2002-03 to 2003-04 was due to a change in counting rules to achieve comparability across policy 

offices. 
 The increase in total cost compared to 2004-05 is due to reassignment of projects from community engagement. 

 
 
 

4.2  Average cost per community development initiative for women 
This community development project is coordinated by the Office for Women’s Policy 

Table 51: Average cost per community development initiative for women  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$650,915 

8 

$81,364 

$576,558 

8 

$72,070 

$422,548 

5 

$84,510 

$88,581 

1 

$88,581 

$75,960 

1 

$75,960 

Note: 
 The lower-than-targeted cost in 2005-06 is due to delays in completing projects arising from a change in Minister and Executive 

Director.  These funds are planned to be carried forward into 2006-07. 
 The increase in total cost compared to 2004-05 is due to reassignment of projects from community engagement. 
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Service 5:  Volunteering Policy and Coordination 

5.1  Average cost per policy project which facilitates volunteering 
The Volunteering Secretariat works to: 

• develop and implement government policy for volunteering and provide Ministerial support. 
• monitor issues and coordinate ongoing research and evaluation of volunteering initiatives to inform policy 

and program development. 
• develop program initiatives that support and extend volunteering now and into the future. 
• establish mechanisms of communication within the public sector and the wider community to develop 

partnerships through consultation. 

Table 52: Average cost per policy project which facilitates volunteering  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$1,029,854 

13 

$79,219 

$997,083 

13 

$76,699 

$1,194,157 

13 

$91,858 

$1,075,072 

16 

$67,192 

$1,045,065 

11 

$95,006 
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Service 6:  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Policy Coordination 

6.1  Average cost per policy project for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
The Indigenous Policy Directorate provides policy advice, strategic analysis and information to the department 
on Indigenous issues and undertakes initiatives to improve attitudes towards Indigenous people and promote 
cultural awareness. 

Table 53: Average cost per policy project for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$518,478 

13 

$39,883 

$548,233 

13 

$42,172 

$493,001 

12 

$41,083 

$546,015 

7 

$78,002 

$254,651 

6 

$42,442 
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Service 7:  Care and Safety Services 

7.1  Average cost per care and safety case equivalent services 
Care and safety services include the following: 

• child maltreatment allegations. 
• care and protection applications. 
• intensive family support and treatment cases. 
• supported accommodation cases. 
• financial assistance and counselling cases. 
• disaster responses. 
• child placement weeks. 
• other programs’ / services’ cases. 

Table 54: Average cost per care and safety case equivalent  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of case 
equivalents 

Average cost per case 
equivalent 

$154,384,612 

46,822 

$3,297 

$165,624,334 

47,570 

$3,482 

$156,037,794 

44,545 

$3,503 

$138,751,237 

42,283 

$3,281 

$122,236,996 

41,476 

$2,947 

Note: 
 Care and safety case equivalents encompass a broad range of services, weighted in accordance with benchmarks established in 

2001-02. 
 The total cost of these services is higher in 2005-06 due to an increase in expenditure of unanticipated revenue and carry-over from 

2004-05. 
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Service 8:  Family and Domestic Violence Coordination 

8.1  Average cost per family and domestic violence coordination and community education project 
The Family and Domestic Violence Unit coordinates an across-government response to family and domestic 
violence and delivers a range of policy and community engagement projects. 

Table 55: Average cost per family and domestic violence coordination and community education project  

2005-06  

Target Result 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03 

Total cost 

Number of projects 

Average cost per project 

$2,771,927 

9 

$307,992 

$2,774,320 

9 

$308,258 

$2,543,911 

9 

$282,657 

$2,358,033 

9 

$262,004 

$2,248,662 

9 

$249,851 
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Service 9:  Working with Children Screening Unit 

9.1  Average cost of screening 
The Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 came into effect on 1 January 2006.  The 
requirement for people working with children to apply for a Working with Children Check is being phased in 
over a number of years. 

Table 56: Average cost per Working with Children Check application 

2005-06  

Target Result 

Total cost 

Number of screening applications 

Average cost per application 

$3,958,000 

25,000 

$158 

$3,897,218 

9,141 

$426 
Note: 
 The higher than expected unit cost is due primarily to the lower than estimated applications during the initial phase of implementation. 

It is expected that the unit cost will reduce in 2006-07 as applications increase and the effect of initial start-up costs reduces. 
 Data on the number of screening applications is drawn from the Central Screening Unit Management System. 
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Financial Statements for the Year Ended    
30 June 2006 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Certification of Financial Statements 
 

 

 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department for Community Development have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts and 
records, to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2006 and the financial 
position as at 30 June 2006. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Jane Brazier Mino Intini 
Accountable Officer Chief Finance Officer 
15 August 2006 15 August 2006 
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Department for Community Development 

Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2006 

 

      Note   2006   2005 
          ($'000)   ($'000) 
        
COST OF SERVICES       
        
Expenses        
 Employee benefits expense  5  93,014 86,683 
 Supplies and services  6  20,656 20,262 
 Depreciation and amortisation expense  7  3,803 3,416 
 Operating expenses  8  10,464 8,952 
 Accommodation expenses  9  9,479 9,887 
 Grants and subsidies    34,020 30,758 
 Funding for services    69,938 66,463 
 Capital user charge  10  5,257 4,860 
 Loss on disposal of non-current assets  14    50  141 
 Other expenses  11  1,419 1,459 

Total cost of services    248,100 232,881 
        
Income       
 Revenue       
 User charges and fees  12    322  157 
 Commonwealth grants and contributions  13  18,024 17,635 
 Other revenue  15  3,850 4,134 
Total revenue    22,196 21,926 
        
 Gains       
 Gain on disposal of non-current assets  14    0  0 

Total gains      0  0 
        
Total income other than income from State Government   22,196 21,926 
        
NET COST OF SERVICES     225,904 210,955 
        
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  16     

 Service Appropriation    216,149 199,853 
 Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer    1,091  694 
 Resources received free of charge      585  375 
Total income from State Government    217,825 200,922 
        

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD    (8,079) (10,033)
        
See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.      
        
The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.     
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Department for Community Development 

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2006 

 

   Note  2006  2005 
     ($'000)  ($'000) 
ASSETS       
Current Assets       
 Cash and cash equivalents  17  11,311   14,154 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents  18  1,913   2,160 
 Receivables  19  7,796   7,375 
 Amounts receivable for services  20    0   2,973 

Total Current Assets    21,020   26,662 
        
Non-Current Assets       
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents  18    310     0 
 Amounts receivable for services  20  9,665   4,099 
 Property, plant and equipment  21, 26  38,215   32,019 
 Leasehold improvements  22, 26  4,634   5,324 
 Restricted assets  23, 26  21,743   24,900 
 Work in progress  24, 26  3,651   1,077 
 Intangible assets  25, 26    0     0 
Total Non-Current Assets    78,218   67,419 
        

TOTAL ASSETS    99,238   94,081 
        
LIABILITIES       
Current Liabilities       
 Payables  28  3,091   2,439 
 Accrued salaries  29  1,517     0 
 Provisions  30  16,392   15,795 
 Lease incentive liability  31    0     99 
Total Current Liabilities    21,000   18,333 
        
Non-Current Liabilities       
 Provisions  30  4,570   4,015 
 Lease incentive liability  31    0     58 
Total Non-Current Liabilities    4,570   4,073 
         
Total Liabilities    25,570   22,406 
        
EQUITY  32     
 Contributed equity    22,258   14,298 
 Reserves    49,013   46,901 
 Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)    2,397   10,476 

Total Equity    73,668   71,675 
        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    99,238   94,081 
        
The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.    
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Department for Community Development 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2006 

 

      Note   2006   2005 
          ($'000)   ($'000) 
        
Balance of equity at start of period  46  71,675   67,478 
        
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY  32     
 Balance at start of period    14,298   9,167 
 Capital contribution    7,072   4,984 
 Other contributions by owners      888   1,685 
 Distributions to owners      0   (1,538) 
 Balance at end of period    22,258   14,298 
        
RESERVES       
Asset Revaluation Reserve  32     
 Balance at start of period    46,901   37,802 
 Changes in accounting policy or        
 correction of prior period errors      0     0 
 Restated balance at start of period    46,901   37,802 
 Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation    2,112   9,099 
 Balance at end of period    49,013   46,901 
        
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS) 32     
 Balance at start of period    10,476   20,509 
 Net adjustment on transition to AIFRS  46  0  na 
 Change in accounting policy or        
 correction of prior period errors      0     0 
 Restated balance at start of period    10,476   20,509 
 Surplus/(deficit) for the period    (8,079)  (10,033) 
 Balance at end of period    2,397   10,476 
        
Balance of equity at end of period    73,668   71,675 

        
Total income and expense for the period(a)    (5,967)  ( 934) 
        
(a) The aggregate net amount attributable to each category of equity is: deficit $8,079,000 
      plus gains $2,112,000 (2005: deficit $10,033,000 plus gains $9,099,000). 
        
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes. 
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Department for Community Development 

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2006 

 
      Note   2006   2005 
          ($'000)   ($'000) 
        
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT      
 Service appropriation 16  210,583   196,183 
 Capital contributions 32  7,072   4,984 
 Holding account drawdowns   2,973   3,155 
Net cash provided by State Government   220, 628   204,322 
        
Utilised as follows:      
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES      
 Payments      
  Employee benefits   (90,310)  (88,768) 
  Supplies and services   (18,602)  (17,545) 
  Operating expenses   (12,790)  (11,814) 
  Accommodation   (9,442)  (9,859) 
  Grants and subsidies   (34,047)  (30,631) 
  Funding for services   (69,407)  (66,291) 
  Capital user charge   (5,257)  (4,860) 
  GST payments on purchases   (12,250)  (11,513) 
        
 Receipts      
  User charges and fees     319     156 
  Commonwealth grants and contributions   18,024   17,615 
  GST receipts on sales     223     244 
  GST receipts from taxation authority   12,130   11,364 
  Other receipts   3,777   4,253 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 33(b)  (217,632)  (207,649) 
        
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      
 Purchase of non-current physical assets   (5,776)  (2,411) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (5,776)  (2,411) 
          
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,780)  (5,738) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  16,314   22,052 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 33(a)  13,534   16,314 
        
The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.  
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Department for Community Development 

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service for the year ended 30 June 2006 
 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

 2005
$000 

COSTS OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 23,907     22,735     1,436        1,573       1,642        1,635        1,223        1,185        433          464          
Supplies and services 6,504       7,259       591           585          749           659           317           375           61            110          
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,034       924          5               5              9               7               4               5               1              1             
Operating expenses 2,615       2,570       550           344          506           249           150           118           51            54            
Accommodation expenses 3,096       3,540       172           163          288           264           123           100           39            33            
Grants and subsidies 694          1,222       4,232        3,832       356           352           196           256           406          527          
Funding for services 19,881     18,580     -            1              756           749           -           -            -           -          
Capital user charge 2,673       2,474       21             18            16             14             11             9               2              2             
Loss on disposal on non-current assets 25            108          -            1              -           -            -           -            -           -          
Other expenses 400          386          32             32            28             27             17             25             4              3             

Total cost of services 60,829     59,798     7,039        6,554       4,350        3,956        2,041        2,073        997          1,194       

Income
User charges and fees 32            27            -            -           -           2               -           -            -           -          
Commonwealth grants and contributions 589          581          -            -           -           -            -           -            -           -          
Other revenue 1,766       2,235       107           41            184           96             40             -            -           -          
Gain on disposal of non-current assets -           -           -            -           -           -            -           -            -           -          

Total income other than income from State Government 2,387       2,843       107           41            184           98             40             -            -           -          

NET COST OF SERVICES 58,442     56,955     6,932        6,513       4,166        3,858        2,001        2,073        997          1,194       

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 55,828     53,474     6,932        6,513       4,166        3,858        2,001        2,073        997          1,194       
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 561          357          -            -           -           -            -           -            -           -          
Resources received free of charge 229          166          -            -           -           -            -           -            -           -          

Total income from State Government 56,618     53,997     6,932        6,513       4,166        3,858        2,001        2,073        997          1,194       

Surplus/deficit for the period ( 1,824) ( 2,958) -          -         -          -          -         -          -         -          

Volunteering policy 
and coordination

 Community 
development 

Children's and young 
persons' policy

Positive ageing policy Women's policy and 
progress

 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Department for Community Development 

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service for the year ended 30 June 2006 
 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

2005
$000 

2006
$000

 2005
$000 

COSTS OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 465               402             61,707       57,562     846           897           1,355       230          93,014        86,683       
Supplies and services 23                 22               10,294       10,865     389           265           1,728       122          20,656        20,262       
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2                   2                 2,732         2,471       3               1               13            -          3,803          3,416         
Operating expenses 53                 62               5,813         5,217       324           316           402          22            10,464        8,952         
Accommodation expenses -                -              5,294         5,660       83             79             384          48            9,479          9,887         
Grants and subsidies -                -              27,834       24,296     302           273           -          -          34,020        30,758       
Funding for services -                -              48,497       46,440     804           693           -          -          69,938        66,463       
Capital user charge -                -              2,528         2,337       6               6               -          -          5,257          4,860         
Loss on disposal on non-current assets -                -              25              32            -           -           -          -          50               141            
Other expenses 5                   5                 901            965          17             14             15            2             1,419          1,459         

Total cost of services 548               493             165,625     155,845   2,774        2,544        3,897       424          248,100      232,881     

Income
User charges and fees -                -              101            128          -           -           189          -          322             157            
Commonwealth grants and contributions -                -              17,435       17,054     -           -           -          -          18,024        17,635       
Other revenue 57                 -              1,696         1,752       -           10             -          -          3,850          4,134         
Gain on disposal of non-current assets -                -              -             -           -           -           -          -          -             -             

Total income other than income from State Government 57                 -              19,232       18,934     -           10             189          -          22,196        21,926       

NET COST OF SERVICES 491               493             146,393     136,911   2,774        2,534        3,708       424          225,904      210,955     

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 491               493             139,849     128,546   2,774        2,534        3,111       1,168       216,149      199,853     
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer -                -              530            337          -           -           -          -          1,091          694            
Resources received free of charge -                -              356            209          -           -           -          -          585             375            

Total income from State Government 491               493             140,735     129,092   2,774        2,534        3,111       1,168       217,825      200,922     

Surplus/deficit for the period -              -            ( 5,658) ( 7,819) -         -         ( 597) 744        ( 8,079) ( 10,033)

Family and domestic 
violence coordination

TOTALWorking with 
children criminal 
record checking

Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander policy and 

coordination

Care and safety 
services

 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Department for Community Development 

Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year ended 30 June 2006 

 

 2006
Estimate

$000 

 2006
Actual
$000 

 Variance

$000 

 2006
Actual
$000 

 2005
Actual
$000 

 Variance

$000 

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 85 Net amount appropriated to deliver

services 213,177       215,347   2,170            215,347   199,104   16,243          
Item 86 contribution to Western Australian

Family Foundation Trust Account 560              560          -                560          560          -                

Amount authorised by other statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 233              242          9                   242          189          53                 

Total appropriations provided to deliver
services 213,970       216,149   2,179            216,149   199,853   16,296          

CAPITAL
Item 160 Capital contribution 7,072           7,072       -                7,072       4,984       2,088            

GRAND TOTAL 221,042       223,221   2,179            223,221   204,837   18,384          

Details Of Expenses by Service
Community development 59,625         60,829     1,204            60,829     59,798     1,031            
Children's and young persons' policy 6,962           7,039       77                 7,039       6,554       485               
Positive ageing policy 3,990           4,350       360               4,350       3,956       394               
Women's policy and progress 2,127           2,041       ( 86) 2,041       2,073       ( 32)
Volunteering policy and coordination 1,030           997          ( 33) 997          1,194       ( 197)
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander policy and coordination 518              548          30                 548          493          55                 
Care and safety services 154,385       165,625   11,240          165,625   155,845   9,780            
Family and domestic violence coordination 2,772           2,774       2                   2,774       2,544       230               
Working with children criminal record checking 3,958           3,897       ( 61) 3,897       424          3,473            
Total Cost of Services 235,367       248,100   12,733          248,100   232,881   15,219          
Less total income ( 20,177) ( 22,196) 2,019            ( 22,196) ( 21,926) 270               
Net cost of services 215,190       225,904   10,714          225,904   210,955   14,949          
Adjustments ( 1,220) ( 9,755) ( 8,535) ( 9,755) ( 11,102) 1,347            
Total appropriations provided to deliver 213,970       216,149   2,179            216,149   199,853   16,296          
services

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 10,045         5,776       ( 4,269) 5,776       2,411       3,365            
Adjustments for other funding sources ( 2,973) 1,296       4,269            1,296       2,573       ( 1,277)
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 7,072           7,072       -                7,072       4,984       2,088            
 

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation. 
 
Note 37 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2006 and 
between the actual results for 2005 and 2006. 
 
The 2004-05 actuals have been re-stated due to the adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 

1   Departmental mission and funding 
The Department's purpose is to enhance the social wellbeing of all Western Australians by working together to: 

- strengthen communities so individuals and families are able to meet their needs;  
- promote a just and equitable community enriched by diversity and increased social participation; and 
- support families and communities to provide for the care and safety of their members. 

The Department is mainly funded by Parliamentary appropriations, while also having a net appropriation arrangement. A 
determination by the Treasurer, pursuant to Section 23A of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, provides for the 
retention of moneys received by the Department. 

2   First time adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
This is the Department's first published financial statements prepared under Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  

Accounting Standard AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards' has been 
applied in preparing these financial statements. Until 30 June 2005, the financial statements have been prepared under the previous 
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). 

The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) adopted the Standards of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
for application to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 by issuing AIFRS which comprise a Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, Australian Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) 
Interpretations. 

In accordance with the option provided by AASB 1 paragraph 36A and exercised by Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 1101 ‘Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’, financial instrument information prepared under AASB 132 and 
AASB 139 will apply from 1 July 2005 and consequently comparative information for financial instruments is presented on the 
previous AGAAP basis.  There was no significant impact on the financial result. All other comparative information is prepared under 
the AIFRS basis. 

Early adoption of standards 

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. This TI requires the early adoption of revised 
AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits' as issued in December 2004, AASB 2004-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and 
2005-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 119]’; AASB 2005-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standard [AASB 139, AASB 132, AASB 1, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’ and AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASB 3]’ to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2005.  AASB 2005-4 amends AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’ so that the ability to designate financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value is restricted.  
AASB 2005-6 excludes business combinations involving common control from the scope of AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’.  

Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005 are provided at note 46 'Reconciliations 
explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS)'. 

3   Summary of significant accounting policies 

a   General Statement 
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statement of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements 
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions. Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.    

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

b   Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard (AAS) 29 ‘Financial Reporting by 
Government Departments’ on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of 
land, buildings and leasehold improvements which have been measured at fair value.  

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated.  

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 

c   Contributed Equity 
UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature 
of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to 
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been 
designated as contributions by owners by TI955 ‘Contributions by Owners to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have 
been credited directly to Contributed Equity. Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by 
owners where the transfers are non discretionary and non reciprocal.  See note 32 'Equity'. 
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d   Income 
Revenue 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows: 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
control transfer to the purchaser. 
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion. 
 
Service Appropriations 
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated 
funds. The Department gains control of the appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Department's bank 
account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and Finance. 
See note 16 'Income from State Government' for further detail. 
 
Net Appropriation Determination 
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed revenues to be retained for services under the control of the 
Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2005-06 Budget Statements, the Department retained 
$22.196 million in 2006 ($21.926 million in 2005) from the following: 
- proceeds from fees and charges; 
- Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and 
- other departmental revenue. 
 
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions which is 
usually when cash is received. 
 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions of 
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated. 
 
Gains 
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets and revaluations of non-current assets. 

e   Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements costing over $1,000 are recognised as assets and the cost 
of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold 
improvements costing less than $1,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than where they form 
part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
All items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are initially recognised at cost. 
 
For items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
After recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land, buildings and leasehold 
improvements and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and leasehold improvements are 
carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and leasehold improvements and accumulated impairment 
losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land, buildings and leasehold improvements is determined on the basis of 
current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings and leasehold 
improvements are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 
 
Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land, buildings and leasehold improvements is determined on the basis 
of existing use. This normally applies where buildings and leasehold improvements are specialised or where land use is 
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings and leasehold 
improvements is dependent on using the depreciated replacement cost, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 
 
The revaluation of land and buildings is an independent valuation provided on an annual basis by the Department of Land 
Information (Valuation Services). The revaluation of leasehold improvements is an independent valuation provided on request 
by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services) when an asset's fair value differs materially from its carrying amount 
or every three years. 
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The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to 
assets.  Professional judgment by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market 
type assets and existing use assets. 
 
Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 
 
- Buildings                                                               25 years 
- Office machines, furniture and equipment              5 years 
- Computer equipment                                              4 years 
 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight line basis over the life of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever is 
less. 

f    Intangible Assets 
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing over $1,000 are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) 
over their useful life. Costs incurred below this threshold are immediately expensed directly to the Income Statement. 
 
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) 
on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a 
finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 
 
- Computer software                    3 years 
 
Computer software 
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an 
integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $1,000 is expensed in the year 
of acquisition. 

g   Impairment of Assets 
Property, plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at 
each reporting date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is 
recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset is identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 
 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated or where the 
replacement cost is falling. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 
 
See note 27 'Impairment of assets' for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing. 

h   Leases 
The Department holds operating leases for motor vehicles, head office and a number of branch office buildings. Lease 
payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the 
leased properties. 
 
Where lease incentive benefits have been received, they have been recognised as a liability which will be reduced by the 
amount by which the lease rental payment made during any reporting period is greater than the rental expense for that period 
(note 31 ‘Lease incentive liability’). 
 
The Department's commitment in respect of operating leases is disclosed in note 34 ‘Lease Commitments’. The Department has 
no finance lease commitments at this time. 
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i    Financial Instruments 
The Department has two categories of financial instrument: 
- Receivables (including cash); and 
- Non-trading financial liabilities (payables). 
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the 
face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

j    Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes restricted cash and cash equivalents. These 
are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

k    Accrued Salaries 
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 18 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') consists of amounts paid annually 
into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year 
when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 
 
Accrued salaries (refer note 29 'Accrued Salaries') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, 
as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. Accrued salaries also accounts for the accrued backpay due to 
the increase in salaries payable from March 2006. 

l    Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account) 
The Department receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of 
services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is accessible on 
the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset replacement. 
 
See also note 16 'Income from State Government' and note 20 'Amounts receivable for services'. 

 

m  Receivables 
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).     
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off. 
The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not 
be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  
 
See note 19 'Receivables'. 

n   Payables 
Payables are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.  
 
See note 28 'Payables'. 

o   Provisions 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal, equitable or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of economic benefits is probable and can be measured 
reliably. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet reporting date. See note 30 'Provisions'. 
 

(i)  Provisions – Employee Benefits 
Annual leave and Long Service Leave 
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting date is 
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long 
service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end of the reporting date is measured at the present value 
of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. 
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-
salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long service leave liability also considers 
the experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
 
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 
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Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation schemes. 
 
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new members or the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members. The 
Department has no liabilities for superannuation charges under the Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability has been 
assumed by Treasurer. 
 
Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes become non-contributory members of the West 
State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), an accumulation fund. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on 
behalf of employees in compliance with the Australian Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. 
These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS Scheme. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the Treasurer for the 
employer's share.  
 
See also note 3(p) 'Superannuation Expense'. 
 

(ii)  Provisions – Other 
Employment On-Costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately 
as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as 
part of 'Other expenses' and are not included as part of the Department's 'Employee benefits expense'. The related liability is 
included in 'Employment on-costs provision'.  
 
See note 11 'Other expenses' and note 30 'Provisions'. 

p   Superannuation Expense 
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement: 
 
(a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer's liability (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains and losses) 

assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current 
employees  who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS); and 

 
(b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the West State Superannuation Scheme, and the equivalent of 

employer contributions to the GSS. 
 

Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains 
and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are recognised as expenses in the 
Income Statement. As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer (refer note 3(o)(i)), a revenue titled 'Liabilities assumed by 
the Treasurer' equivalent to the expense is recognised under Income from State Government in the Income Statement.  
 
See note 16 'Income from State Government'. 
 
The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not constitute part of the cost of 
services provided in the current year. 
 
Defined contribution plans - in order to reflect the Department's true cost of services, the Department is funded for the 
equivalent of employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer benefits). These contributions were paid 
to the GESB during the year and placed in a trust account administered by the GESB on behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB 
subsequently paid these employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme to the Consolidated Fund. 
 
The GSS scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, 
apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to the related superannuation 
liability. 

q   Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Cost  
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as revenues and as assets 
or expenses as appropriate, at fair value. 

r   Comparative Figures 
Comparative figures have been restated on the AIFRS basis except for financial instruments information which has been 
prepared under the previous AGAAP Accounting Standard AAS 33 ‘Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments’. The 
transition date to AIFRS for financial instruments is 1 July 2005 in accordance with the exemption allowed under AASB 1, 
paragraph 36A and Treasurer's Instruction 1101.  
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4   Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. As referred to in Note 2, TI 1101 has only 
mandated the early adoption of revised AASB 119, AASB 2004-3, AASB 2005-3, AASB 2005-4 and AASB 2005-6. Consequently, 
the Department has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
These will be applied from their application date: 
 
1. AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to 

Australian Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & 
AASB 1038]'). This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial instruments. The Standard is required to be 
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The standard is considered to result in increased 
disclosures of an entity's risks, enhanced disclosure about components of financial position and performance, and changes to 
the way of presenting financial statements, but otherwise there is no financial impact. 

 
2. AASB 2005-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 & AASB 132]’ (Financial 

guarantee contracts). The amendment deals with the treatment of financial guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, 
letters of credit or credit derivative default contracts as either an “insurance contract” under AASB 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ or as 
a “financial guarantee contract” under AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The Department does 
not undertake these types of transactions resulting in no financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is 
required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 

 
3. UIG Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’. This Interpretation deals with arrangements that 

comprise a transaction or a series of linked transactions that may not involve a legal form of a lease but by their nature are 
deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117 ‘Leases’. At reporting date, the Department has not entered into 
any arrangements as specified in the Interpretation resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The 
Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 

 
The following amendments are not applicable to the Department as they will have no impact: 
  
AASB 
Amendment 

Affected  
Standards 

2005-1 AASB 139 (Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions) 
2005-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1 & AASB 139]’ 
2006-1 AASB 121 (Net investment in foreign operations) 
UIG 5 ‘Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds’. 
UIG 6 ‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment’. 
UIG 7 ‘Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’. 
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

5 Employee benefits expense  

Wages and salaries (a) 71,480 66,318
Superannuation – defined contribution plans (b) 7,906 7,312
Superannuation – defined benefit plans (c) (d) 1,091 694
Long service leave (e) 2,512 2,616
Annual leave (e) 7,188 7,172
Other related expenses 2,837 2,571

 93,014 86,683

(a) Includes the value of fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax 
 component. 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid). 
(c) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer benefit). 
(d) An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see Note 16 'Income from State 
 Government'). 
(e) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 
 
Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 11 
‘Other expenses'. The employment on-costs liability is included at note 30 'Provisions'. 

 

 

6 Supplies and services  

Communications 2,747 3,063
Consultants and contractors 12,440 12,361
Leased equipment 411 413
Motor vehicle costs 4,911 4,271
Facilities 147 154

 20,656 20,262
 

7 Depreciation and amortisation expense  

Depreciation  
Buildings 709 670
Office machines, furniture and equipment 297 302
Computer equipment 461 417
Leasehold improvements 1,296 1,302
Restricted assets – buildings 247 234
Restricted assets – leasehold improvements 793 491
Total depreciation and amortisation 3,803 3,416

 

8 Operating expenses   
Consumables 4,465 3,199
Staffing costs 2,449 2,289
Training 1,386 1,376
Travel 1,545 1,677
Other 619 411

 10,464 8,952
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

9   Accommodation expenses  

Lease rentals 5,667 5,394
Repairs and maintenance – buildings 858 946
Insurance – general 499 554
Minor works 876 1,369
Cleaning, gardening, security, rates and taxes 824 827
Power, water and gas 755 797

 9,479 9,887
 

10 Capital user charge   
Capital user charge 5,257 4,860
 
The State Government applies a levy for the use of its capital for the delivery of services.  
It is applied at 8% per annum on the net assets of the Department, excluding exempt 
assets, and is paid to the Department of Treasury and Finance quarterly. 

 

 

11 Other expenses   
Repairs and maintenance – equipment 216 205
Doubtful debts expense 35 106
Employment on-costs(a) (see note 5 ‘Employee benefits expense’) 1,029 1,033
Audit fees(b) 139 115

 1,419 1,459
(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The on-

costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability 
is included at note 30 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of 
the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-
costs. 

(b) Audit cost, see note 36 ‘Remuneration of auditor’. 

 

 

12 User charges and fees   

Board and allowances – hostels 1 1
Adoption fees 92 115
Family centre revenue 21 15
Criminal records screening 13 19
Sale of products 0 2
Port Kennedy Beach Camp fees 5 5
Working with children screening fees 189 0
Freedom of information 1 0

 322 157
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

13 Commonwealth grants and contributions   
Recurrent   

 Children’s Services Program 356 396
 Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 17,416 17,036
 Unattached Refugee Children 4 6
 Christmas/Cocos Island Service Delivery Programs(a) 223 177
 National Youth Week 25 20

 
18,024 17,635

(a) The Australian Government has a service delivery agreement with the State 
 Government of Western Australia for the provision of services to Christmas Island 
 and Cocos-Keeling Island. 

  

Opening balance 17 101
Funding from the Commonwealth 223 177
 240 278
  
Payment by program  
Administration costs 182 261
Balance carried forward 58 17

 

14 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets   
   

 Proceeds from 
disposal Carrying cost of assets Net gain/(loss) on 

disposal 

 2006
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2006
($’000)

2005
($’000)

2006 
($’000) 

2005
($’000)

 Land  0 0 0 0 0 0
 Buildings 0 0 24 0 (24) 0
 Office machines, furniture and equipment 0 5 10 9 (10) (4)
 Computer equipment  1 317 11 313 (10) 4
 Leasehold improvements 0 0 6 0 (6) 0
 Restricted assets – land 0 0 0 0 0 0
 Restricted assets – buildings 0 0 0 98 0 (98)
 Restricted assets – leasehold improvements 0 0 0 43 0 (43)
 1 322 51 463 (50) (141)

 

2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

15 Other revenues   

Contributions by officers to the Executive Motor Vehicle Scheme 79 78
Rebates and reimbursements 228 439
Bad debt recovery 0 11
Prior period adjustment 0 57
Miscellaneous(a) 3,543 3,549

 3,850 4,134
(a)  Miscellaneous revenue ($3.543m) includes funds for Family Counselling and 

Riskcover rebate.  
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

16 Income from State Government   
Appropriations received during the year:  
Cash received from Government (a) 210,583 196,183
Amount receivable for services (a) 5,566 3,670

 216,149 199,853
The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year:  

Superannuation (b) 1,091 694
 Total Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 1,091 694

  
Resources received free of charge: (c)  
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:  

State Solicitor’s Office – legal services 240 89
Department of Land Information – land information and valuation services 11 1
Department of Housing and Works – leasing services 74 56
Department of Treasury and Finance – integrated procurement services 227 229
Department of Education and Training – cost of secondments and use of facilities 33 0

 585 375
 217,825 200,922
 (a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services  
  delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 
  (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the 
  year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 

 

 (b) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is a notional income  
  to match the notional superannuation expense reported in respect of current  
  employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who  
  have a transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State Superannuation Scheme. 

 

 (c) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the  
  Department recognises revenues (except where the contributions of assets or  
  services are in the nature of contributions by owners in which case the Department  
  shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets  
  and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which  
  would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised 
  as assets or expenses, as applicable. 

 

 

17 Cash and cash equivalents   
Operating bank account at Commonwealth Bank 11,276 14,121
Cash advances 35 33

 11,311 14,154
 

18 Restricted cash and cash equivalents   
Current (a)  

Community Services Trust Account 115 93
Income Tax Deductions 842 851
Wards’ Private Cash Account 16 0
WA Family Foundation 84 323
Bill Paying Service 1 1
Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 855 892
Children’s Services Program 0 0
Unattached Refugee Minor Program 0 0

 1,913 2,160
Non-Current  

Accrued salaries suspense account (b) 310 0

 (a) Cash held in the controlled trust accounts can only be used for specific designated  
  purposes. 

 

 (b) Amount held in suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the  
  27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.   
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19 Receivables   
  
 Current   

 Gross Provision for doubtful 
debts Net 

 2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000) 

2005 
($’000)

 Receivables  
 Foster subsidy 45 61 1 25 44 36
 Salary overpayments 21 19 4 2 17 17
 Burials 0 16 0 12 0 4
 Workers compensation 55 32 0 0 55 32
 Other 428 354 0 0 428 354
 GST recoverable 916 1,019 0 0 916 1,019
 1,465 1,501 5 39 1,460 1,462

 Prepayments  
 Operating costs 1,426 462
 Funding for services 4,910 5,451
 6,336 5,913

Total current 7,796 7,375
  

 See also note 3(m) ‘Receivables’ and note 38 ‘Financial instruments’. 
 

2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

20 Amounts receivable for services   

Current 0 2,973
Non-current 9,665 4,099
 9,665 7,072
Represents non-cash component of service appropriations.  See note 3(l) ‘Amounts 
receivable for services (Holding account)’.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for 
asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 

 

 

21 Property, plant and equipment   

 Cost or valuation Accumulated 
depreciation Written down value 

 2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000) 

2005 
($’000)

At cost:  
Office machines, furniture and equipment 3,475 3,463 2,645 2,586 830 877
Computer equipment  2,035 1,873 1,136 696 899 1,177
 5,510 5,336 3,781 3,282 1,729 2,054
At fair value:  
Land (a) 15,908 13,125 0 0 15,908 13,125
Buildings (a) 20,627 16,840 49 0 20,578 16,840

 36,535 29,965 49 0 36,486 29,965
 42,045 35,301 3,830 3,282 38,215 32,019

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2005 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). The 
valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2006 and recognised at 30 June 2006. In undertaking the 
revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $8,190,200; current use for land: 
$7,151,800; market values for buildings: $5,967,100 and current use for buildings: $12,029,850. For the remaining 
balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost. See note 3(e) 
'Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvements’. 
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22 Leasehold improvements   

 Cost or valuation Accumulated 
depreciation Written down value 

 2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000) 

2005 
($’000)

 At fair value:  

 Leasehold improvements (a) 9,712 9,260 5,078 3,936 4,634 5,324

(a) Leasehold improvements were revalued as at 1 July 2004 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2005 and recognised at 30 June 2005. In undertaking 
the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to current use for leasehold improvements: $3,706,000. For the 
remaining balance, fair value of leasehold improvements was determined by reference to depreciated replacement 
cost. See note 3(e) 'Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvments’. 

 

23 Restricted assets   
These assets are restricted due to limitations being placed on the purpose and functions for which the assets can be used, 
in either lease documents, land vested in the Minister’s name or agreements made with the Commonwealth. 

 Cost or valuation Accumulated 
depreciation Written down value 

 2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000) 

2005 
($’000)

At fair value:  

Land (a) 11,023 13,488 0 0 11,023 13,488
Buildings (a) 6,015 5,971 0 0 6,015 5,971
Leasehold improvements (a) 6,823 6,767 2,118 1,326 4,705 5,441

 23,861 26,226 2,118 1,326 21,743 24,900

(a) Leasehold improvements were revalued as at 1 July 2004 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2005 and recognised at 30 June 2005. In undertaking 
the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to current use for restricted leasehold improvements: 
$5,435,000.  
Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2005 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). The 
valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2006 and recognised at 30 June 2006. In undertaking the 
revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for restricted land: $6,246,800; current use for 
restricted land: $4,773,300; market values for restricted buildings: $2,294,000 and current use for restricted buildings: 
$3,709,600. For the remaining balance, fair value of restricted land, buildings and leasehold improvements was 
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost. See note 3(e) 'Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold 
Improvements’. 

 

2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

24 Work in progress   

Work in progress has been included at cost:  
Family centre upgrades 0 41
Office upgrades 94 234
Hostels 309 716
Office accommodation 417 86
Heritage buildings upgrade 1 0
Child care 80 0
ASSIST system development 2,750 0

 3,651 1,077
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25 Intangible assets   

 Cost or valuation Accumulated 
depreciation Written down value 

 2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000)

2005 
($’000)

2006 
($’000) 

2005 
($’000)

At fair value:  
Computer software 1,441 1,441 1,441 1,441 0 0

 

26 Reconciliation schedule of non-current assets 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, leasehold improvements and restricted assets at the 
beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below. 

 

 Land Buildings 
Office 

machines, 
furniture and 

equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

and software 
Leasehold 

improvements
Restricted 

assets – land 
Restricted 
assets – 
buildings 

Restricted 
assets – 

leasehold 
improvements 

Works in 
progress Total 

2006 ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) 

Carrying amount 
at start of year 13,125 16,840 878 1,177 5,324 13,487 5,970 5,442 1,077 63,320

Additions 153 2,806 260 193 718 0 12 56 5,372 9,570

Disposals 0 (25) (11) (10) (112) 0 0 0 (2,798) (2,956)
Revaluation 
increments 2,630 1,666 0 0 0 0 280 0 0 4,576
Revaluation 
decrements 0 0 0 0 0 (2,464) 0 0 0 (2,464)
Depreciation and 
amortisation 0 (709) (297) (461) (1,296) 0 (247) (793) 0 (3,803)
Carrying amount 
at end of year 15,908 20,578 830 899 4,634 11,023 6,015 4,705 3,651 68,243

 

 Land Buildings 
Office 

machines, 
furniture and 

equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

and software 
Leasehold 

improvements
Restricted 

assets – land 
Restricted 
assets – 
buildings 

Restricted 
assets – 

leasehold 
improvements 

Works in 
progress Total 

2005 ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) 

Carrying amount 
at start of year 13,261 15,167 874 1,377 5,154 10,419 5,333 3,625 11 55,221

Additions 1,111 1,015 317 530 178 0 318 161 1,900 5,530

Disposals (1,067) (477) (11) (313) (267) 0 (102) (43) (834) (3,114)
Revaluation 
increments 0 1,805 0 0 1,561 3,068 655 2,190 0 9,279
Revaluation 
decrements (180) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (180)
Depreciation and 
amortisation 0 (670) (302) (417) (1,302) 0 (234) (491) 0 (3,416)
Carrying amount 
at end of year 13,125 16,840 878 1,177 5,324 13,487 5,970 5,442 1,077 63,320

 

27 Impairment of assets   

There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, leasehold 
improvements and intangible assets at 30 June 2006.  

 

2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

28 Payables   

Payables and accrued expenses  
Liability for goods and services 2,837 2,218
Liability for private trusts 131 93
Liability for employee funded leave entitlements 123 128

 3,091 2,439

 See also note 3(n) ‘Payables’ and note 38 ‘Financial instruments’.  
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 
 

29 Accrued salaries   
Amounts owing for 1 working day from 29 June to 30 June 2006.   
(2005: zero working days).   327 0

Backpay due for the increase in salaries payable from March 2006 1,190 0
 1,517 0

 

30 Provisions   
Current   
Employee benefits provision:  

Annual leave (a) 5,872 5,636
Leave loading 821 749
Long service leave (b) 9,166 8,972
Free passes to the coast and travel days 105 79
Time off in lieu 135 90
Public holidays 151 123

 16,250 15,649
Other provisions:  

Employee on-costs (c) 142 146
 142 146
 16,392 15,795

Non-current   
Employee benefits provision:  

Long service leave (b) 4,505 3,953
  

Other provisions:  
Employee on-costs (c) 65 62

 65 62
 4,570 4,015

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. This 
also includes a provision for the salary increase.  Assessments indicate that actual 
settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

 

Within 12 months of reporting date 1,811 1,711
More than 12 months after reporting date 11,860 11,215

 13,671 12,925
(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 

employment on-costs including workers compensation premiums. The provision is 
the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included 
in note 11 'Other Expenses'. 

 

 

Movements in other provisions   
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below.  

Employee on-cost provision:  
Carrying amount at start of year 208 188
Additional provisions recognised 207 20
Payments / other sacrifices of economic benefits (208) 0
Carrying amount at end of year 207 208

 

31 Lease incentive liability   
Current liabilities 0 99
Non-current liabilities 0 58

 0 157
The lease incentive liability is nil due to the cessation of the lease agreement upon the 
relocation of the Office for Women's Policy to a new premises during the 2005-06 
financial year. 
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 
 

32 Equity   

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The 
Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. The 
asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation 
of non-current assets. 

 

Contributed equity  
Balance at the start of the year 14,298 9,167
  

Contributions by owners  
Capital contribution (a) 7,072 4,984
Transfer of net assets from other agencies: (a)  

Land and buildings transferred from the Department of Health 0 275
Land and buildings transferred from the Department of Land Administration 9 1,410
Land and buildings transferred from the Public Transport Authority 399 0
Land and buildings transferred from the Shire of Donnybrook 25 0
Buildings transferred from the Department of Housing and Works 455 0

Total contribution by owners 7,960 6,669
  
Distributions to owners  
Transfer of net assets to other agencies: (b)  

Land transferred to the Department of Education and Training 0 (89)
Land and buildings transferred to the Aboriginal Lands Trust 0 (1,449)

Total distribution to owners 0 (1,538)
Balance at the end of the year 22,258 14,298

  
(a) Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) 

transfers of net assets from other State Government agencies have been designated 
a contributions by owners in Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 'Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and are credited directly to equity.  

 

(b) UIG Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities' requires that where the transferee accounts for a transfer as a 
contribution by owner, the transferor must account for the transfer as a distribution to 
owners. Consequently, non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfer of net assets to 
other State Government agencies are distribution to owners and are debited directly 
to equity. 

 

  

Reserves  
Asset revaluation reserve  
Balance at the start of the year 46,901 37,802
Net revaluation increments / (decrements)  

Land 2,630 (180)
Buildings 1,666 1,804
Leasehold improvements 0 1,561
Restricted assets – land  (2,464) 3,068
Restricted assets – buildings  280 655
Restricted assets – leasehold improvements 0 2,191

Balance at the end of the year 49,013 46,901
  

Accumulated surplus  
Balance at the start of the year 10,476 20,509
Result for the period (8,079) (10,033)
Balance at the end of the year 2,397 10,476
Total equity 73,668 71,675
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

33 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows   

(a) Reconciliation of cash  
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is 
reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:  

  
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 17) 11,311 14,154
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 18) 2,223 2,160

 13,534 16,314

  
(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) 

operating activities  

Net cost of services  (225,904) (210,955)
Non-cash items  
Depreciation and amortisation 3,803 3,416
Doubtful debt expense 35 106
Prior period adjustment 0 (57)
Superannuation expense 1,091 694
Resources received free of charge 585 375
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 50 141
Other assets transferred from other sources 0 203
(Increase)/decrease in assets  
Current receivables (100) (51)
Current prepayments (423) 20
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities  
Current payables 652 89
Current provisions 596 1,342
Current accrued salaries 1,517 (3,219)
Other current liabilities (99) 0
Non-current provisions 555 82
Other non-current liabilities (58) (99)
Non-current liabilities transferred from other sources (35) 169
Change in GST in receivables/payables 103 95
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (217,632) (207,649)

 

34 Lease commitments   

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised 
in the financial statements are payable as follows:  

Within 1 year 6,594 4,679
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,265 2,982
Later than 5 years 257 7

 13,116 7,668

Representing:  
Cancellable operating leases 1,798 1,043
Non-cancellable operating leases 11,318 6,625

 13,116 7,668
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:  

Within 1 year 4,796 3,636
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,265 2,982
Later than 5 years 257 7

 11,318 6,625
The Department leases its motor vehicle fleet and certain office premises.  The lease 
expenditure is expensed as it is incurred.  Motor vehicle leasing arrangements are under 
the terms of the State Fleet Funding Facility Contract administered by State Fleet – State 
Supply Commission. 
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

35 Remuneration of senior officers   

Remuneration  

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-
monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands 
are : 

 

    
$ 

                                0-10,000 
100,001-110,000 
110,001-120,000 
120,001-130,000 
130,001-140,000 
140,001-150,000 
150,001-160,000 
160,001-170,000 
240,001-250,000 
280,001-290,000 

2006 
1 
0 
1 
5 
2 
1 
2 
0 
0 
1 

2005 
0 
1 
2 
3 
2 
2 
1 
1 
1 
0 

  

  
The total remuneration of senior officers is: 1,749 1,839

  
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department 
in respect of senior officers. Senior officers are defined as those officers who have sat on 
the corporate executive for all or part of the financial year. The list is larger than would 
ordinarily have been the case due to the acting arrangements that needed to be put in 
place whilst appointments were being made to the relevant executive positions. 
 
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

 

 

36 Remuneration of auditor   

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:  
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 139 115

 

37 Explanatory statement   

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as 
presented in the financial statement titled 'Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations 
and Income Estimates' are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be 
those greater than 10% and $1 million. 

 

(i) Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2006 – total 
appropriation to deliver services  

 

A variation in total appropriation of $2.2 million is primarily due to an increase in 
funding for the Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit, Emergency Management 
initiative and additional indexation for non government services. 

 

 

Significant variance in total income is as follows:   

 
2006 

Estimate 
($’000) 

2006 
Actual 
($’000) 

Variance
($’000)

Total income 20,177 22,196 2,019

Total income has increased compared to the estimate due largely to unanticipated 
revenue from other State Government departments.  
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37 Explanatory statement (cont’d)   

   

(ii)  Significant variances between actuals for 2005 and 2006 – total appropriation to 
deliver services  

 

A variation in total appropriation of $16.2 million is due mainly to additional funding 
for Abuse in Care initiatives, Emergency Management, Child Care Licensing and 
Standards Unit and an increase in funding for the Working With Children Screening 
Unit. 

 

 

Significant variance in service expenditure is as follows:   

 
2006 

Actual 
($’000) 

2005 
Actual 
($’000) 

Variance
($’000)

Working with children criminal record checking 3,897 424 3,473

The Working With Children Screening Unit became operational on 1 January 2006 
and hence in 2005 there was only minimal expenditure, which related to the initial 
establishment of the unit. 

  

   

(iii) Significant variances between actuals for 2005 and 2006 - capital contribution   

 
2006 

Actual 
($’000) 

2005 
Actual 
($’000) 

Variance
($’000)

Capital contribution (appropriation) 7,072 4,984 2,088

Capital appropriation increased in 2006 as a result of additional funding for the 
development and implementation of the Department's new statewide computer 
system, ASSIST. 

  

 

38 Financial instruments 

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents and receivables and payables.  The 
Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below. 
 

Credit risk: 
All financial assets are unsecured. Amounts owing by other government agencies are guaranteed and therefore no credit 
risk exists in respect of those amounts.  In respect of other financial assets, the carrying amounts represent the 
Department's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets. In addition, receivable balances are monitored 
on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. 
 

Liquidity risk: 
The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
The Department has limited exposure to interest rate risk, as the majority of cash and cash equivalents are held in non-
interest bearing accounts. 

 

 

Financial instrument disclosures 

Financial instrument information for the year ended 2005 has been prepared under the previous AGAAP Australian 
Accounting Standard AAS 33 'Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments'.  Financial instrument information 
from 1 July 2005 has been prepared under AASB 132 'Financial Instruments: Presentation' and AASB 139 'Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'.  See also note 3(r) 'Comparative figures'. 
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38 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

Interest Rate Risk Exposure 
The following table details the Department's exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date: 

 
 

 
 Fixed Interest Rate Maturity 

30 June 2006 

Weighted 
average 
interest 
rate % 

Within  
1 year 
$’000 

1-2 
years 
$’000 

2-3 
years 
$’000 

3-4 
years 
$’000 

4-5 
years    
$’000 

More than 
5 years 
$’000 

Non- 
interest 
bearing 

$’000 

TOTAL  
$’000 

Financial assets          
Cash and cash 
equivalents        11,311 11,311 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 5.45 16      2,207 2,223 

Receivables        7,796 7,796 
Amounts receivable 
for services        9,665 9,665 

  16    - - 30,979 30,995 

Financial liabilities          
Payables        3,091 3,091 
Accrued salaries        1,517 1,517 
Lease incentive 
liability        0 0 

  -    - - 4,608 4,608 
          

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities)  16    - - 26,371 26,387 

 
 

 Fixed interest rate maturing in 

30 June 2005 

Weighted 
average 
interest 
rate % 

1 year or 
less    

$’000 

1 to 5 
years 
$’000 

Over 5 
years  
$’000 

Non- 
interest 
bearing 

$’000 

TOTAL  
$’000 

Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents     14,154 14,154 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents     2,160 2,160 
Receivables     7,375 7,375 
Amounts receivable for services     7,072 7,072 
  - - - 30,761 30,761 

Financial liabilities       
Payables     2,439 2,439 
Accrued salaries     0 0 
Lease incentive liability     157 157 
  - - - 2,596 2,596 
       

Net financial assets/(liabilities)  - - - 28,165 28,165 
    

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not materially different 
from their net fair values. 

 



   119  

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 

2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

39 Other commitments   

Capital expenditure commitments  
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:  

Within 1 year 1,837 4,302
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,948 2,182
Later than 5 years 0 0

 6,785 6,484
The capital commitments include amounts for:  

Hostel upgrades 1,975 2,112
Community centres 1,149 1,973
Office accommodation and relocation 3,661 2,399

 6,785 6,484
   

Expenditure – consumables 1,117 672
Total 7,902 7,156

 

40 Contingent liabilities   
The Department’s policy is to disclose as a contingency any future obligations which may 
arise due to special circumstances or events.  At the date of this report the Department is 
not aware of any material future obligations, except for the following: 

 

There are currently several legal cases pending of which the outcomes are uncertain and 
the amounts for which cannot be accurately estimated. 0 0

Commonwealth contributions made for child care centres which the Department is 
required to repay if the centres cease to function for the purpose for which they were built 
amount to: 

890 1,165

Financial assistance vouchers issued but not presented at the year end.  As and when 
the recipients redeem these vouchers, the Department will be billed by the relevant 
merchant 

119 137

 1,009 1,302
 

41 Contingent assets   
Contracts for services are held with non government organisations to provide specified 
services for the Department. With the introduction of the service agreement for non 
government service providers in 2003-04, the return of any departmental surplus funds 
held by non government organisations are no longer required. However, due to the 
progressive implementation of the agreement, several contracts still require the return of 
surplus funds to be negotiated with the Department. The amount under negotiation is 
approximately $45,505.  
 
A rebate from Riskcover for adjustments of insurance cover premiums in relation to 
workers compensation and motor vehicle Performance Agreements is estimated at 
$2,271,000. 

  

 

42 Funding non-government bodies   

Community Development 20,706 20,672
Care and Safety Services 20,596 20,326
Crisis Accommodation 27,729 24,468
Strategic initiatives and activities to promote and plan for positive ageing and 
volunteering 974 581

Policy advice, strategic initiatives and coordination to make a positive difference for WA 
women and reduce domestic violence 1,393 1,000

Youth policy development, across-sector coordination and programs to promote the 
development and potential of young people 2,651 3,404

 74,049 70,451
This note reflects the Department’s funding to non-government bodies and is disclosed in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 951.  
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2006 
     ($’000) 

2005
 ($’000)

 

43 Write offs   

During the financial year $57,000 (2005: $494,000) was written off under the authority of:  

The Accountable Officer:  
Salary overpayments 2 3
Subsidy overpayments (foster carers) 28 26
Burial loans 16 454
Petty cash 1 0
Equipment 5 0

 52 483
The Minister:  

Burial loans 0 11
Subsidy overpayments (foster carers) 5 0

Total 57 494

 

44 Trust accounts    

Private Trust Account  

Trust Statement No 3  
Community Services Trust Account  

Balance at the start of the year 93 72
Receipts 533 562
Payments (511) (541)
Balance at the end of the year 115 93

The purpose of the trust account is to hold monies in trust for children under the care of 
the Department and such other monies as are received from any other person or 
organisation for the provision of amenities in Department facilities which house children 
and for such other specific purposes as directed by the donors. 

 

  

Trust Statement No 15  
Bill Paying Service  

Balance at the start of the year 1 2
Receipts 32 54
Payments (32) (55)
Balance at the end of the year 1 1

The purpose of the trust account is to hold funds received by the Department on behalf of 
pensioners and Centrepay recipients in accordance with their authority.  

  

Trust Statement No 27  
Wards’ Private Cash Account  

Balance at the start of the year 0 0
Receipts 16 0
Payments 0 0
Balance at the end of the year 16 0

The purpose of the trust account is to hold private funds on behalf of individual wards 
under the guardianship of the Director General, Department for Community 
Development. 
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45 Trust statements created, amended or closed during the year   

One trust account, Wards’ Private Cash Account, was created during the financial year.  

 

 



   122  

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 

46 Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 

   RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS: 1 JULY 2004 (AASB 1.39(a)(i))     

   Previous GAAP   Total  AIFRS 

   01 July 2004 Adjustments Adjustments 01 July 2004 
        

    AASB 101 AASB 101   

    46.1a 46.2   

 Note       

  ASSETS $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Current Assets      

 (1) Cash and cash equivalents 16,066    16,066 

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 5,986    5,986 

 (2) Receivables 1,926  5,933 5,933 7,859 

 (3) Amounts receivable for services 3,155    3,155 

 (2) Prepaid expenses 5,933  (5,933) (5,933)   0 

  Total Current Assets 33,066   0   0   0 33,066 
        

  Non-Current Assets      

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents   0      0 

 (3) Amounts receivable for services 3,402    3,402 

  Property, plant and equipment 30,679    30,679 

  Leasehold improvements 5,154    5,154 

  Restricted assets 19,377    19,377 

  Work in progress   11      11 

  Intangible assets   0      0 

  Total Non-Current Assets 58,623   0   0   0 58,623 
        

  Total Assets 91,689   0   0   0 91,689 
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RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS: 1 JULY 2004 (AASB 1.39(a)(i)) CONTD     
   Previous GAAP   Total  AIFRS 
   01 July 2004 Adjustments Adjustments 01 July 2004 
        
    AASB 101 AASB 101   
    46.1a 46.2   
 Note       
  LIABILITIES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  Current Liabilities      
  Payables 2,351    2,351 
  Accrued salaries 3,219    3,219 
  Provisions 14,452    14,452 
  Lease incentive liability   99      99 
  Total Current Liabilities 20,121   0   0   0 20,121 
        
  Non-Current Liabilities      
  Provisions 3,933    3,933 
  Lease incentive liability   157      157 
  Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,090   0   0   0 4,090 
        
  Total Liabilities 24,211   0   0   0 24,211 
        
  Net Assets 67,478   0   0   0 67,478 
        
  Equity      
  Contributed equity 9,167    9,167 
  Accumulated surplus 20,509    20,509 
  Asset revaluation reserve 37,802    37,802 
  Total Equity 67,478   0   0   0 67,478 
        
 (1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Cash Assets' (AIFRS 'Cash and Cash Equivalents')   
 (2) ‘Prepaid expenses' classified under 'Receivables', as per AASB 101.75(b)   
 (3) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Amounts receivable for outputs' (AIFRS 'Amounts receivable for services')   
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RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE END OF THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER PREVIOUS AGAAP: 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(a)(ii)) 
   GAAP   Total  AIFRS 
   30 June 2005 Adjustments Adjustments 30 June 2005 
        

    AASB 101 AASB 101   

    46.1b 46.2   

 Note       

  ASSETS $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Current Assets      

 (1) Cash and cash equivalents 14,154    14,154 

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,160    2,160 

 (2) Receivables 1,462  5,913 5,913 7,375 

 (3) Amounts receivable for services 2,973    2,973 

 (2) Prepaid expenses 5,913  (5,913) (5,913)   0 

  Total Current Assets 26,662   0   0   0 26,662 
        

  Non-Current Assets      

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents   0      0 

 (3) Amounts receivable for services 4,099    4,099 

  Property, plant and equipment 32,019    32,019 

  Leasehold improvements 5,324    5,324 

  Restricted assets 24,900    24,900 

  Work in progress 1,077    1,077 

  Intangible assets   0      0 

  Total Non-Current Assets 67,419   0   0   0 67,419 
        

  Total Assets 94,081   0   0   0 94,081 
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RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE END OF THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER PREVIOUS AGAAP: 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(a)(ii)) CONTD 
   GAAP   Total  AIFRS 
   30 June 2005 Adjustments Adjustments 30 June 2005 
        
    AASB 101 AASB 101   
    46.1b 46.2   
 Note       
  LIABILITIES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  Current Liabilities      
  Payables 2,439    2,439 
  Accrued salaries   0      0 
  Provisions 15,795    15,795 
  Lease incentive liability   99      99 
  Total Current Liabilities 18,333   0   0   0 18,333 
        
  Non-Current Liabilities      
  Provisions 4,015    4,015 
  Lease incentive liability   58      58 
  Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,073   0   0   0 4,073 
        
  Total Liabilities 22,406   0   0   0 22,406 
        
  Net Assets 71,675   0   0   0 71,675 
        
  Equity      
  Contributed equity 14,298    14,298 
  Accumulated surplus 10,476    10,476 
  Asset revaluation reserve 46,901    46,901 
  Total Equity 71,675   0   0   0 71,675 
        
 (1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Cash Assets' (AIFRS 'Cash and Cash Equivalents')   
 (2) ‘Prepaid expenses' classified under 'Receivables', as per AASB 101.75(b)   
 (3) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Amounts receivable for outputs' (AIFRS 'Amounts receivable for services')   
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RECONCILIATION OF INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(b)) 
  GAAP    Total  AIFRS 
  30 June 2005 Adjustments Adjustments 30 June 2005 
        

   Net loss  Reclassification, Reclassification,   
   on disposal Employee benefits Audit fees   
   AASB 116 AASB 119    
   46.3 46.4 46.5   
Note        
 COST OF SERVICES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Expenses       
(1) Employee benefits expense 87,716  (1,033)  (1,033) 86,683  
 Supplies and services 17,519   ( 115) ( 115) 17,404  
 Depreciation and amortisation expense 3,416     3,416  
 Operating expenses 12,015     12,015  
 Accommodation expenses 9,887     9,887  
 Grants and subsidies 30,758     30,758  
 Funding for services 66,463     66,463  
 Capital user charge 4,860     4,860  
(2) Loss on disposal of non-current assets   0   141     141   141  
(2) & (3) Other expenses   569 ( 463) 1,033   115   685 1,254  
        
 Total cost of services 233,203 ( 322)   0   0 ( 322) 232,881  
        
 Income       
 Revenue       
 User charges and fees   157       157  
 Commonwealth grants and contributions 17,615     17,615  
(4) Other revenues 4,154     4,154  
         0  
 Gains        0  
(2) Gains on disposal of non-current assets   322 ( 322)   ( 322)   0  
         0  
 Total income other than income from State Government 22,248 ( 322)   0   0 ( 322) 21,926  
        
 NET COST OF SERVICES 210,955   0   0   0   0 210,955  
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RECONCILIATION OF INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(b)) CONTD 

   GAAP    Total  AIFRS 

   30 June 2005 Adjustments Adjustments 30 June 2005 

         

    Net loss  Reclassification, Reclassification,   

    on disposal Employee benefits Audit fees   

    AASB 116 AASB 119    

 Note   46.3 46.4 46.5   

         

  INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Service Appropriation 199,853     199,853  

  Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer   694       694  

  Resources received free of charge   375       375  

  Total income from State Government 200,922   0    0   0   0 200,922  

         

 (5) Surplus/(deficit) for the period (10,033)   0    0   0   0 (10,033) 

         

  See Statement of Changes in Equity       

         

 (1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Employee expenses' (AIFRS 'Employee benefits expense')    

 (2) Disposals are treated on the net basis under AIFRS    

 (3) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Other expenses from ordinary activities' (AIFRS 'Other expenses')    

 (4) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Other revenues from ordinary activities' (AIFRS 'Other revenue')    

 (5) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Change in net assets' (AIFRS 'Surplus/(deficit)')    
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RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.40)     

   GAAP  Total  AIFRS 
   30 June 2005 Adjustments Adjustments 30 June 2005 
 Note      
  CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  Service appropriation 196,183   196  183  
  Capital contributions 4,984   4  984  
  Holding account drawdowns 3,155   3  155  
  Net cash provided by State Government 204,322   0   0 204  322  
   
  Utilised as follows:     
  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
  Payments     
 (1) Employee benefits (88,768)   (88,768) 
  Supplies and services (17,545)   (17,545) 
  Operating expenses (11,814)   (11,814) 
  Accommodation (9,859)   (9,859) 
  Grants and subsidies (30,631)   (30,631) 
  Funding for services (66,291)   (66,291) 
  Capital user charge (4,860)   (4,860) 
  GST payments on purchases (11,513)   (11,513) 

  Receipts     
  User charges and fees   156     156  
  Revenues from Australian Government 17,615   17,615  
  GST receipt on sales   244     244  
  GST received from taxation authority 11,364   11,364  
  Other receipts 4,253   4,253  
  Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (207,649)   0   0 (207,649) 

  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
  Purchase of non-current physical assets (2,411)   (2,411) 
  Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets   0     0  
  Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (2,411)   0   0 (2,411) 

  Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,738)   0   0 (5,738) 
   
  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 22,052   22,052  
   
  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT ASSETS AT END OF PERIOD 16,314   0   0 16,314  
 (1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Employee expenses' (AIFRS 'Employee benefits')
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Notes to the reconciliations 

  

46.1 Intangible assets (AASB 138) 

AASB 138 requires that software that is not integral to the operation of a computer must be disclosed as intangible assets. Intangible assets must be disclosed on the 
balance sheet. All software has previously been classified as property, plant and equipment (office equipment).  
  

46.1a    Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

The Department has transferred $1,473,000 in software from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets.  However, due to the software being fully 
depreciated the net impact to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is nil. 

  

46.1b    Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

The Department has transferred $1,441,000 in software from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets.  However, due to the software being fully 
depreciated the net impact to property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets is nil. 

  

46.2 Prepayments (AASB 101)  

Reclassification of prepayments under 'Receivables', as per AASB 101.75(b).  
  

46.3 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets (AASB 116) 

Under AGAAP the disposal of non-current assets is disclosed on the gross basis. That is, the proceeds of disposal are revenue and the carrying amounts of the assets 
disposed of are expense. The disposal of non-current assets is disclosed on the net basis (gains or losses) under AIFRS. 
 

Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005 

The carrying amount of assets disposed of was previously recognised in 'Other expenses'.  This has been derecognised ($463,000).  
 
The proceeds of disposal of non-current assets was previously recognised as income. This has been derecognised ($322,000).   
 
A loss on the disposal of non-current assets of $141,000 has been recognised as expense. 

  

46.4 Employee benefits (AASB 119) 

Employment on-costs are not included in employee benefits under AGAAP or AIFRS. However, under AGAAP employee benefits and on-costs are disclosed together on the 
face of the Income Statement as Employee costs. Under AIFRS employee benefits will be the equivalent item disclosed on the face. On-costs are transferred to other 
expenses.  

  

46.5 Other expenses 

Reclassification of remuneration of auditor to 'Other expenses', which was previously recognised in 'Supplies and services'. 
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Appendix 1:  Funded Services 2005-06 

Department for Community Development 
55 Central Inc  
Aboriginal Alcohol & Drug Service (Inc) 

⎯ Family Support Service  
⎯ Domestic Violence Supported Accommodation Service (Aboriginal) Metropolitan  

Aboriginal Evangelical Fellowship Family & Youth – Ebenezer Home 
Adoption Jigsaw WA (Inc)  
Adoption Research & Counselling Service Inc 
Agencies for South West Accommodation Inc 

⎯ ASWA's Bunbury Accommodation Service 
⎯ Bunyap Youth Support Service - SAAP 
⎯ Partnership in Housing Program 
⎯ Support and Advocacy Services for People in Private Rental - Busselton 

Albany Youth Support Association Inc – Albany Youth Accommodation Service (Young House) 
Anglicare WA Inc  

⎯ Aboriginal Early Years Support Service - Goldfields 
⎯  Albany Family Violence Service 
⎯  Albany Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Anglicare Bunbury Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Anglicare Busselton Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Anglicare Collie Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Anglicare Family Housing Services 
⎯  Anglicare Financial Counselling Service Mandurah 
⎯  Anglicare Rockingham South Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Anglicare Teenshare 
⎯  Chesterfield House & Rockingham Youth External Accommodation Project  
⎯  Child Sexual Abuse Treatment Service (Perth Metropolitan Area) 
⎯  Children's Domestic Violence Counselling Service 
⎯  Domestic Violence Advocacy Support Service 
⎯  Domestic Violence Counselling Service 
⎯  Domestic Violence Counselling Service - Karratha 
⎯  Kalgoorlie Accommodation Support Service 
⎯  Katanning Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Kinway Family Counselling Service - Wyndham/Kununurra 
⎯  Manjimup Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Mt Barker Financial Counselling Service 
⎯  Parent Adolescent Counselling Service - Rockingham 
⎯  Step 1 Street - Work Program 
⎯  Support Advocacy Services for People in Private Accommodation - Rockingham Area 
⎯  Support Service for Young Parents 
⎯  YES! Housing 

Ardyaloon Inc – Ardyaloon Child Care Centre 
Armadale Community Family Centre Inc  

⎯ Armadale Community Family Centre - Neighbourhood House 
⎯ Armadale Family Centre 

Armadale Information and Referral Service Inc – Armadale Financial Counselling Service 
Association of Civilian Widows of WA (Inc)  
Australian Breastfeeding Association, WA Branch – Information Service 
Australian Red Cross Society (WA Division) 

⎯ Financial Counselling Service Kwinana 
⎯ Red Cross Family Support Service 
⎯ Soup Patrol Service 

Avon Youth Community and Family Services Inc 
⎯ SAAP Service for Young People 
⎯ Services for Young People 

Balga Detached Youth Work Project Inc  
⎯ Mobile Youth Service 
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⎯ Youth and Family Education Support Service 
Bayswater Drill Hall and Family Centre Inc  
Beagle Bay Community Inc  

⎯ Beagle Bay Safety Project Indigenous Communities Family Safety Services  
⎯ Billard Bubbagarri Occasional Care Service 

Bega Garnbirringu Health Service Aboriginal Corp   – Aboriginal Homeless & Fringe Dweller Support Service 
Bidyadanga Aboriginal Community La Grange Inc – Bidyadanga Child Care Centre 
Binningup Playgroup and Occasional Care Inc – Binningup Occasional Care 
Blue Sky Community Group Inc  

⎯ Lockridge Community Centre 
⎯ Lockridge Financial Counselling Service 

Boddington Bear Occasional Child Care Centre Inc 
Boogurlarri Community House Inc  

⎯ Boogurlarri Family Support Service  
⎯ Boogurlarri Financial Counselling Service 

Boyup Brook Child Care Inc 
Bremer Bay Community Resource Centre Inc – Bremer Bay Occasional Childcare 
Bridgetown Family and Community Centre Inc – Bridgetown Terminus Family Support Service 
Brockman House Inc – Brockman Community House 
Broome Community Information Resource Centre and Learning Exchange 

⎯ Broome C.I.R.C.L.E.  Family Support and Development 
⎯ Broome C.I.R.C.L.E.  Financial Counselling Service 

Broome Lotteries House – Broome Lotteries House Occasional Care Centre 
Broome Youth Support Group Association Inc  
Bullsbrook Neighbourhood Centre Inc  
Bunuba Inc – Maru Maru Child Care Centre 
Burdekin – Youth in Action Inc  
Burdiya Aboriginal Corporation – Burdiya Aboriginal Youth Service 
Busselton Family Centre Inc  
Calvary Youth Services Mandurah Inc  
Cameliers Guest House (FUSION)  
Carnamah Child Care Centre Inc – Carnamah Occasional Child Care Centre 
Carnarvon Family Support Service Inc  

⎯ Carnarvon Family Support Service 
⎯ Carnarvon Women's Refuge 

Centacare Family Services  
⎯ Centacare Volunteer Service 
⎯ Exmouth Family Counselling Service 
⎯ Exmouth Financial Counselling Service 

Central Agcare Inc  
⎯ Central Agcare Family Counselling Service 

Centrecare Inc  
⎯ Aboriginal Tertiary Family Preservation Service - Metropolitan 
⎯ Centacare Bunbury Counselling Service 
⎯ Centrecare SAAP Family Accommodation Service 
⎯ Djooraminda 
⎯ Family Link 
⎯ Financial Counselling Service - Kalgoorlie/Boulder 
⎯ Goldfields Family Violence Advocacy and Support Service 
⎯ Goldfields Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Indigenous Family Program - Perth Metropolitan Area 
⎯ Indigenous Family Violence Prevention & Support Service (Laverton) 
⎯ Intensive Youth Support Service 
⎯ Kalgoorlie-Boulder Spouse Abuse Counselling & Education Service 
⎯ Mens Domestic Violence Counselling Service (North Metropolitan Area) 
⎯ Parent Adolescent Conflict Counselling Service 
⎯ Parent Link Home Visiting Service 
⎯ Parent Teen Link Counselling Service 
⎯ South Kalgoorlie Youth Support Service 
⎯ Spouse Abuse Counselling and Education Program (Metropolitan) 
⎯ Support Advocacy Services for People in Private Accommodation - Balga/Mirrabooka 
⎯ Support Advocacy Services for People in Private Accommodation - Middle Swan/Midland 
⎯ Support and Counselling Services for Children in Family Supported Accommodation (Southern and Eastern Suburbs 

including Fremantle, Armadale and Rockingham) 
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Child Migrant Trust – Child Migrants Trust Perth 
Chrysalis Support Service Inc  

⎯ Child Sexual Assault Counselling Service 
⎯ Domestic Violence Advocacy and Support Service 
⎯ Relationships and Family Violence Counselling Service 
⎯ Wonthella House Women's Refuge 

Churchill Brook Family Centre Inc – Swan View 
Citizens Advice Bureau of Western Australia Inc – Advice and Referral Service 
City of Bayswater Child Care Association Inc – City of Bayswater Neighbourhood Centre 
City of Belmont – Services for Young People - City of Belmont Youth & Family Services 
City of Canning  

⎯ Supported Accommodation Services for Young People - City of Canning Youth Accommodation Service 
City of Cockburn  

⎯ Atwell Family Support Service 
⎯ City of Cockburn Financial Counselling Service - Atwell 
⎯ City of Cockburn Financial Counselling Service - Coolbellup 
⎯ Cockburn Early Education Program 
⎯ Cockburn Family Support Service 
⎯ Cockburn Youth Outreach 

City of Fremantle  
⎯ Community Legal and Advocacy Service  
⎯ Fremantle Community Youth Service - Accommodation 
⎯ Fremantle Community Youth Service - Outreach 
⎯ Fremantle Mobile Activities - Buster the Fun Bus 
⎯ Support Service for Young Parents 
⎯ Warrawee Women's Refuge 

City of Joondalup – Joondalup Financial Counselling Service 
City of Melville – Melville Family Support Service 
City of Rockingham – Rockingham Outreach and Counselling Youth Service 
City of Stirling  

⎯ City of Stirling Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Stirling Women's Refuge 
⎯ West Stirling Financial Counselling Service 

City of Wanneroo  
⎯ City of Wanneroo Youth Service - Clarkson 
⎯ Wanneroo Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Yanchep Community Centre 
⎯ Yanchep Youth Service 

CLAN Midland Inc  
⎯ CLAN Midland 
⎯ Midvale Neighbourhood Centre 

CLAN WA (Community Link and Network) Inc  
⎯ CLAN WA Armadale Family Support Service 
⎯ CLAN WA Mandurah Family Support Service 
⎯ CLAN WA Metropolitan and Statewide Coordination Service 
⎯ CLAN WA Mirrabooka Family Support Service 
⎯ CLAN WA Parent Link Home Visiting Service Rockingham 
⎯ CLAN WA Parent Link Home Visiting Service Victoria Park 
⎯ CLAN WA Victoria Park Family Support Service 

Coastal Family Health Services (Inc) – Family Centre Management Services - Warnbro 
Collie Family Centre Inc – Collie Family Support Service 
Collie Welfare Council Committee Inc – Collie Youth Program 
Communicare Inc  

⎯ Communicare Family Support Service 
⎯ Communicare Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Communicare's Breathing Space 
⎯ Mirrabooka Regional Domestic Violence Prevention Committee 
⎯ Youth Counselling Service Building a Balance 

Community Based Services Geraldton – Geraldton Regional Domestic Violence Project 
Community for the Restoration of Family Trust – CROFT 
CREATE Foundation – Create In Western Australian 
Creditcare 93 William Street, Perth 
Creditcare Maylands 
Dardanup Community Centre Inc – Dardanup Occasional Child Care 
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Daughters of Charity Services (WA) LTD  
⎯ Ruah Centre 
⎯ Ruah Refuge 
⎯ Support Advocacy Services for People in Private Accommodation - Armadale/Gosnells 
⎯ Support Advocacy Services for People in Private Accommodation - Bentley/Maddington 

Denham Occasional Care Association Inc – Denham Occasional Care 
Denmark Occasional Day Care Centre Inc – Denmark Occasional Day Care Centre 
Djarindjin Aboriginal Corporation Inc – Djarindjin Child Care Centre 
East Victoria Park Family Centre Inc – East Victoria Park Family and Community Centre 
Eastern Region Domestic Violence Services Network  

⎯ Koolkuna Domestic Violence Advocacy Service 
⎯ Koolkuna Women's Refuge 

Eaton Combined Playgroup Inc – Eaton Family Centre 
Escare Inc  

⎯ Esperance Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Esperance Youth Service 
⎯ Family Support Service - Esperance 

Esperance Crisis Accommodation Service Inc 
Financial Counsellors Resource Project of WA Inc – Financial Counselling Support Service 
Fluffy Ducklings Day Care Inc – Fluffy Ducklings Day Care Occasional Care 
Foothills Information & Referral Service Inc  

⎯ Early Education Care Program 
⎯ Financial Counselling Service 

Forest Lakes Thornlie Family Centre Inc  
Foster Care Association of WA Inc – Information, Advice and Support Service 
Frank Konecny Community Centre Inc  

⎯ Family Support Service 
⎯ Frank Konecny Family Centre Program 

Fremantle Wesley Mission  
⎯ Financial Counselling – Wesassist  
⎯ Wilf Sargent House 
⎯ Wyn Carr House 

Fusion Australia Ltd – Supported Accommodation Services for Young People - Bentley Fusion Student Household Service 
Gawooleng Yawoodeng Aboriginal Corporation  

⎯ Gawooleng Yawoodeng Aboriginal Family Support Service 
⎯ Kununurra Crisis Accommodation Centre 

Geraldton Regional Community Education Centre Association (Inc) 
⎯ Geraldton Family and Youth Support Service 
⎯ Geraldton Family Counselling Service 

Geraldton Resource Centre Inc  
⎯ Geraldton Resource Centre Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Support and Advocacy Services for People in Private Rental Accommodation 

Golden Mile Community House Inc  
⎯ Golden Mile Family Support & Development Unit 
⎯ Goldfields Family Counselling Service 

Goldfields Women's Refuge Association – Finlayson House 
Goomalling Gumnuts Inc – Goomalling Gumnuts Occasional Child Care Service 
Gosnells Community Legal Centre (Inc)  

⎯ Gosnells Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Maddington Financial Counselling Service 

Granny Spiers Community House Inc  
⎯ Granny Spiers Community House 
⎯ Granny Spiers Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Granny Spiers Occasional Care Service 

Great Mates Inc  
⎯ Armadale Youth Crisis Accommodation Service 
⎯ Fremantle Youth Crisis Accommodation Service 

Greenfields Family Centre Inc – Greenfields Family and Community Centre 
Harvey Health & Community Services Group Inc – Harvey Family Support Service 
Harvey Occasional Child Care Centre Inc  
Health Agencies of the Yilgarn Inc – Southern Cross Crisis House 
Hedland Women's Refuge Inc 
Herdsman Neighbourhood Centre Association – Herdsman Neighbourhood Centre 
High Wycombe Out of School Care Centre Inc – High Wycombe Family Centre 
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Hills Community Support Group Inc – Swan View Youth Service 
Hudson Road Family Centre Inc  
Hyden Occasional Child Care Association Inc  
In Town Centre Inc – Shoe String Café  
Incest Survivors Association Inc – Child Sexual Abuse Treatment Service 
Jardamu Women's Group Aboriginal Corporation – Jardamu Safe House 
Jarlmadangah Burru Aboriginal Corporation – Jarlmadangah Burru Child Care Service 
Jerramungup Occasional Childcare Assoc Inc –  Jerramungup Occasional Childcare Service 
Jewish Community Services of WA Inc – Rae Lenny Shalom House 
Jigalong Community Inc – Jigalong Family Safety Program 
Jobs South West Inc  

⎯ Busselton - Margaret River Youth Service 
⎯ Manjimup Youth Outreach Program 
⎯ Youth Outreach Service 

Joondalup Family Centre Inc  
Joondalup Youth Support Services (Inc)  
Jurien Youth Group Inc  
Kalbarri Occasional Child Care Inc 
Kalumburu Aboriginal Corporation – Kalumburu Family Safety Project 
Karingal Neighbourhood Centre Inc  

⎯ Karingal Neighbourhood Centre 
⎯ Paraburdoo Youth Service 

Karratha Family Centre Inc  
Karratha Youth Housing Project Inc  

⎯ Karratha Youth Housing Project Outreach Service 
⎯ Karratha Youth Housing Project Residential 

Katanning Community Childcare Centre Inc  
Katanning Regional Emergency Accommodation Centre  
Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture Centre (Aboriginal Corporation)  – Services for Young People - Fitzroy Valley 
Kimberley Community Legal Services Inc – Financial Counselling Services - Kununurra 
Kingfisher Park Family Centre Inc 
Kojonup Occasional Care Centre Inc  
Kulungah Myah Family Centre Inc  
Kununurra Neighbourhood House Inc – Kununurra Neighbourhood House Family Support Service 
Kununurra Youth Services Inc  

⎯ Services for Young People - East Kimberley 
⎯ Services for Young People Kununurra 

Kurungal Council Inc – Wangkatjunka Best Start Service 
Kuwinywardu Aboriginal Resource Unit – Carnarvon Financial Counselling Service 
Kwinana Early Years Services Inc 
Lake Jasper Project (Aboriginal Corporation) –  Lake Jasper Youth Service 
Learning Centre Link Inc – Association of Community, Neighbourhood and Learning Centres 
Living Stone Foundation Inc – Dads@Lifeline Service 
Local Information Network Karratha Inc  

⎯ Domestic Violence Advocacy and Victim Support Service 
⎯ Parenting Information Project Service 

Lone Parent Family Support Service Birthright WA 
Looma Community Inc  

⎯ Looma Child Care Centre 
⎯ Looma Community Family Safety Project Indigenous Communities Family Safety Services  

Manjimup Family Centre Inc – Manjimup Family Support Service 
Marangaroo Family Centre Inc  
Marnin Bowa Dumbara Aboriginal Corporation  

⎯ Derby Family Healing Centre 
⎯ Family and Domestic Violence Support and Outreach Service 

Marninwarntikura Fitzroy Women's Refuge  
Marnja Jarndu Women's Refuge Inc  

⎯ Marnja Jarndu Mobile Outreach Service 
⎯ Marnja Jarndu Women's Refuge 

Mawarnkarra Health Service Aboriginal Corporation – Munga Tharndu Maya Safe House 
McFarleane House Learning Centre Inc – McFarleane House Learning Centre Occasional Care Service 
Meerilinga Young Children's Services Inc  

⎯ Aboriginal Parent Support Service 
⎯ Family Centre Management Service - Woodvale 
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⎯ Meerilinga Family Centre - Beechboro 
⎯ Meerilinga Parent Link Fremantle 
⎯ Men's Resource Service - Statewide 
⎯ Parent Link Home Visiting Service - Midland/Forrestfield 

Mercy Community Services Inc  
⎯ Family Support and Community Neighbourhood House - Girrawheen/Koondoola 
⎯ Mercy Community Services - Placement Service 
⎯ Mercy Community Services Youth Services 
⎯ Support Service for Young Parents 

Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre Inc  
⎯ Family Support Service 
⎯ Multicultural Family Support and Development Service 

Midland Information, Debt & Legal Advocacy Service Inc – Financial Counselling Service 
Mission Australia   

⎯ Financial Counselling Service for Young People 
⎯ Girrawheen Youth and Family Support Service 
⎯ Perth City Mission - Family Support and Accommodation Service 
⎯ Preparation for Leaving Care and After Care Service - Bunbury 
⎯ Support Service for Young Parents in Youth SAAP 
⎯ Youth Accommodation and Support Service 

Mofflyn Child and Family Care Service – Building Strengths 
Moora Youth Group Inc – Moora Youth Service 
Moorditch Gurlongga Association Inc  

⎯ Aboriginal Early Years Support Service - Armadale Health Service Area 
⎯ Moorditch Koolaak Housing Service 

Mullewa Occasional Care Service Inc – Mullewa Occasional Care Centre 
Multicultural Services Centre of Western Australia  

⎯ Multicultural Services Centre of Western Australia 
⎯ Support and Advocacy Service for Migrants in Private Rental Accommodation 

Mundaring Sharing Inc – Little Possums Sharing Centre 
Mungullah Community Aboriginal Corporation – Practical In Home Support Service  
Nannup Occasional Child Care Association Inc  – Nannup Occasional Child Care Service 
Nardine Wimmin's Refuge – Accommodation for Women Escaping Domestic Violence Service 
Narembeen Numbats Occasional Child Care Assoc Inc – Narembeen Numbats Occasional Child Care Centre 
Narrogin Youth Support Association Inc – Narrogin Financial Counselling Service 
Newman Neighbourhood Centre Inc  
Newman Women's Shelter Inc 
Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Women's Council Aboriginal Corporation  

⎯ Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Women's Council Domestic Violence Service 
Ngala Inc  

⎯ Family Centre Management Service (Noranda) 
⎯ Ngala Early Parenting Centre 
⎯ Ngala Early Parenting Community Service 

Ngaringga Ngurra Aboriginal Corporation  
⎯ Family Support 
⎯ Financial Counselling Service - Halls Creek 
⎯ Ngaringga Ngurra Safe House 

Ngoonjuwah Council Aboriginal Corporation – Halls Creek Occasional Care Service 
Ngunga Group Women's Aboriginal Corporation 

⎯ Derby Financial Counselling Information and Support Service 
⎯ Ngunga Women's Group Family Support and Development 
⎯ Onyon Child Care Centre 

Nintirri Centre Inc  
⎯ Family Violence Advocacy and Support Service 
⎯ Karijini Counselling Service 
⎯ Nintirri Neighbourhood Centre 

Nirrumbuk Aboriginal Corporation – Broome Youth Accommodation Service 
Noah's Ark Toy Library & Resource Centre Inc – Noah's Ark Toy Library Holiday Program 
Northampton Occasional Child Care Association Inc 
Northcliffe Family Centre Inc  

⎯ Northcliffe Family Centre 
⎯ Northcliffe Occasional Child Care Centre 

Northern Districts Community Support Group Inc  – Morawa Family Counselling Service 
Nyoongar Patrol System Inc – Nyoongar Patrol Youth Outreach 
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Onslow Occasional Child Care Association Inc – Onslow Occasional Child Care Centre 
Oombulgurri Association Inc  

⎯ Oombulgurri Best Start Program 
⎯ Oombulgurri Family Safety Project 

Orana House Inc  
⎯ Central Domestic Violence Support and Advocacy Service - Central Metro 
⎯ Domestic Violence Advocacy Support Central Co-ordination 
⎯ Orana House 

Outcare Inc – Outcare Occasional Care Program 
Pandanus Park Aboriginal Corporation – Pandanus Park Child Care 
Pannawonica Occasional Child Care Inc  
Paraburdoo & Tom Price Youth Support Association  – Tom Price Youth Service 
Parents Without Partners (WA) Inc – Parents Without Partners Service 
Parkerville Children and Youth Care Inc 

⎯ Jenny House Program 
⎯ Out of Home Care Children 
⎯ Out of Home Care Youth 
⎯ Parent's and Children's Therapeutic Service 
⎯ Support and Counselling Services For Children In Family Supported Accommodation (Northern Suburbs including 

Perth, Joondalup and Midland) 
Pat Thomas Memorial Community House Inc 

⎯ Pat Thomas House 
⎯ Peel Domestic Violence Advocacy and Support Service 

Patricia Giles Centre Inc  
⎯ Aboriginal Early Years Support Service (North West Metropolitan Area) 
⎯ Domestic Violence Advocacy and Victim Support Service 
⎯ Domestic Violence Counselling Service for Children in SAAP 
⎯ Patricia Giles Centre 

Peel Youth Programme Inc – Peel Youth Programme Services for Young People - Mandurah 
Perth Asian Community Centre Inc  
Perth Inner City Housing Association Inc  
Perth Inner City Youth Service Inc  

⎯ Household Network 
⎯ Supported Accommodation Assistance Program Diverse Sexuality and Gender Identity Project 

Pilbara Community Legal Service Inc  
⎯ Hedland Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Karratha Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Newman Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Roebourne Financial Counselling Service 

Pineview Community Kindergarten Inc – Pineview Occasional Care Program 
Playgroup WA Inc – Field Liaison Service 
Port Hedland Sobering Up Group Inc – Hedland Homeless Support Service 
Rainbow Coast Neighbourhood Centre Inc – Rainbow Coast Family Services 
Relationships Australia (Western Australia) Inc – Family Abuse Treatment Service - Metropolitan Area 
Resource Unit for Children With Special Needs Inc – Rural Playgroup Support Service - Murchison and Pilbara 
Reunification Service – Family Connections 
Roberta Jull Community Care Association Inc  

⎯ Family Support Program 
⎯ Roberta Jull Youth and Family Counselling Service 

Roberta Jull Family Day Care Association Inc – Family Support Program 
Roebourne Youth Centre Inc  
Roleystone Neighbourhood Family Centre Inc  
Roleystone Neighbourhood House Inc  
Rostrata Family Centre Inc  
Safecare Inc  

⎯ Child Sexual Abuse Treatment Service - Adolescents 
⎯ Child Sexual Abuse Treatment Service - Families 
⎯ Safecare Bunbury Program 

Saints Care Limited – The Homestead Kingsley Family Centre 
Salvation Army (WA) Property Trust  

⎯ Balga Family Accommodation Service 
⎯ Balga Family Support Services 
⎯ Balga Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Bridge House 
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⎯ Byanda/Nunyara 
⎯ Crossroads West - Kalgoorlie Boulder Youth Accommodation Service 
⎯ Crossroads West - Landsdale House 
⎯ Crossroads West - Oasis House 
⎯ Geraldton Family Crisis Centre 
⎯ Kalgoorlie Emergency Accommodation and Referral Service 
⎯ Lentara Men's Hostel 
⎯ Moving to Independence - Transitional Support Service 
⎯ Preparation for Leaving Care and After Care Service - Statewide 
⎯ Salvation Army Bunbury Family Crisis Centre 
⎯ Salvation Army Karratha Women's Refuge 
⎯ Salvation Army Morley - Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Salvation Army Morley - Youth Service 
⎯ Salvation Army Morley Family Support Service 
⎯ Salvo Careline 
⎯ Tanderra Men's Hostel 

Sandalwood Family Centre Inc  
Share & Care Community Services Group Inc  

⎯ Domestic Violence Supported Accommodation Service - Narrogin 
⎯ Family and Domestic Violence Counselling Service - Narrogin 
⎯ Northam Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ SAAP Contract Service 
⎯ Waminda House Women's Refuge 

Shire of Denmark – Denmark Youth Support Service 
Shire of Derby/West Kimberley – Services for Young People (Derby) 
Shire of Dundas – Norseman Youth Service 
Shire of Halls Creek – Halls Creek Services for Young People 
Shire of Katanning – Katanning Youth Support Service 
Shire of Laverton  

⎯ Laverton Crisis Intervention Service 
⎯ Laverton Youth Support Service 

Shire of Leonora – Leonora Youth Support Service 
Shire of Manjimup – Warren Blackwood Emergency Accommodation Centre 
Shire of Meekatharra  

⎯ Meekatharra Family & Domestic Violence Service 
⎯ Meekatharra Youth Service 

Shire of Mingenew – Mingenew Occasional Child Care Centre 
Shire of Mt Marshall – Mount Marshall Community and Family Support Service 
Shire of Mullewa  

⎯ Mullewa Youth Service - SAAP 
⎯ Mullewa Youth Service - Youth and Community 

Shire of Mundaring – Parent/Adolescent Conflict Counselling Service 
Shire of West Arthur – Westcare Family Support Service 
Short Term Accommodation for Youth Inc  
Snag Island Coastal Kids and Community Centre Inc 
South Coastal Women's Health Services Association (Inc) 

⎯ Family Abuse Advocacy Support Team  
South Lake Ottey Family and Neighbourhood Centre 

⎯ South Lake Family Centre Program 
⎯ South Lake Family Support Service 

South Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre Inc – Crisis Accommodation for Refugees and Migrants 
South West Counselling Inc – South West Counselling Service 
South West Emergency Care Inc – South West Emergency Care for Children 
South West Refuge Inc  
Southcare Inc  

⎯ Financial Counselling Service - Manning South Care Financial Counselling Service 
⎯ Southcare Aboriginal Family Support Service 

Southern Agcare Inc  
⎯ Central Great Southern Aboriginal Early Years Support Service 
⎯ Mobile Family Counselling Service 

St Bartholomew's House Inc  
St Nicholas Financial Counselling Service  
St Patrick's Community Support Centre  

⎯ Hannick House 
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⎯ South West Metropolitan Housing Project 
⎯ St Patrick's Meals and Day Centre 

Stand By Me Youth Service (WA) Inc  
Starick Services Inc  

⎯ Children's Service 
⎯ Mary Smith Refuge 
⎯ Starick House 
⎯ Support Prevention Education Advocacy Referral Service - SPEARS 

Sudbury Community House Association – Sudbury Community House 
Sussex Street Community Law Service Inc – Sussex Street Financial Counselling Service 
Swan City Youth Service Inc  

⎯ Swan City Street Work Program 
⎯ Swan City Youth Service 

Swan Emergency Accommodation Inc  
⎯ Swan Emergency Accommodation - Families Service 
⎯ Swan Emergency Accommodation - Karnany Service 
⎯ Swan Emergency Accommodation - Youth 

The Boodie Rats (Mukinbudin Occasional Care) Inc – Mukinbudin Occasional Care Service 
The Bunbury Community and Child Care Association (Milligan House) Inc –  Milligan House Family Support Service 
The Gowrie (WA) Inc  

⎯ Leeming Family Centre 
⎯ The Gowrie Family and Community Support Service 
⎯ The Gowrie Financial Counselling Service 

The Lucy Saw Centre Association Inc  
⎯ Kwinana Indigenous Family Violence Support and Outreach Service 
⎯ Lucy Saw Centre 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Perth – Anawim 
The Samaritans Inc – 24 Hour Telephone Crisis Support Service 
Town of Bassendean – Bassendean Youth Service 
Town of Kwinana  

⎯ Kwinana Detached Youth Program - SAAP 
⎯ Kwinana Detached Youth Program - Youth & Community 
⎯ Practical In Home Support Service - Kwinana 

Victoria Park Youth Accommodation (Inc)  
⎯ Support Service for Young Parents 
⎯ Victoria Park Youth Accommodation Service 

Volunteer Centre of Western Australia (Inc)  
⎯ Statewide Volunteer Support Service 
⎯ YVolunteer Program 

WA No Interest Loans Network Inc – No Interest Loan Service (Statewide) 
Waikiki Community and Family Centre Inc  
Wanslea Family Services Inc 

⎯ Lower Great Southern Aboriginal Early Years Support Service 
⎯ Preparation for Leaving Care and After Care Service - Peel and South Rockingham 
⎯ Professional Foster Care Service - Metropolitan Area 
⎯ Wanslea Emergency Foster Care 
⎯ Wanslea Family Enhancement Service 
⎯ Wanslea Tertiary Family Preservation Service 

Waratah Christian Community Inc – Family Centre Management Service - Falcon 
Waratah Support Centre (South West Region) Inc 

⎯ Waratah Children's Domestic Violence Counselling Service 
⎯ Waratah Family Abuse Intervention Service 

Waroona Community Centre Inc – Waroona Family Support and Youth Service 
Wesley Home Link Accommodation Assistance Service (Metropolitan Area)  
Wesley Mission Perth - Tranby Day Centre 
Wesley Residential Services 
West Stirling Neighbourhood House Inc  
Westaus Crisis and Welfare Service Inc  

⎯ Support and Advocacy Services for People in Private Rental Accommodation (Peel Region - Mandurah) 
Westerly Family Centre Inc – Westerly Family Centre 
Western Australian Council of Social Service Inc  

⎯ WACOSS General Service Agreement: Encompassing the Development and Support of the Community Services Sector 
Western Institute of Self Help (WISH) Inc – Support and Self Help Service 
Wheatbelt Aboriginal Corporation  
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⎯ Gwabba Duk Mia Lodge 
⎯ Indigenous Family Violence Prevention and Support Service (Northam) 

Wheatbelt Agcare Community Support Services Inc – Wheatbelt Agcare Family Counselling Service 
Whitford Family Centre Inc 
Wickepin District Resource and Telecentre Inc – Volunteer Resource Centre Grant 
Wirraka Maya Health Service Aboriginal Corporation – Wirraka Maya Family Violence Program 
Women's Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services (WA) Inc 
Women's Health Care Association Inc  

⎯ Multicultural Women's Advocacy Service 
Wongan Cubbyhouse Inc – Wongan Cubbyhouse Occasional Care Program 
Woodlupine Family Centre Inc – Woodlupine Family Centre - Forrestfield 
Wyndham Family Support Inc  

⎯ Financial Counselling Services - Wyndham 
⎯ Wyndham Family Support Service 

Yaandina Family Centre Inc  
⎯ Roebourne Indigenous Child Sexual Abuse Response Service 
⎯ Yaandina Family Support Service 

Yahnging Aboriginal Corporation  
⎯ Aboriginal Family Support and Development Service 
⎯ Indigenous Family Violence Prevention and Support Services (Mirrabooka) 
⎯ Yahnging Family Housing Service 

Yangebup Family Centre Inc  
⎯ Yangebup Family Centre Occasional Care Program 
⎯ Yangebup Family Centre 

Yilgarn Occasional Child Care Centre Inc – Southern Cross Occasional Child Care Centre 
YMCA of Perth Youth and Community Services Inc  

⎯ LYNKS Counselling Service 
⎯ Services for Young People Cannington YMCA Southern Suburbs Mobile Youth Service 
⎯ Streetsyde - Emergency Youth Accommodation 

Yorganop Child Care Aboriginal Corporation  
⎯ Aboriginal Child Care Training Project 
⎯ Yorganop Placement Service 

Yorgum Aboriginal Corporation  
⎯ Child Sexual Abuse Treatment For Aboriginal People 
⎯ Counselling Service for Aboriginal Children Experiencing Family Violence 

Youth Involvement Council Inc  
⎯ Lawson Street Youth Centre 
⎯ Youth Crisis Accommodation 

Youth Legal Service Inc – Financial Counselling Service for Young People (Metropolitan Area) 
Zonta House Refuge Association Inc 
 
INDIGENOUS COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS FUND GRANTS 
Australian Red Cross Society (WA Division) 
Blue Light Association of Western Australia 
Bundiyarra Aboriginal Corporation 
Carnarvon Family Support Service Inc 
Choorilj Aboriginal Corporation 
Chrysalis Support Service Inc 
City of Canning  
City of Fremantle 
Community Builders Inc 
Corridors Inc  
C.Y.O'Connor College of TAFE 
Emama Nguda Aboriginal Corporation 
Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal Corporation 
Gnulla Maaman Moort Boodja Inc 
Great Mates Indigenous Aboriginal Inc 
Holyoake - The Australian Institute for Drug and Alcohol Resolutions 
Jacaranda Community Centre Inc 
Katanning Aboriginal Corporation 
Kimberley Language Resource Centre 
Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation 
Maamba Aboriginal Corporation 
Manjimup Aboriginal Corporation 
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Mawarnkarra Health Service Aboriginal Corporation 
Medina Aboriginal Cultural Group Inc 
Midland Police and Citizens’ Youth Club  
Newman Women's Shelter Inc 
Ngala Inc 
Ngangganawili Aboriginal Medical Service 
Ninga Mia Village Aboriginal Corporation 
Nurra Kurramunoo Aboriginal Corporation 
Outcare Inc 
Palmerston Association Inc 
Shire of Carnarvon 
Shire of Coolgardie, sponsored by Department of Indigenous Affairs 
Shire of Derby/West Kimberley 
Shire of Dundas 
Shire of Kondinin 
Shire of Manjimup 
Shire of Mt Magnet 
Shire of Plantagenet 
South Lake Ottey Family and Neighbourhood Centre 
South West Aboriginal Medical Service 
Southcare Inc 
Swan City Youth Service Inc 
The Gowrie (WA) Inc 
Wickham Youth Group Inc 
Wirraka Maya Health Service Aboriginal Corporation 
Women's Health Care Association Inc 
Yorgum Aboriginal Corporation 
 
EARLY YEARS GRANTS 
'A Smart Start' Central Great Southern Inc 
Balga Primary School Parents and Citizens’ Association 
Balga Senior High School Child Care Centre Inc 
Churches Commission on Education 
City of Bayswater 
City of Bunbury 
City of Canning  
City of Gosnells 
Ethnic Child Care Resource Unit 
Goldfields Men's Health Inc 
Koolangka Mia Mia Aboriginal Corporation 
Ngala Inc 
Playgroup WA Inc 
Resource Unit for Children with Special Needs Inc 
Shire of Ashburton 
Shire of Carnarvon 
Shire of East Pilbara 
Shire of Halls Creek 
The Smith Family 
 
YOUTH DEVELOPMENT HOLIDAY PROGRAM GRANTS 
Agencies for South West Accommodation Inc 
Albany Police and Citizens’ Youth Club 
All Saints Anglican Church Gosnells 
Anglicare WA Inc 
Armadale Noongar Corporation 
Armadale, Gosnells and Districts Youth Resources Inc 
Ashburton Aboriginal Corporation 
Balga Detached Youth Work Project Inc 
Balga-Morley Police and Citizens’ Youth Club 
Ballajura Youth Community Venture Inc 
Bellary Springs Aboriginal Corporation 
Beverley Community Resource and Telecentre 
Bidyadanga Aboriginal Community La Grange Inc 
Care Options Inc 
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Carnarvon Police and Citizens’ Youth Club 
Centrecare Inc 
Christian Youth Camps WA Inc 
Cirque Bizirque Circus School 
City of Belmont 
City of Canning WA 
City of Fremantle 
City of Gosnells 
City of Joondalup 
City of Mandurah 
City of Melville 
City of Wanneroo 
Collie Police and Citizens’ Youth Club 
Collie Riding for Disabled Association 
Eastern Goldfields YMCA (Inc) 
Escape Youth Centre 
Fairbridge Western Australia Inc 
Geraldton Family and Youth Support Service 
Geraldton Police and Citizens’ Youth Club 
Geraldton Regional Community Education Centre Association (Inc) 
Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal Corporation 
Karratha Youth Housing Project Inc 
Katharine Susannah Pritchard Foundation Inc 
Kununurra Youth Services Inc 
Network Family Support 
Northam Local Drug Action Group 
Northcliffe Family Centre Inc 
Oombulgurri Association Inc 
Port Bouvard Surf Sports and Life Saving Club Inc 
Quinninup Community Association Inc 
Rockingham Police and Citizens’ Youth Club 
Salvation Army (WA) Property Trust 
Seabrook Aboriginal Corporation 
Shire of Augusta and Margaret River 
Shire of Boyup Brook 
Shire of Bridgetown/Greenbushes 
Shire of Broome 
Shire of Capel 
Shire of Coolgardie 
Shire of Dardanup 
Shire of Denmark 
Shire of Dundas 
Shire of Goomalling  
Shire of Halls Creek 
Shire of Harvey 
Shire of Kondinin 
Shire of Laverton 
Shire of Meekatharra 
Shire of Mt Magnet 
Shire of Mullewa 
Shire of Murray 
Shire of Northam 
Shire of Plantagenet 
Shire of Roebourne 
Shire of Wiluna 
Shire of Wyalkatchem 
Shire of Wyndham/East Kimberley 
Shire of York 
South Lake Ottey Family and Neighbourhood Centre 
Stand By Me Youth Service (WA) Inc 
Subiaco Police & Citizens’ Youth Club 
Swan City Youth Service Inc 
The Association for the Blind of WA Inc 
Town of Bassendean 
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Town of Kwinana 
Town of Victoria Park 
Wakathuni Aboriginal Corporation 
Walpole Sport and Recreation Centre Inc 
Warnbro Community Church of Christ Inc 
Waroona Community Centre Inc 
Wyndham Youth Services Inc 
Yanchep Two Rocks Recreation Association 
YMCA of Perth Youth and Community Services Inc 
Youth Involvement Council Inc 
 

Office for Children and Youth 
Amanda Young Foundation — Young Leaders Eco-Health Summit Program 
Anglican Youth Ministries — Youth Development Service 
Australia Day Council of Western Australia 

⎯ Rejoice Outback Australia 
⎯ Student Citizens Awards 
⎯ Young Australian of the Year Tour of Honour 

Boystown Ltd — The Western Australian Support Service to Kids Help Line 
Churches Commission on Education — Chaplaincy Services in Government Schools Program 
Duke of Edinburgh’s Award — The Duke of Edinburgh Award Scheme 
Eastern Goldfields YMCA Inc — Aspire Program 
Fairbridge Western Australia Inc 

⎯ Fairbridge Pathways Program 
⎯ Youth Leadership Development Program 

Guides Western Australia 
⎯ Development of Guides in Western Australia 
⎯ Self Development and Leadership Skills Program 

Joint Commonwealth Societies Council of WA 
⎯ Commonwealth Day Youth Rally 
⎯ Speech and Leadership Contest Programs 

Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation — Leeuwin Youth Development Program 
Salvation Army (WA) Property Trust — Youth Development Service 
Scripture Union 

⎯ Drama and Workshop Presentations Program 
⎯ Residential and Non Residential Programs 

The Boy’s Bridge of Western Australia — Youth Development Service 
The Girl’s Brigade—Youth Activities Program 
The Scout Association of Australia WA Branch 

⎯ Development of Scouting in Western Australia 
⎯ Youth Leadership Program 

The Western Australian Federation of Rural Youth — Youth Development Program 
Uniting Church in Australia WA Branch — Uniting Church Ministry Youth Development Program 
YMCA of Perth Inc — Youth Parliament Program 
Young Achievement Australia — Business Enterprise Education Program 
Young Christian Students Movement — Youth Development Service Program 
Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia — Youth Development Service 
Youth Focus Inc — Youth Focus Peer Relationship Development Program 
 

Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
Carers Association of Western Australia  

⎯ Carers Counselling Line (Statewide) 
⎯ Carers Health Awareness and Retreats Programme 

City of Geraldton – Seniors Resource Centre 
Council on the Ageing (WA) Inc – Seniors Initiatives 
Uniting Church in Australia (WA) – Wesley Mission Perth - Senior Partners 
Wanslea Family Services Inc – Grandparents Caring for Grandchildren Support Service 



   143  

GRANT AGREEMENT FUNDING 
Carers Centre 
Council on the Ageing (WA) Inc – Seniors Week Community Grants Program 
Council on the Ageing (WA) Inc – Living Longer Living Stronger Program 
Independent Living Centre – Manual Handling Training Program for Carers 
Playgroup WA Inc – Intergenerational Playgroups Service 
Seniors Recreation Council – Seniors Sport and Recreation Leadership Service 
Seniors Recreation Council – Active Ageing and Seniors Card Support Service 
Young Carers Retreats 
 
GRANTS FOR VOLUNTEER RESOURCE CENTRES 
Busselton Dunsborough Environment Centre Inc – Busselton Dunsborough Volunteer Centre 
City of Albany – Albany Volunteer Centre Inc 
City of Armadale – Armadale Volunteer Resource Service 
City of Cockburn – Cockburn Volunteer Resource Centre 
City of Fremantle – Fremantle Volunteer Centre 
City of Melville – Melville Volunteer Resource Centre 
City of Nedlands – Nedlands Volunteer Referral Centre 
City of Swan – Swan Volunteers 
Kalgoorlie Boulder Volunteer Centre Inc 
Manjimup Volunteer Resource Centre 
Nannup Telecentre Inc – Volunteer Resource Centre Program 
Peel Volunteer Resource Centre – Peel Volunteer Referral Agency Inc 
Shire of Esperance – Esperance Volunteer Resource Centre 
Town of Port Hedland – Hedland Volunteer Resource Centre 
Volunteer South West Inc 
Wickepin District Resource and Telecentre Inc 
 
GRANTS TO SUPPORT VOLUNTEER RESOURCE CENTRES AND NATIONAL VOLUNTEERS WEEK 
Volunteering WA Inc 
 
THANK A VOLUNTEER DAY GRANTS 
Metropolitan 
City of Cockburn 
City of South Perth 
Kwinana Volunteer Resource Centre (Shire of Kwinana) 
Rotary Club of Palm Beach 
The WA Deaf Society 
Town of Claremont 
Volunteering WA 
Country 
Albany Volunteer Resource Centre 
Beacon Primary School 
Busselton Dunsborough Volunteers  
City of Bunbury (Mayors Office) 
City of Geraldton 
Department of Sport and Recreation (Northam) 
Harvey Telecentre Inc 
Kalannie Capers (Kalannie Community Telecentre Inc) 
Kalbarri Development Association Inc 
Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture Centre 
Koorda Telecentre Inc 
Kulin Resource Centre (Shire of Kulin) 
Manjimup Volunteer Resource Centre 
Pemberton Telecentre 
Shire of Augusta Margaret River 
Shire of Boddington 
Shire of Broome 
Shire of Bruce Rock 
Shire of Chapman Valley 
Shire of Christmas Island 
Shire of Collie 
Shire of Coolgardie 
Shire of Coorow 
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Shire of Corrigin 
Shire of Dalwallinu 
Shire of Donnybrook and Balingup 
Shire of Dundas 
Shire of Esperance (Esperance Volunteer Resource Centre) 
Shire of Greenough 
Shire of Irwin 
Shire of Kellerberrin 
Shire of Kent 
Shire of Kondinin 
Shire of Laverton 
Shire of Meekatharra 
Shire of Merredin 
Shire of Menzies 
Shire of Mingenew 
Shire of Morawa 
Shire of Mundaring 
Shire of Murray 
Shire of Narembeen 
Shire of Roebourne 
Shire of Stirling (Volunteer Services) 
Shire of Tambellup 
Shire of Tammin 
Shire of Toodyay 
Shire of Trayning 
Shire of Waroona 
Shire of West Arthur and West Arthur Telecentre 
Shire of Wongan and Ballidu 
Shire of Wyndham and East Kimberley 
Town of Port Hedland 
 

Family and Domestic Violence Unit 
Armadale Domestic Violence Intervention Project Inc  
Avon Valley HELP Centre - Wheatbelt Regional Family and Domestic Violence Committee 
Bunbury Domestic Violence Action Group Inc - South West Regional Domestic Violence Committee 
Centacare Kimberley - Kimberley Regional Domestic Violence Committee 
Central Agcare Inc - Narrogin Regional Domestic Violence Action Group 
City of Fremantle - Fremantle Regional Domestic Violence Coordination Committee 
Communicare Inc  

⎯ Central Metropolitan Regional Domestic Violence Committee 
⎯ Mirrabooka Regional Domestic Violence Prevention Committee 

Eastern Region Domestic Violence Prevention Council Inc  
Geraldton Regional Community Education Centre Association Inc - Geraldton Regional Domestic Violence Project 
Goldfields Women’s Health Care Association Inc - Goldfields Family Violence Prevention Committee 
Great Southern Family Violence Intervention Council Inc  
Pat Thomas Memorial Community House Inc - Peel Regional Family Violence Committee 
Pilbara Regional Domestic Violence Council Inc  
South Coastal Women’s Health Services - Rockingham-Kwinana Regional Domestic Violence Committee 
Women’s Health Care Association - Perth West Domestic Violence Action Group 
Women’s Healthworks Inc - Joondalup and Districts Domestic Violence Group 
 
GRANTS 
Canning Division of General Practice - General Practitioners Project 
Communicare Inc - African Men's Project 
Edith Cowan University - PhD Scholarship Domestic Violence, Mental Health and Substance Abuse Research 
Nulsen Haven Association - Disabilities Training Manual Project 
Patricia Giles Centre - Development of Joondalup Regional Coordination Response Model 
Same Sex Domestic Abuse Group Inc - Same Sex Domestic Abuse Project 
Women's Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services (WA) Inc - Jordan Fogarty Project 
Women's Healthcare House - Multicultural Women's Consortium's work with culturally and linguistically diverse communities 
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CAPACITY BUILDING GRANTS 
Avon Valley Help 
Communicare Inc 
Pat Thomas Memorial Community House 
 
SCHOOLS PROJECT 
Amaroo Primary School 
Clarkson Primary School 
Girrawheen Senior High School  
Merriwa Primary School  
Ranford Primary School  
 

Office for Women’s Policy 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN GRANTS FOR WOMEN PROGRAM  
Airport City Church 
Albany Aboriginal Corporation 
Avon Youth Community & Family Services 
Brockman House Inc 
Broome Aboriginal Media Association 
Broome Circle Inc 
Community Link and Network WA Inc  
East Kimberley Small Business Centre  
Exmouth Mothers Group 
Garnduwa Amboorny Wirnan Aboriginal Corporation 
Gosnells Women's Health Service 
Gynaecological Awareness Information Network (GAIN) Inc 
Hedland Well Women's Centre 
ISHAR Multicultural Centre for Women's Health 
Juluwarlu Group Aboriginal Corporation 
Kalannie Community Telecentre Inc 
Midlands Individual and Family Support Association 
National Italian - Australian Women's Association (WA) Inc 
Pride WA Inc 
Reclaiming Voices WA 
Shire of Bruce Rock on behalf of Wheatbelt Women's Day Organising Committee 
Shire of Carnarvon on behalf of Jilinbri Weavers of Carnarvon 
Shire of Wyalkatchem on behalf of Wheatbelt Organisation for Children's Services 
Swan City Youth Services 
The Partners of Veterans Association of Australia (WA Branch) Inc 
UnitingCare West on behalf of Wyn Carr House Women's Refuge 
Youth Legal Service 
 
INTERNATIONAL WOMEN’S DAY GRANTS 
Broome Circle 
Bullsbrook Neighbourhood Centre Inc   
Business and Professional Women Inc Bunbury 
Collie Family Centre Inc  
Esperance Aboriginal Health Service  
Fremantle Women's Health Centre 
Goldfields Women's Health Care Centre  
Kununurra Neighbourhood House Inc  
Lucy Saw Refuge 
Marnja Jarndu Women's  Refuge Inc 
Meekatharra Family and Domestic Violence Service 
Newman Women's Shelter 
Onslow Strong Women's Group 
Peel Community Development Group 
Pilbara Indigenous Women's Aboriginal Corporation  
Pilbara Regional Domestic Violence Council Inc 
Rotary Club of Byford and Districts Inc 
Soroptimist International Port Hedland  
Wheatbelt Community Drug Service Team   
Yahnging Aboriginal Corporation Girrawheen 
Zonta Club of Bunbury Inc  
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Appendix 2:  Advisory Committees 
Membership of each committee is as at 30 June 2006 unless otherwise stated.   
 
 
 
ADOPTION APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE (established 1994)  
Membership 
Leah Bonson (Chair) Department for Community Development 
Colin Keogh (Deputy Chair) Department for Community Development 
Leena Bakshi Department for Community Development 
Hans-Willem van Hall Department for Community Development 
Margaret van Keppel Clinical psychologist (independent member) 
Deborah Foster-Gaitskell Independent member 
Annette Maloney Independent member 
 
Terms of reference 
• Consider whether or not persons who have applied to the Director General under section 38(1) of the Adoption Act 1994 are 

suitable for adoptive parenthood. 
• Approve or not approve such persons as prospective adoptive parents, generally section 13(1); or recommend to the department 

the age, origins, ethnic background, medical, behavioural or psychological care of a child whom the applicant(s) is/are suitable to 
adopt, section 13(2). 

 
Reports to the Director General, Department for Community Development. 
 
 
 
ADVISORY COUNCIL ON THE PREVENTION OF DEATHS OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE (established 2003) 
Membership 
Prof Fiona Stanley AC (Chair) Telethon Institute for Child Health Research 
Colleen Hayward (Deputy Chair) Telethon Institute for Child Health Research 
Dawn Besserab Indigenous social worker 
Jane Brazier Department for Community Development 
Dr Jane Freemantle Telethon Institute for Child Health Research 
Dr Judy Straton Department of Health 
Dr Glyn Palmer Women and Children’s Health Service, Department of Health 
Dr Jacquie Scurlock Princess Margaret Hospital 
Ian Carter Anglicare WA Inc 
Wendy Hobley Parent representative 
 
Terms of reference 
• Review and analyse data, information and research relating to the causes of deaths of children and young people, identify patterns 

and trends relating to those deaths, and consider pathways to prevention. 
• Identify areas that would benefit from further research and consider linkages of data to better inform pathways to prevention. 
• Evaluate the effectiveness of interventions designed to reduce or prevent deaths of children and young people, and identify 

policies, programs and practices that are successful in reducing or preventing deaths of children and young people. 
• Formulate recommendations to be implemented by government and non government organisations and by the community for the 

prevention or reduction of deaths of children and young people. 
• Undertake other functions relating to the promotion of the health, safety and wellbeing of children as the Minister may direct. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development, as Chair of the Cabinet Standing Committee on Social Policy. 
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CARE FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ADVISORY COMMITTEE (established 2006) 
Membership 
Jack Busch PSM (Chair) Independent member 
Fay Alford Foster Care Association of Western Australia 
Debra Carson Yorganop Childcare Aboriginal Corporation 
Dr Michael Clare University of Western Australia 
Tricia Lee Western Australia Council of Social Service Inc  
Pauline Dixon Children’s, Youth and Families Agencies Association  
Siddahartha Chakrabarti Ethnic Communities Council of Western Australia 
Julie Baker CREATE Foundation 
Nicole Maxwell Youth representative 
Rochana Krann Youth representative 
Lance Allen Youth representative 
Pauline Bagdonavicius  Department for Community Development  
Judy Hogben  Department for Community Development  
 
Terms of reference 
• Provide advice on the direction of policy and practice issues which will improve outcomes for children and young people who are 

either in out-of-home care, leaving care or who may be placed in care. 
• Advise on future directions in out-of-home care in emerging fields of interest identified by the Director General. 
• Undertake projects which contribute to policy and strategic change related to out-of-home care and undertake other activities as 

directed by the Director General. 
 
Reports to the Director General, Department for Community Development. 
 
 
 
CASE REVIEW PANEL (established 2006) 
Membership 
Valma Cearns (Chair) Solicitor (retired) (independent member) 
Carol Webb (Deputy Chair) Solicitor (independent member) 
Dr Christopher Theunissen Clinical psychologist (independent member) 
Helen Fowler Clinical psychologist (independent member) 
Patrick Wyburn Social worker (retired) (independent member) 
Patricia Langdon Western Australia Aids Council Inc 
Jennifer Hannan Anglicare WA Inc 
 
Terms of reference 
• Review case planning decisions in care planning developed by the department for children in the care of the Chief Executive 

Officer. 
 
Reports to Director General, Department for Community Development. 
 
 
 
CHILD DEATH REVIEW COMMITTEE (established 2003) 
Membership 
Dr Denzil McCotter (Chair) Independent member 
Rosemary Cant Independent member 
Michael Doyle Independent member 
Pat Loxton PSM Independent member 
 
Terms of reference 
• Assist the Director-General and the department in the provision of quality services to vulnerable children and their families. 
• Facilitate accountability of the department’s operations through the provision of an additional quality assurance mechanism in 

particular cases where children have died. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
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CHILD CARE ADVISORY COMMITTEE (established 2004) 
www.community.wa.gov.au/Resources/ChildCare/ChildCareAdvisoryCommittee 
Membership 
Tim Muirhead (Chair) Independent member 
Jackie Murray Wheatbelt Organisations for Children’s Services 
Pamela Ellis-Kane  Communicare Inc 
Odette Haley Pilbara TAFE 
Gayle Heron  Liquor, Hospitality and Miscellaneous Workers Union 
Christine I’Anson Ethnic Child Care Resource Agency 
Kathleen Pinkerton  Yorganop Child Care Aboriginal Corporation 
Graeme Winters  Independent member 
Teresa Hutchins  Edith Cowan University 
Cora-Ann Wilson  Department for Community Development 
Sue Ozich  Department for Community Development 
Dr Judy Straton  Department of Health 
Lynn Christie  Department of Education and Training 
 
Terms of reference 
• Monitor local, state, national and international trends and issues impacting on child care and make recommendations in relation to 

licensing and quality assurance to improve outcomes for children. 
• Promote and advocate for the interests of children and parents in government decision-making, policy, planning and practice 

related to child care. 
• Advise on and promote good quality child care services as an integrated early years support and development strategy available to 

all children in Western Australia. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
 
 
 
GWENN MURRAY IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE (established 2006) 
Membership 
Jane Brazier (Chair) Department for Community Development 
Tricia Lee  Children’s, Youth and Families Agencies Association 
Julie Baker CREATE Foundation 
Dawn Wallam Secretariat National Aboriginal and Islander Child Care  
Fay Alford Foster Care Association of Western Australia 
Brian Dodds Community and Public Sector Union/Civil Service Association representative  
Judy Hogben Department for Community Development 
Dr David Vicary  Department for Community Development 
David Harrison Department for Community Development  
Colin Simpson Department for Community Development  
 
Terms of reference 
• Develop and monitor an action plan for implementing the Gwenn Murray Report’s recommendations. 
• Monitor progress and outcomes for children in the Chief Executive Officer’s care, their carers and support workers against an 

agreed set of indicators  
• Seek quality assurance of the action plan and its implementation from Gwenn Murray, the author of the review. 
• Provide regular communication about the committee’s progress to stakeholders in the out-of-home care sector. 
• Provide regular updates and advice to the Minister for Community Development on progress in implementing the action plan. 
• Produce an interim report at six months and a final report when the report’s recommendations have been implemented. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
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MINISTERIAL ADVISORY COUNCIL ON CHILD PROTECTION (established 2003) 
www.childprotectioncouncil.com.au 
Membership 
Judge Hal Jackson (Chair) District Court judge 
Darrell Henry (Deputy Chair) Clinical psychologist 
Sue Ash Community representative 
Det Supt Jeff Byleveld Western Australia Police 
Mary Cowley Department of Indigenous Affairs 
Francis Lynch Mercycare 
Lesley McComish Department of the Attorney General 
Pauline Bagdonavicius Department for Community Development 
Sandra Spadanuda Youth Representative 
Ruth Sims Culturally and linguistically diverse community representative 
Anita Tan Quigley Su Neo Culturally and linguistically diverse community representative 
Kerry Usher Department of Education and Training 
Dr Peter Winterton Princess Margaret Hospital for Children 
 
Terms of reference 
• Provide the State Government, through the Minister for Community Development, with timely and expert advice on protective 

systems for children and young people, and support for the families.  
• Facilitate the coordination and exchange of expertise and information between representatives of government and non government 

agencies on matters relating to child protection. 
• Identify research priorities that will assist in improving child protection outcomes for children and their families.  
• Advise on and facilitate interagency training on matters relating to child protection. 
• Undertake projects and other tasks as requested by the Minister. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
 
 
 
SUPPORTED ACCOMMODATION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM STATE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
www.community.wa.gov.au/Resources/Accommodation/Homeless+(SAAP)/SAAP_State_Advisory_Committee.htm 
Membership 
Hon Kay Hallahan AO (Chair) Independent member 
Rev George Davies Perth Inner City Youth Service 
Lynne Evans  St Bartholomew’s House Inc 
Margaret Findson The Salvation Army (Balga) 
Mark Goerke Anglicare WA Inc 
Matthew Keogh Starick Services Inc 
Janette Kostos Albany Youth Support Association 
Nola Kunnen Curtin University of Technology 
Maggie Lewis Newman Women’s Shelter 
Fauziah Varusay Multicultural Women’s Advocacy Service 
Kay Wilson Marnin Bowa Dumbara Family Healing Service 
Rebecca Yarnold Consumer representative 
Pauline Bagdonavicius Department for Community Development 
 
Ex officio members 
Alison Rova Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs 
Jeff Mould  Department of Housing and Works  
Wynne James Office of Mental Health, Department of Health 
Jenni Perkins Disability Services Commission 
 
Terms of reference 
• Provide advice to the Minister for Community Development on matters pertaining to SAAP. 
• Advise on emerging issues as identified by the Minister. 
• Advise on issues of homelessness as they relate to SAAP. 
• Contribute to program development and policy in SAAP. 
• Contribute to the implementation and evaluation of the fifth SAAP Agreement. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
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CADETS WA REFERENCE GROUP (established 2001) 
Membership 
Fiona Lander (Chair) Office for Children and Youth 
Nicole Badani Fire and Emergency Services Authority 
Mel Brewer Red Cross Cadets  
Rob Caldera Australian Air Force Cadets 
Tony Chinnock Clontarf Aboriginal College 
Robyn Cooper St John Ambulance Cadets  
Senior Constable Tim Ellis Western Australia Police 
Matthew Hunt Office for Children and Youth 
Bronwyn Humphreys Department of Conservation and Land Management 
Geoff Hurren Office for Children and Youth 
Kevin Lange Guildford Grammar School 
Marko Markovich Australian Navy Cadets 
Wendy Moss Surf Life Saving WA 
Ron Watkins Australian Army Cadets 
Robert Somerville AM Department of Education and Training 
 
Terms of reference 
• Foster and promote the objectives of the Cadets WA program. 
• Ensure a high level of coordination and cooperation between the host organisations involved in the program. 
• Provide strategic advice on policy issues relating to the promotion and development of the program. 
• Ensure the needs of participating host agencies are met within the objectives and framework of the program. 
• Encourage the development of cadet training and related activities in the state. 
 
 
 
YOUTH MEDIA GROUP (established 1998) 
Membership 
Ray Della-Polina (Chair) DP Sourcing 
Iain Cameron The Community Newspaper Group 
Kevin Campbell Community representative 
Sir James Cruthers Community representative 
Garry Hawkins The Sunday Times 
Deanne Johnson Office for Children and Youth 
Fiona Lander Office for Children and Youth 
Ian Leggoe Australia Post 
Kylee Payne Channel 10 
Chris Wharton Channel 7 
Alischa Wunsch The West Australian 
 
Term of reference 
• Promote the positive image of young people by encouraging the media to promote a positive image of young people and provide 

balanced reporting of youth issues. 
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CARERS ADVISORY COUNCIL 
www.community.wa.gov.au/Communities/Seniors/Carers+Recognition+Act+2004/Carers_Advisory_Council.htm 
Membership 
Lois Gatley (Chair)  
Ellen Walker 
Caitlin Ambrose 
Tatiana Borisow 
Allan Golledge 
Bruce Langoulant 
Patrica Bushby 
Clare Masolin 
Diedre Timms 
  
Terms of reference 
• Report annually to the Minister for Seniors and Volunteering on: 

o the performance by reporting organisations of their obligations under the Carers Recognition Act 2004. 
o compliance or non compliance by reporting organisations with the Act. 
o compliance or non compliance by reporting organisations with the Carers Charter. 

• Work to advance the interests of carers and promote compliance by applicable organisations with the Carers Charter. 
• Make recommendations to the Minister on fostering compliance by applicable organisations with the Carers Charter. 
• Secure the views of carers on issues relating to their caring role and provide ongoing advice to the Minister on matters relating to 

carers. 
• Provide information and support to the applicable organisations to assist them to comply with the Carers Charter. 
• Ensure that all carers groups are represented, including younger carers, indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse carers 

and carers from rural and remote areas. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Seniors and Volunteering. 
 
 
 
INDIGENOUS WOMEN’S CONGRESS (established 2003) 
www.community.wa.gov.au/Publications/FactSheetsAndGuides/WA_Indigenous_Womens_Congress.htm 
Membership 
Helen McNeair (Chair) Gascoyne/Murchison member 
Diane Gray Gascoyne/Murchison deputy 
Sambo Vashti Goldfields deputy 
Nancy Gordon Goldfields member 
Shirley Hansen Great Southern member 
June Oscar Kimberley member 
Oriel Green  Perth member 
Doris Eaton Pilbara member 
Shirley Haywood South West Region member 
Kerry stack Wheatbelt member 
Ulli Corbett National Indigenous Women’s Advisory Group representative 
Pat Kopusar Member 
Helen Creed Ex officio member 
 
Terms of reference 
• Act as a forum to provide comprehensive and representative advice to the Minister for Women’s Interests on issues of interest and 

importance to Indigenous women. 
• Ensure the State Government is properly informed of the views of Indigenous women in Western Australia on a wide range of 

issues.   
• Provide reports and recommendations to the Minister for Women’s Interests on matters of particular concern to women. 
• Establish and maintain effective communication with Indigenous women, relevant organisations and individuals. 
• Provide consumer feedback on relevant government programs and policies. 
• Promote equal opportunity for Indigenous women in access to services and facilities, employment, and participation in decision 

making and community activities. 
• Report annually to the Minister for Women’s Interests through the Office for Women’s Policy. 
• Establish and maintain cooperation with other advisory bodies and relevant machinery at state and Commonwealth levels with a 

view to coordination of effort and activities. 
• Work with the Office for Women’s Policy to progress strategies for Indigenous women in priority areas. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Women’s Interests. 
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WOMEN’S ADVISORY COUNCIL (established 1983)* 
Membership 
Arina Aoina (Chair) Community representative 
Jennifer Au Yeong Community representative 
Jo-Anne D’cress Community representative 
Pat Kopusar Community representative 
Dr Alison Preston Community representative 
Claire Ozich Community representative 
Maria Osman Office for Women’s Policy 
 
Terms of reference 
• Advise the Minister for Women’s Interests on issues emerging from the women’s forums and further develop, refine and revise the 

goals, strategies and indicators from the community consultations. 
• Track progress toward the achievement of goals and report annually to the Minister via the Women’s Progress Report.  
*The council’s term finished on 31 December 2005. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Women’s Interests. 
 
 
 
ABORIGINAL FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE REFERENCE GROUP 
Membership 
Dawn Bessarab Department of the Attorney General 
Ross Councillor Department for Community Development 
Wendy Dawson Department for Community Development 
Angela Ryder Department of Education and Training 
Sam Dinah Aboriginal Legal Service 
Bernadette Lockyer Aboriginal Legal Service 
Glenn Pearson Telethon Institute for Child Health Research 
Eric Hayward Community member 
Pat Kopusar Community member 
 
Terms of reference 
• Provide advice on policy development in relation to Aboriginal family violence. 
• Provide advice on strategies and actions identified in the Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 

2004-2008 and subsequent action plans. 
• Promote greater collaboration between government and non government agencies that provide family violence services to the 

Aboriginal community of Western Australia. 
• Identity gaps in government policy and service provision. 
• Strengthen the work of the Family and Domestic Violence Unit through improved networking with the wider Aboriginal community 

of Western Australia. 
• Assist Regional Coordination Responses to Family and Domestic Violence throughout Western Australia to be more effective in 

addressing Aboriginal family violence. 
• Undertake consultation with communities. 
 
Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
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CULTURALLY AND LINGUISTICALLY DIVERSE FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE ADVISORY GROUP 
Membership 
Ruqiya Ali Somali Women’s Association 
Anne Aly Office of Multicultural Interests  
Leena Bakshi  Department for Community Development  
Veronica Bannon Department of Immigration and Multicultural Affairs 
Derek D’Cruz Department for Community Development  
Nilda Eisen Western Australia Police 
Nina Jurak Office for Women’s Policy 
Camille Le Geois Centrelink 
Jenny Lloyd Adult Migrant Education Service 
Ellen Clair  Adult Migrant Education Service 
Ramdas Sankaran Ethnic Communities Council 
Nadia Loncar Ethnic Communities Council 
Jan Mantell ASeTTS 
Nick Nikolich 6EBA World Radio 
Wajma Padshah Muslim Women's Support Centre of WA (Inc) 
Shamin Samani Muslim Women's Support Centre of WA (Inc) 
Joy Puls  Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre 
Olga Ramasamy Australian Asian Association 
Nawdy Roussety Legal Aid Commission of WA 
Fauziah Varusay Multicultural Women’s Advocacy Service 
 
Terms of reference 
• Provide advice on policy development in relation to family violence in culturally and linguistically diverse communities. 
• Provide advice on strategies and actions identified in the Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 

2004-2008 and subsequent action plans. 
• Promote greater collaboration between government and non government agencies that provide family violence services to 

communities or come into contact with those affected. 
• Identify gaps in government policy and service provision. 
• Strengthen the work of the Family and Domestic Violence Unit through improved networking with the wider culturally and 

linguistically diverse community of Western Australia. 
• Assist Regional Coordination Responses to Family and Domestic Violence throughout Western Australia to be more effective in 

addressing family violence in culturally and linguistically diverse communities. 
• Assist the Family and Domestic Violence Unit in any consultations with communities. 

Reports to the Minister for Community Development. 
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Appendix 3:  Acts Administered by Other Authorities 
The Department for Community Development has varying roles and responsibilities under acts administered by other authorities: 
 
Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972 

Acts Amendment (Family and Domestic Violence) Act 2004 

Bail Act 1982 

Children’s Court of Western Australia Act 1988 

Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 

Criminal Code 

Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 2003 

Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

Evidence Act 1906 

Family Court Act 1997 

Family Law Act 1975 (Commonwealth) 

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 

Freedom of Information Act 1992 

Government Employees Housing Act 1964 

Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000 

Human Reproductive Technology Act 1991 

Immigration (Guardianship of Children) Act 1946 (Commonwealth) 

Industrial Relations Act 1979 

Legal Representation of Infants Act 1977 

Magistrates Court (Civil Proceedings) Act 2004 

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971 

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 

Public Sector Management Act 1994 

Restraining Orders Act 1997 

School Education Act 1999 

Spent Convictions Act 1988 

State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004 

State Records Act 2000 

State Supply Commission Act 1991 

State Superannuation Act 2000 

Supported Accommodation Assistance Act 1994 (Commonwealth) 

Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 

Young Offenders Act 1994 
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Appendix 4:  Office Locations 
 

Department For Community Development 
CENTRAL OFFICE 
189 Royal Street 
East Perth WA 6004 
PO Box 6334 
East Perth WA 6892 
Tel (08) 9222 2555 
Tel 1800 622 258 (free call STD) 
TTY (08) 9325 1232 
www.community.wa.gov.au 
 
Advocate for Children in Care 
189 Royal Street 
East Perth WA 6004 
Tel (08) 9222 2505 
Freecall 1800 460 696 
 
Adoption Service 
189 Royal Street 
East Perth WA 6004 
Tel (08) 9222 2555 
Tel 1800 622 258 (free call STD) 
 
Consumer Advocate 
189 Royal Street 
East Perth WA 6004 
Tel (08) 9222 2594 
Tel 1800 013 311 (free call STD) 
 
Family Information Records Bureau 
189 Royal Street 
East Perth WA 6004 
Tel (08) 9222 2777 
Tel 1800 000 277 (free call STD) 
 

Helplines 
Crisis Care Unit 
Tel (08) 9223 1111 
Tel 1800 199 008 (free call STD) 
 
Men’s Domestic Violence Helpline 
Tel (08) 9223 1199 
Tel 1800 000 599 (free call STD) 
 
Family Helpline 
Tel (08) 9223 1100 
Tel 1800 643 000 (free call STD) 
 
Women’s Domestic Violence Helpline 
Tel (08) 9223 1188  
Tel 1800 007 339 (free call STD 
 

Armadale District 
Armadale District Office 
145 Jull Street 
Armadale WA 6112 
Tel (08) 9497 6555 

Armadale Best Start 
Orchard House 
14 Orchard Avenue 
Armadale WA 6112 
Tel (08) 9497 6555 
 
Armadale Lifeskills Centre 
Orchard House 
14 Orchard Avenue 
Armadale WA 6112 
Tel (08) 9497 6555 
 

Cannington District 
Cannington District Office 
Cnr Grose Avenue and Lake Street 
Cannington WA 6107 
Tel (08) 9351 0888 
 
Intensive Family Casework and Treatment Team 
Fulham House 
Child and Family Therapy Centre 
222 Fulham Street 
Cloverdale WA 6105 
Tel (08) 9277 0311 
 

Fremantle District 
Fremantle District Office 
25 Adelaide Street 
Fremantle WA 6160 
Tel (08) 9431 8800 
 

Joondalup District 
Joondalup District Office 
Ground Floor  
Joondalup House 
8 Davidson Terrace 
Joondalup WA 6027 
Tel (08) 9301 3600 
 

Midland District 
Midland District Office 
281 Great Eastern Highway 
Midland WA 6056 
Tel (08) 9274 9411 
 

Mirrabooka District 
Mirrabooka District Office 
6 Ilkeston Place 
Mirrabooka WA 6061 
Tel (08) 9344 9666 
 
Keith Maine Youth & Family Centre 
Beechboro Rd North 
Whiteman WA 6068 
Tel (08) 9249 1444 
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Parent Help Centre and Parenting Line 
28 Alvan Street 
Mt Lawley WA 6050 
Tel (08) 9272 2399 
Tel 1800 654 432 (free call STD) 
Tel (08) 9271 3252 (TTY) 
 

Perth District 
Perth District Office 
641 Wellington Street 
Perth WA 6000 
Tel (08) 9214 2444 
 

Rockingham District 
Rockingham District Office 
8 Leghorn Street 
Rockingham WA 6168 
Tel (08) 9527 0100 
 

Goldfields District 
Goldfields District Office (Kalgoorlie) 
Cnr Boulder Road and Cheetham Street 
Kalgoorlie WA 6430 
Tel (08) 9022 0700 
 

Norseman Office 
80 Prinsep Street 
Norseman WA 6443 
Tel (08) 9039 1129 
 

Esperance Office 
92 Dempster Street 
Esperance WA 6450 
Tel (08) 9071 2566 
 

Graeme Street Hostel 
Cnr Eureka and Graeme Streets 
Kalgoorlie WA 6430 
Tel (08) 9021 2946 
 

Laverton Office 
Laver Place 
Laverton WA 6440 
Tel (08) 9031 1104 
 

Leonora Office 
Lot 40, Cnr Tower and Rajah Streets 
Leonora WA 6438 
Tel (08) 9037 6132 
 

Great Southern District 
Great Southern District Office (Albany) 
25 Duke Street 
Albany WA 6330 
Tel (08) 9841 0777 
 
Katanning Office 
Reidy House 
25 Amherst Street 
Katanning WA 6317 
Tel (08) 9821 9000 

Manjimup Office  
Lot 432 South West Highway 
Manjimup WA 6258 
Tel (08) 9771 1711 
 
Gnowangerup Resource Centre 
Cnr Corbett and Alymore Streets 
Gnowangerup WA 6335 
Tel (08) 9827 1467 
 

Kimberley District 
Kimberley District Office (Broome) 
Cnr Weld and Frederick Streets 
Broome WA 6725 
Tel (08) 9192 1317 
 
Derby Office 
17 Neville Street 
Derby WA 6728  
Tel (08) 9191 1577 
 
Fitzroy Crossing Office 
Cnr Fallon Road and Flynn Drive 
Fitzroy Crossing WA 6765 
Tel (08) 9191 5002 
 
Halls Creek Office 
71 Thomas Street 
Halls Creek WA 6770 
Tel (08) 9168 6114 
 
Wyndham 
Lot 994 Great Northern Highway 
Wyndham WA 6740 
Tel (08) 9161 1110 
 
Catherine House Placement and Support Centre 
Cnr Dickson Drive and Pembroke Street 
Broome WA 6725 
Tel (08) 9192 1026 
 
Kununurra Office 
State Government Building 
Cnr Konkerberry Drive and Messmate Way 
Kununurra WA 6743 
Tel (08) 9168 0333 
 
Yurag-Man-Gu Taam-Purru Placement and Support Centre 
Cnr Thomas and Terone Streets 
Halls Creek WA 6770 
Tel (08) 9168 6136 
 

Murchison District 
Murchison District Office (Geraldton) 
45 Cathedral Avenue 
Cnr Chapman Road 
Geraldton WA 6530 
Tel (08) 9921 0768 
 
Carnarvon Office 
Stuart Street 
Carnarvon WA 6701 
Tel (08) 9941 1244 
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Meekatharra Office 
Lot 83 Main Street 
Meekatharra WA 6642 
Tel (08) 9981 1104 
 
Mt Magnet Best Start 
Lot 124 Laurie Street 
Mt Magnet WA 6638 
Tel (08) 9963 4190 
 
Mullewa Office 
12 Main Street 
Mullewa WA 6630 
Tel (08) 9961 1004 
 
Wiluna Office 
Lot 1466 Wotton Street 
Wiluna WA 6646 
Tel (08) 9981 7097 
 
Meekatharra Hostel 
Consul Road 
Meekatharra WA 6642 
Tel (08) 9981 1152 
 
Waran-Ma Group Home 
15 Smith Street 
Carnarvon WA 6701 
Tel (08) 9941 4125 
 
Westview Hostel 
32 Swan Drive, Sunset Beach 
Geraldton WA 6530 
Tel (08) 9938 1930 
 

Peel District 
Peel District Office (Mandurah) 
Cnr Tuckey and Sutton Streets 
Mandurah WA 6210 
Tel (08) 9535 6688 
 
Port Kennedy Beach Camp 
Lot 88 Secret Harbour Boulevard 
Secret Harbour WA 6173 
Tel (08) 9524 7772 
 

Pilbara District 
Pilbara District Office (Karratha) 
WA Government Administration Building 
Cnr Searipple and Welcome Roads 
Karratha WA 6714 
Tel (08) 9185 0200 
 
Newman Office 
Cnr Newman Drive and Abydos Way 
Newman WA 6753 
Tel (08) 9175 1051 
 
Onslow Office 
Third Avenue 
Onslow WA 6710 
Tel (08) 9184 6005 

Roebourne Office 
Lot 37 Sholl Street 
Roebourne WA 6718 
Tel (08) 9182 1208 
 
South Hedland Office 
Cnr Brand and Tonkin Streets 
South Hedland WA 6722 
Tel (08) 9140 2433 
 
Tom Price/Paraburdoo Office 
Lot 247 Poinciana Street 
Tom Price WA 6751 
Tel (08) 9189 1592 
 
Port Hedland Lifeskills Team 
3 Jibson Close 
South Hedland WA 6722 
Tel (08) 9172 3599 
 
Weerianna Hostel 
Main Road 
Roebourne WA 6718 
Tel (08) 9182 1273 
 

South West District 
South West District Office (Bunbury) 
80 Spencer Street 
Bunbury WA 6230 
Tel (08) 9726 7000 
 
Canowindra Hostel 
7 Speed Retreat 
Gelorup WA 6230 
Tel (08) 9795 7052 
 
Collie Office 
68 Wittenoom Street 
Collie WA 6225 
Tel (08) 9734 1699 
 
Margaret River Office 
33 Tunbridge Street 
Margaret River WA 6285 
Tel (08) 9757 2910 
 
Busselton Office 
Unit 7 
8-10 Prince Street 
Busselton WA 6280 
Tel (08) 9752 3666 
 

Wheatbelt District 
Wheatbelt District Office (Northam) 
Cnr Fitzgerald and Gairdner Streets 
Northam WA 6401 
Tel (08) 9622 0170 
 
Kellerberrin Office 
4 Moore Street 
Kellerberrin WA 6410 
Tel (08) 9045 4203 
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Merredin Office 
113 Great Eastern Highway 
Merredin WA 6415 
Tel (08) 9041 1622 
 
Moora Office 
49 Dandaragan Street 
Moora WA 6510 
Tel (08) 9651 1100 
 
Narrogin Office 
Government Building 
Park Street 
Narrogin WA 6312 
Tel (08) 9881 0123 
 
Southern Cross Office 
11a Antares Street 
Southern Cross WA 6426 
Tel (08) 9049 1016 
 
Wyalkatchem Office 
Honour Avenue 
Wyalkatchem WA 6485 
Tel (08) 9681 1396 
 

Other Units 
Aboriginal Student Accommodation Service 
Beechboro Road North 
Whiteman WA 6068 
Tel (08) 9249 0102 
 
Emergency Services Unit 
Fulham House 
222 Fulham Street 
Cloverdale WA 6105 
Tel (08) 9277 0366 
 
Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit 
Level 2, 25 Adelaide Street 
Fremantle WA 6160 
Tel (08) 9431 8888 
Tel 1800 199 383 (free call STD) 
 
Community Skills Training Centre 
Level 3, Construction House 
35 Havelock Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
Tel (08) 9222 6000 
 
Fostering Services 
Brenda Cherry Centre 
91 Hensman Road 
Subiaco WA 6008 
Tel (08) 6380 5900 
Tel 1800 024 453 (free call STD) 
 

Placement Services 
Darlington House 
4 Hubert Street 
Darlington WA 6070 
Tel (08) 9299 6760 

Assessment and Planning 
Kath French Centre 
900 Woodlands Road 
Stoneville WA 6081 
Tel (08) 9295 9000 
 
Preparation for Placement  
2 Curtin Avenue 
Cottesloe WA 6011 
Tel (08) 9286 5286 
 
Emergency Accommodation Service 
79 Grand Promenade 
Bedford WA 6052 
Tel (08) 9271 8772 
 
Youth Equip Program 
152 Robert Street 
Como WA 6152 
Tel (08) 9450 3282 
 
One to One Intensive Program 
2 Curtin Avenue 
Cottesloe WA 6011 
Tel (08) 9286 5200 
 
Placement Services Administration 
2 Curtin Avenue 
Cottesloe WA 6011 
Tel (08) 9286 5200 
 

Working with Children Screening Unit 
Level 5, Dumas House  
2 Havelock Street  
West Perth WA  6005 
Tel  (08) 6217 8100 
Tel 1800 883 979 (free call STD) 
www.checkwwc.wa.gov.au 
 

Office for Children and Youth 
Level 7, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
Tel (08) 6217 8400 
Freecall: 1800 281 116 
www.community.wa.gov.au/communities/childrenandyoungpeople 
www.cadetswa.wa.gov.au 
 
Albany (Great Southern) 
25 Duke Street 
Albany WA 6330 
Tel (08) 9841 0777 
 
Manjimup (South West) 
Lot 432 South West Highway 
Manjimup WA 6258 
Tel (08) 9771 1711 
 
Geraldton (Midwest) 
45 Cathedral Avenue 
Geraldton WA 6530 
Tel (08) 9921 0768 
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Port Hedland (Pilbara) 
45 Kingsmill Street 
South Hedland WA 6721 
Tel (08) 9173 1877 
 
Esperance (Goldfields) 
92 Dempster Street 
Esperance WA 6450 
Tel (08) 9083 2566 
 
Kununurra (Kimberley) 
Cnr Konkerberry Drive and Messmate Way 
Kununurra WA 6743 
Tel (08) 9168 0333 
 
Bunbury (South West) 
80 Spencer Street 
Bunbury WA 6230 
Tel (08) 9726 7000 
 

Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
Seniors Interests  
Level 7, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
Tel (08) 6217 8500 
www.community.wa.gov.au/seniors 
 
Seniors Card and Seniors Information Service  
Level 1, Albert Facey House 
469 Wellington Street 
Perth WA 6000 
Tel (08) 6217 8800 
Tel 1800 671 233 (free call STD) 
Tel (08) 9226 4745 (TTY) 
Tel (08) 6217 8855 (Seniors Telephone Information Service) 
www.seniorscard.wa.gov.au 
 
Volunteering 
Level 7, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
Tel (08) 6217 8500 
www.community.wa.gov.au/volunteers 
 

Family and Domestic Violence Unit 
Level 7, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
Tel (08) 6217 8300 
www.domesticviolence.wa.gov.au 
www.youthsayno.wa.gov.au 
www.freedomfromfear.wa.gov.au 
 

Office for Women’s Policy 
Level 7, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
West Perth  WA  6005 
Tel (08) 6217 8200 
www.community.wa.gov.au/women 
 

 
 
 



   160  

Appendix 5:  Research and Evaluation Projects 

Department for Community Development 
Customer Perception Survey 
Key findings: The majority of department and funded service customers who were surveyed reported positively about their service 
experience. Most indicated that their needs had been met, that they had learned new skills and were confident about managing well in 
the future. Respondents reported a high level of trust in the workers they dealt with, and that their own knowledge was valued by 
workers. The majority of customers reported that they were involved in finding solutions to meet their needs, and felt as though they 
were partners in the process. 
Action: As well as providing high-level performance indicators, results provide continuing input to quality assurance of service delivery. 

Stakeholder Survey 
Key findings: The majority of stakeholders involved with the department reported positively about the outcomes from projects for 
strengthening and supporting communities. Most stakeholders reported that they had an opportunity to participate in the development of 
the project and that the relevant agencies participated. 
Action: As well as providing high-level performance indicators, results provide the department with useful insight into how external 
stakeholders perceive its project management processes and outcomes. This facilitates improved engagement, inclusiveness and 
collaboration in future projects. 

Youth and Family Engagement Worker Evaluation 
Key findings: Evidence indicates that the program is innovative and widely valued, and is effectively engaging with identified high-risk, 
multi-problem Aboriginal families and young people. Stakeholders overwhelmingly supported the continuation of the program, and all 
available evidence lends weight to this view.  A small number of improvements to the program were suggested. 
Action: The recommendations from this evaluation are being used to plan for future direction of the program. 

Gwenn Murray Report: A duty of care to children and young people in Western Australia 
Key findings: This was a review by an independent consultant of quality assurance and of substantiated allegations of abuse in care 
occurring between 1 April 2004 and 12 September 2005.   In general, the review found that departmental practice was sufficient but 
could not be regarded as best practice.  No structural failure of the system was evident.  Recommendations were made for improving 
practice. 
Action:  The department developed an action plan in response to the report and has begun implementation.   

Number of Children with Multiple Placements 
Key findings:  This project analysed characteristics of children who experienced multiple placements while in the department’s care.  
The analysis showed that Aboriginal male children on care orders, at particular transitional ages, were the most likely to experience 
multiple placements. 
Action:  The results are guiding quality assurance procedures for improving stability of care. 

A Study on Adoption Disruption 
Key findings:  This report is in its final draft.  It was a small sample qualitative study of adoption disruption in a Western Australian 
context.  The study’s findings were consistent with international and national research literature.  A complex range of issues were found 
to arise in adoption disruptions.  These could be grouped in terms of family, child and situational factors. 
Action:  This report will be considered by the department. 

Review of Telephone Helplines for the Department for Community Development 
Key findings:  This was a review commissioned to provide a ‘snapshot’ of community services telephone helplines that are available to 
Western Australians.  The review concluded that Western Australia is generally well served by community services telephone helplines. 
Action: The department is currently considering the implications of the research. 

Strong Families Evaluation Stage 2 Report 
Strong Families is being evaluated in three stages between 2004 and 2006. The final report will be presented in late 2006. 
Key findings: Stage two of the evaluation demonstrated that Strong Families is effective for families that engage with the process, and 
for most agencies. Strong Families has the capacity to enhance families’ confidence and equity in a collaborative process that 
addresses their needs. 
Action: Recommendations from stage two of this report are being considered to plan for future direction of the Strong Families 
Program. 

Evaluation of the Impact and Effectiveness of the Western Australian State Homelessness Strategy 2006 
Key findings: The findings of the evaluation have generally been positive.  The majority of the initiatives are considered to be 
successfully implemented or currently underway, and good outcomes are being achieved for clients.  The evaluation recommended all 
funded initiatives be continued and expanded. 
Action: The Cabinet Standing Committee on Social Policy endorsed the release of the report in July 2006. All departmental initiatives 
established through the strategy have been continued with ongoing funding.  
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Report on the SAAP State Advisory Committee Consultations with Rural and Remote SAAP Services 
In June 2005, the previous SAAP State Advisory Committee held consultations with rural and remote SAAP services in the Goldfields, 
Southwest, Great Southern and Kimberley districts to better understand the diversity of issues and service delivery needs across the 
state.  
Key findings:  Inadequate funding for SAAP services was identified as an underlying concern by the majority of service providers 
consulted.  Service providers identified a number of human resource concerns, including the attraction and retention of staff, competitive 
remuneration and working conditions, and the provision of ongoing training and professional development. 
Action: The report was formally presented to the Minister for Community Development for consideration.  The report is available on the 
SAAP State Advisory Committee’s website. 

Child Protection Training Report August 2005 
This report was by the Ministerial Advisory Council on  Child Protection.  Its objective was to outline the current situation in child 
protection training and skills development, and make recommendations to achieve and maintain high quality child protection services to 
children and their families in Western Australia. 
Key findings:  Need for a state-wide strategic framework for provision of child protection training; a dedicated Child Protection Training 
Unit; development and delivery of training programs, curricula and resources; development of across-agency and interagency 
approaches and models.  
Action: The report was presented to the Minister for Community Development and has informed development of training in child 
protection. 

Myths and Realities – Sharing Information Between Agencies to Enhance the Safety of Children and Young People Report  
December 2005 
This report was commissioned by the Ministerial Advisory Council on  Child Protection.   
Key findings:  The report identified barriers to sharing information experienced by signatories to the Interagency Child Protection 
Procedures and other members of the community.  It also challenged myths frequently invoked to justify not sharing relevant 
information. 
Action: The report was presented to the Minister for Community Development and referred to the Attorney General.  

Office for Children and Youth 
Cultural Grants Review 
In partnership with Healthway, a cultural review of the Youth Grants WA Program, YouthSpaces and Facilities Fund was undertaken.  
Data and feedback was gathered from 428 people from 56 locations in Western Australia. Of those, 245 were Indigenous young people 
aged 12 to 25 years. 
Key findings: Data indicated that equity and access of grants to the Indigenous community could be improved. 
Action: As a result of the review, a revised application process was developed for the Youth Grants WA Program. Healthway and the 
Office for Children and Youth revisited regional areas where input into the process was gathered.  Implementation of recommendations 
is currently underway. 

Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
2005 Community Awareness and Attitudes Survey  
This research project involved a survey of 600 Western Australians aged 16 years and over. 
Key findings: Just over half the respondents thought ageing was a positive stage of life, and a similar proportion thought it was a 
productive stage of life. Half the seniors felt valued and about two-thirds felt respected by the community.  Just over half strongly agreed 
that they were ageing successfully, while about half felt very happy at their current stage of life.  One-third of respondents were highly 
satisfied with their level of wellbeing, while one quarter were moderately satisfied, and 42 percent were less than moderately satisfied.  
About one third of respondents aged less than 69 years had done, or were doing, something about planning for their senior years.  
Action: The Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering will continue to monitor community attitudes to ageing and seniors issues to 
establish trend data and to take action where necessary. 

Transitions in Ageing Research Project 
A survey of 600 seniors aged 65 years and over was conducted into the links between major life transitions experienced by Western 
Australian seniors and successful ageing.  This was to meet one of the Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering’s commitments 
under the Active Ageing Strategy – Generations Together. 
Key findings:  The most common events to have a positive influence on seniors’ lives were becoming a grandparent; taking on 
voluntary work; having more leisure time; minding grandchildren; finding a new purpose in life after retirement; retiring from paid 
employment; and marriage of children.  Having an age-related illness or disability was the most common negative influence, followed by 
becoming less independent; death of family members and friends; adjust to widowhood; and not being able to find paid work when it 
was needed.  Sixty-one percent of respondents agreed strongly that they were ageing successfully.  The key factor underlying ageing 
successfully was the absence of depression.  Experiencing an age-related illness or disability, becoming less independent, adjusting to 
widowhood, or having a spouse entering residential care affected some seniors’ ability to age successfully. 
Action:  The research findings highlight strategies needed to promote successful ageing among Western Australian seniors, particularly 
the need to address depression. 
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Western Australia’s Seniors – Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators 
This is a set of community indicators to report on the status of active ageing among Western Australia’s seniors.  The indicators are 
based on existing research, including the 2001 Census and other surveys conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics; the Health 
Department’s Health and Wellbeing Surveillance System; and the office's Seniors Community Participation Survey and Community 
Attitudes Survey. 
Key findings:  The benchmark indicators show that policies and strategies must continue to address the following areas to facilitate 
active ageing among Western Australia’s seniors:  improving the health and wellbeing of Indigenous people; increasing involvement in 
physical activities, particularly among female seniors; encouraging healthy eating, particularly among male seniors; improving the social 
participation of seniors, particularly male seniors; reducing or managing physiological risk factors (high blood cholesterol, high blood 
pressure and obesity); increasing employment opportunities, particularly for female seniors; encouraging access to and training in 
computers and the internet, particularly for female seniors; improving financial security, particularly for female seniors and Indigenous 
seniors; and improving community attitudes towards ageing, among the general community and seniors themselves. 
Action:  The indicators will provide the strategic direction for future initiatives under the State Government’s Active Ageing Strategy – 
Generations Together. The indicators will be used every three to five years to measure Western Australia’s progress towards achieving 
active ageing and realising the vision of Generations Together.   

Cultural Diversity Research Project 
This project was conducted to complement data obtained for the Seniors Community Participation Survey, and to supplement a number 
of the indicators contained in Western Australia’s Seniors – Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators. The project involved a literature review 
and a consultation phase during which 500 seniors were consulted through discussion groups and interviews. 
Key findings:  The proportion of seniors from a culturally and linguistically diverse background is increasing faster than the proportion 
of older Australians.  Many issues that affect these seniors also affect the general seniors population, but issues of language, ethnicity 
and culture compound difficulties for these seniors. Local community centres and programs provided by local government, non 
government organisations and ethnic community organisations play a vital role in community participation for culturally and linguistically 
diverse seniors. Increasing the capacity of these centres and programs will increase community participation.  Lack of proficiency in 
English, and lack of transport, were the major barriers to community participation for culturally and linguistically diverse seniors.  
Action:  The research will provide the strategic direction for future initiatives under the State Government’s Active Ageing Strategy – 
Generations Together to address active ageing among culturally and linguistically diverse seniors.  

Family and Domestic Violence Unit 
Review of Regional Coordination 
Regional Family and Domestic Violence Committees were reviewed to assess the effectiveness of the current model in protecting 
women and children experiencing family and domestic violence.   
Key findings: The review confirmed regional coordination structures are an important tool to improve service coordination and agency 
responses to victims of family and domestic violence.  While the current model was found to have facilitated agency relationships, there 
was little evidence that it had improved service coordination or increased safety for women and children.  There were also limited 
connections between committees and across-government coordination structures such as Human Services Regional Managers Forums. 
Action: Core family and domestic violence agencies are the priority target group.  Improving core agency coordination and service 
integration is the primary focus of the new model. 

Literature Review: Family and Domestic Violence in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Communities in Australia 
A key stakeholder group was established to oversee the mapping of current state-wide initiatives. A literature review was completed to 
inform the development of a culturally and linguistically diverse strategy.  
Key findings: The review identified key themes on prevention of domestic violence, protection of victims and provision of services, 
including the assertion that ‘one size does not fit all’.  In many cases, family and domestic violence preceded a couple or family’s 
migration to Australia, but on arrival, certain factors can lead to an escalation of violence.  There is a need to engage community leaders 
in addressing family and domestic violence.  
Action: The review was distributed to all key stakeholders in the culturally and linguistically diverse sector and to the Minister for 
Multicultural Interests.  It is also available on the Family and Domestic Violence Unit's website. 

Rural Women’s Report 
The Family and Domestic Violence Unit undertook a research and consultation project to gain a better understanding of issues relating 
to family and domestic violence in a rural context in Western Australia.   
Key findings:  When relevant and timely assistance is available, positive outcomes are achieved for country-based victims.  Distance, 
isolation, lack of transport, lack of funding, and aspects of rural culture present barriers to women escaping domestic violence, and to 
men seeking help for their abusive behaviour.  ‘The system’ was seen to re-victimise those who leave an abusive partner.  Lack of 
appropriate housing and over-crowding are factors in family and domestic violence within the Indigenous community.  The need to 
expand and strengthen a coordinated response to family and domestic violence was identified. Regional Domestic Violence Committees 
could have a significant role in this.   
Action: The Rural Women's Report was compiled.  It is available on the Family and Domestic Violence Unit’s website. 
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Freedom From Fear Review 
The Freedom From Fear campaign was independently reviewed by the School of Population Health at the University of Western 
Australia.  The review reported on the campaign’s achievements to date.  The review also established effective ways to raise awareness 
of domestic violence and its impact on community attitudes and behaviours in the future.   
Key findings: There is strong support for the continued focus on prevention, promoting men’s early help-seeking, and messages that 
highlight the impact on children.  There is a need to further broaden community notions of family and domestic violence beyond physical 
manifestations, to include emotional abuse and more subtle albeit less physical forms of violence and abuse.  There is a need to target 
group friends, family and colleagues witnessing or aware of family and domestic violence.  High priority target groups are people from 
Indigenous, culturally and linguistically diverse, and rural and remote communities. 
Action: The final report will provide direction for the Family and Domestic Violence Unit on future community awareness and education 
activities.  It will be considered by the Advisory Group on Family and Domestic Violence Prevention and Early Intervention. 

Office for Women’s Policy 
Update on Report Card for Women 
The Women’s Report Card, launched in 2004, established a set of indicators that measure aspects of women’s lives across a range of 
areas.  In 2005-06, the Office for Women’s Policy undertook the first update to the indicators.  

Leadership in the Public Sector 
The Office for Women’s Policy commissioned research into the effectiveness of leadership programs for women in the Western 
Australian public sector. Women make up more than 60 percent of the public sector, but the majority of them are in lower paid positions.  
Less than a quarter of women are in middle management roles. 

Gender Analysis Project 
The Gender Analysis Project is a collaborative initiative between Western Australian and South Australian Offices for Women’s Policy, 
and researchers from the University of Western Australia and University of South Australia.  It is funded by the Australian Research 
Council.  The project will develop a gender impact assessment tool for use in trial agencies across government in the participating 
states.  

Review of Gender Balance on Government Boards and Committees 
The Office for Women’s Policy, along with other jurisdictions, is participating in a National Strategy to Increase the Participation of 
Women on Boards. This involves reviewing existing efforts to improve the representation of women on boards, identifying and promoting 
best practice, creating a skilled, accessible pool of ‘board ready’ women, and facilitating the connection between ‘board ready’ women 
and board opportunities.  As part of the strategy, the Office for Women’s Policy reviewed the promotion of Western Australian women to 
government boards and committees, and progress towards the state’s 50 percent target for gender balance on these bodies. The 
current gender balance stands at 31 percent. The review will inform state strategies. 

Review of Women’s Advisory Council  
The Office for Women’s Policy reviewed the council’s effectiveness and ways it engaged with women in the community.  A new, larger 
Women’s Advisory Council will be formed, to accommodate a greater diversity of views and broader terms of reference. Strategies such 
as a summit of non government women’s organisations will obtain views of women in the community. 

Review of Indigenous Women’s Congress 
In 2005, the Office for Women’s Policy conducted a review of the Indigenous Women’s Congress. It concluded that the Congress had 
been a valuable mechanism to engage Indigenous women across the state, and should be retained. It also recommended some 
modifications to improve its effectiveness as a state-wide policy advisory body. 

Good Practice in the Assessment, Skills Gap Training and Employment of Overseas-Trained Nurses 
The Office for Women's Policy is leading a national research project on analysing barriers and proposing solutions to employing women 
from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds with qualifications in nursing and aged care, areas of acute skills shortages. The 
project is a collaborative initiative with the Overseas Qualifications Unit in the Department of Education and Training, funded from the 
Activities Trust Fund and on behalf of the Commonwealth, States, Territories & New Zealand Ministers’ Conference on the Status of 
Women. Also participating in this project are the Australian Government through the Office for Women, and Tasmanian, New South 
Wales and Queensland women's policy offices. 
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Appendix 6:  Sponsorship 

Sponsors of Department Events 
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES INDUSTRY AWARDS 2005 
882 6PR 
HESTA Super Fund 
Lotterywest 
Rendezvous Observation City Hotel 
Staging Connections 
The West Australian 
Vincor Australia 
WIN Television 
 
WA YOUTH AWARDS SHOWCASE 
Buena Vista International 
Channel 7 
Department of Conservation and Land Management 
Department of Education and Training 
Edith Cowan University 
Iluka Resources 
Isaac’s Ridge 
Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation 
Lotterywest 
Nova 93.7 
Scitech Discovery Centre 
Singapore Airlines 
The West Australian 
Transperth 
TransWA 
WMC Resources 
Woodside Energy Limited 
 
SENIORS WEEK AND WESTERN AUSTRALIAN SENIORS AWARDS 2005 
882 6PR Radio 
Australian Pensioners Insurance Agency 
BankWest 
Channel 9 Perth 
Council on the Ageing (WA) Inc 
Have A Go News 
Skywest 
St Louis Estate 
The West Australian 
Western Australian Senior 
WIN Television 
Woolworths Pty Ltd 
 
POSITIVE IMAGE AWARD 
BHP Nickel West 
Buena Vista International 
Catholic Education Office 
Department of Education and Training 
Iluka Resources 
NOVA 93.7 
Scitech Discovery Centre 
The West Australian 
Transperth 
TransWA 
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Events Sponsored by the Department 
 
DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
Financial Counsellors’ Association of Western Australia (Inc) – 2005 State Conference 
Australian Breastfeeding Association Inc – Time to Nurture 
Western Australian Council of Social Service Inc – Shaping the Future: Social Services and Solutions for Tomorrow 
Learning Centre Link Inc – Grow With The Flow: Enriching Creative and Healthy Centres 
 
OFFICE FOR CHILDREN AND YOUTH 
Children's Week Awards of Recognition – sponsored Meerilinga  
Goldfields Youth Workers Conference  
National Youth Week Launch – sponsored Propelarts 
Andrew Fuller Workshops – sponsored visit in partnership with Meerilinga 
 
OFFICE FOR SENIORS INTERESTS AND VOLUNTEERING 
Seniors Recreation Council 

- Have-A-Go Day 
- Winter Solstice Seniors Ball 
- Add Life to Your Years publication 

South West Seniors Expo Inc 
- South West Senior Expo 2005 
- South West Senior Expo 2006 

City of Perth - Tuesday Morning Show 
Council on the Ageing (WA) - Seniors Week Grants 2005 
Volunteering WA - National Volunteer Week 
 
FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE UNIT 
Women’s Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services (WA) – Annual Silent Domestic Violence Memorial March 
Australian Asian Association Golden Jubilee Celebrations  
Communicare Inc – Alan Jenkins and Daniel Blay Presentations 
 
OFFICE FOR WOMEN’S POLICY 
Australian Asian Association of WA – 50th anniversary 
2006 Women in Local Government Conference 
Ninth Annual Women in Agriculture Conference 
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Appendix 7:  Awards 

Community Development 
CHURCHILL FELLOWSHIP 2005 
Simon Faulkner – will travel to the USA and Canada to investigate the use of music therapy interventions with at-risk groups, in order to 
deliver better programs to the community and reduce the dislocation and disconnection experienced by many young people. 
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES INDUSTRY AWARDS 2005 

Working creatively to make a difference (small group/organisation) 
Winner: Bussed Ed – edventures WA Inc 
Finalists: Back on Track Speedway Program – Geraldton PCYC 
 ‘In the Loop’ Events Program – Yarloop Progress Group Inc 
 Meningococcal Disease Awareness Program – Amanda Young Foundation 

Working creatively to make a difference (large group/organisation) 
Winner: Aboriginal Training Initiative – Yorganop Child Care Aboriginal Corporation 
Finalists: Telecross Service – Australian Red Cross Society (Western Australian division) 
 DVACS@Nardine – Nardine Wimmin’s Refuge Inc 
 Geraldton Outside School Hours Care – Geraldton Regional Community Education Centre Association Inc 

Strengthening communities 
Winner: Aboriginal Grandparent Family Support Services – Women’s Health Services 
Finalists: Families and Schools Together – Parkerville Children and Youth Care Inc 
 Cockburn Community Development Strategy – City of Cockburn 
 Mofflyn House Early Intervention Program – Mofflyn 

Strengthening volunteering 
Winner: Volunteer Program – Volunteer Task Force 
Finalists: St Patrick’s Community Support Centre and Hands On Health Volunteers – St Patrick’s Community Support Centre 
 Murdoch Community Hospice Volunteer Program – Murdoch Community Hospice 

Strengthening the community services industry 
Winner: Emergency Relief Sector Support and Training Program – Western Australian Council of Social Service 
Finalists: Billy Dower Youth Centre Co-location Model – City of Mandurah 
 Armadale Children of Parents with Mental Illness Project – Armadale Mental Health Service 
 Professional Development and Networking – Quality Relationships Alliance Inc 

Business and community partnerships 
Winner: The Bullsbrook and Districts Community Reference Group – Bullsbrook and Districts Community  
 Reference Group in partnership with Transfield Services Australian Pty Ltd and the City of Swan 
Finalists: Taking it to the People – Road Safety 0.5 – BHP Billiton Iron Ore/Office of Road Safety 
 Satterley Property Group/Brighton Estate Residents Association Inc Partnership – Satterley Property Group 
 Alcoa of Australia/City of Cockburn Projects Fund – City of Cockburn 

Strengthening rural and remote communities 
Winner: Housing and Respite Services – Hyden Progress Association Inc 
Finalists: Goolarri Media Enterprises – Broome Aboriginal Media Association 
 Young Mums Successfully Doing it for Themselves Program – Avon Youth Community and Family Services Inc 
 Mingle Mob – Youth Involvement Council 

Outstanding organisational leadership 
Highly commended: Karrawara Community Project – edventures WA Inc 

Outstanding commitment by an individual 
Winner: Jacqui Stutt 
Finalists: Stephen William Bowman 
 Jordon Fogarty 
 Robin Bromley 

Department for Community Development Innovation award 
Winner: Children in care project – Kicrock team at the department’s Rockingham office, in partnership with CREATE 
Finalists: Children's Advisory Group: a Children's Participation Program – Children's Policy Office 
 Specialist Child Interviewing – Seniors Officers Group – Western Australia Police and the department  
 Duty of Care Register, Duty of Care Unit – Operational Policy – partnership across Operational Policy; Client and 
 Community Services System team; Information, Research and Evaluation; Legal Practice Services; Community 
 Development and Statewide Services 
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Judging Panel 
Clyde Bevan Lotterywest 
Jasmine Geddes Community Development 
Chris Hall Wesley Mission Perth 
Colleen Hayward Telethon Institute for Child Health Research 
Darrell Henry Psychologist 
Mary-Anne Paton  WA Legal Practice Board 
Tony Pietropiccolo Western Australian Council of Social Service 
Russell Raymond Federation of Ethnic Communities Council 
Kathryn Sydney-Smith  Western Australian Community Foundation 
 

Office for Children and Youth 

WA YOUTH AWARDS SHOWCASE 

Positive Image Award - District Representatives 
Sarah Perrett Kojonup District High School 
Johnny Valastro Bunbury Catholic College 
Howard Gwynne Kelmscott Senior High School 
Daniel Newman  John Wollaston Anglican Community School 
Jess Taylor  Belmont City College 
Alissa Mack  Esperance Senior High School 
Melissa Branson  Kolbe Catholic College 
Brian Harp Hamilton Senior High School 
Acacia Hosking  Frederick Irwin Anglican School 
Yan Pollock  El Shaddai College 
Michael Beckett  Eastern Goldfields Senior High School 
Felicity Matthews Schools of Isolated and Distance Education 
Sony Thach  Carnarvon Senior High School 
Leigh Brown Katanning Senior High School 
Hayden Munroe  Yiyili Aboriginal Community School 
Cheryl Millard  Swan View Senior High School 
Tiffany Newman  Saint Brigid’s College 
Thomas Williams  Morley Senior High School 
Bakia Arslanoski  Lake Joondalup Baptist College 
Patrick Connell  Newman College 
Rachel Forde  Warwick Senior High School 
Emma Palandri  Greenwood Senior High School 
Tyrel Scott  Mindarie Senior College 
Anne Swarbreck  Prendiville Catholic College 
Michael Woodyatt  Belridge Senior High School 

Judging panel 
Naomi Godden State Youth Council 
Damian Katich Office for Children and Youth 
Natalie La Touche Office for Children and Youth 
Jane Machin-Everill Department of Education and Training 
 

WA YOUTH MEDIA AWARDS 

Media Reporting Award 
Print media (metro)  Marnie McKimmie - The West Australian 
Print media (suburban)  Louise Fisher - Guardian Express 
Print media (regional)  Clare Allen - North West Telegraph 
Television (metro) Saskia Loosjes - Channel Nine News 
Television (regional)  Bianca Hayley - Golden West News 
Radio  Matt Eas - ABC 
Photograph  Will Russell - Guardian Express 

Judging panel 
Deanne Johnson  Office for Children and Youth 
Astrid Lee  Edith Cowan University (journalism student) 
Yvette Mooney  Independent media representative 
Earl Reeve  Independent media representative (retired) 
Tony Serve  Independent media representative 
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WA YOUTH AWARDS 
Darren Lomman  WA Young Person of the Year Award 
Emma Wynne  WA Youth Active Achievement Award 
Roebourne Girls FX   WA Youth Citizenship (Group) Award 
David Sparkes   WA Youth Citizenship (Individual) Award 
Ellen Ward WA  Youth Environment Award 
Darren Lomman   WA Youth Inspiration Award 
Terrence Winner  WA Youth Leadership Award 

Judging panel 
David Armstrong Leeuwin Ocean Adventure 
Ali Bakhshi  Woodside Energy 
Maxine Boyd  Lotterywest 
Brigitte Doucet  Channel 7 
Dawn Gibson   The West Australian 
Debbie Guest  The West Australian 
Beck Hennassy  Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation 
Renae Hibben  Woodside Energy 
Jessica Houston  Office of the Minister for Youth 
Cameron Jansen  Perth Youth Advisory Council 
Ron Kawalilak  Department of Conservation and Land Management 
Fiona Lander  Office for Children and Youth 
Cindy Lee  Youth representative 
Samara Luck  NOVA 93.7 
Kim McDougal  Channel 7 
Claire Mulligan  Lotterywest 
Rebecca Noakes  Iluka Resources 
Miranda Palmer  Iluka Resources 
Rachael Speight  NOVA 93.7 
Naomi Strelein  Edith Cowan University 
Julia Turner  Edith Cowan University 
 

Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 

WA SENIORS AWARDS 2005 
Sydney Denis Wakefield BankWest WA Senior of the Year 
Bruce Thomas Northern Senior of the Year 
Marlene Rose Jackamarra-Carnamah  Mid-West Senior of the Year 
Cobber Leonard Rogers Goldfields Senior of the Year 
Richard Apel Wheatbelt Senior of the Year 
Dulcie Kent Southern Senior of the Year 
Sydney Denis Wakefield Metropolitan Senior of the Year 
Sydney Denis Wakefield  Community Achievement Award 
Le Tan Kiet Service Award 
Ralph Wensley Intergenerational Award 
Sydney Denis Wakefield Education and Learning Award 
Joseph Stenson  Sport and Recreation Award        
Richard Apel Arts and Culture Award 
Laurel Wareham Workforce Participation Award 
Robert Francis Isaacs Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Leadership Award 
Central Tafe - Go Life Program  Active Ageing Innovations Award 
Nicholle Bell Media Award - Print 
Mary Mills Media Award - Photographic 
Matt Moran Media Award - Electronic 

Judging panel 
Pearl Craig Lotterywest 
Margaret Dawkins Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
Lisa Edwards BankWest 
Bettine Heathcote Council on the Ageing (WA) 
Lew Penny Indigenous Policy Directorate - DCD 
Olga Ramasamy Australian Asian Association 
Marie Taylor  Kulbardi Aboriginal Centre, Murdoch 
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Appendix 8:  Publications 

Community Development 
At a case conference 
Advocate for Children in Care poster 
Advocate for Children in Care flyer 
Advocate for Children in Care zip cards 
Best beginnings for you and your baby 
Best beginnings poster 
Case review board 
Community services industry awards 2006 
Crisis care 
Crisis care poster 
Dealing with the effects of trauma 
Developmental stages of children 
Developmental stages of toddlers 
Department for Community Development generic flyer 
Directory of accommodation and homelessness services 
Early education service 
Family helpline 
Family helpline poster 
Finding out about your Aboriginal family history 
Foster care poster 
Foster carers make a difference 
Foster family day poster 
Fostering Aboriginal children 
Getting help with funerals 
Growing up kids booklet (to accompany videos only) 
Growing up kids fact sheets (Growing up babies, Growing up teenagers, Living with elders) 
Growing up kids poster 
Help for families in crisis poster 
How do I recognise when a child is at risk of abuse and neglect? 
Internet usage 
Keeping our kids safe 
Knowing and loving your baby - a work book for Best Beginnings 
Living with babies 
Living with babies video 
Living with children 
Living with children video 
Living with parents 
Living with parents video 
Living with stepfamilies 
Living with stepfamilies video 
Living with teenagers 
Living with teenagers video 
Looking West: A Guide to Aboriginal Records in Western Australia 
My family always cares for me poster 
Not-for-profit news 
One to one 
Parent link home visiting service 
Parenting fact sheets: Grandparenting 
Parenting in a multicultural society (also in Chinese, Farsi, Greek, Indonesian, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish, Vietnamese) 
Parenting information centres poster 
Parenting line information and support 
Parenting line poster 
Past adoption services 
Play and learning sheets (Music, Playing around the house, Rainy days and cars) 
Positive communication 
Protecting children: Information for parents, families and friends 
Protecting our children poster 
Protecting your children 
ROADS: An index of locations and access to adoption records 
Reflections newsletter 
Recognising and responding to child abuse and neglect- a guide for professionals 
Resolving your complaints 
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Resolving your complaints poster 
Shaken Baby Syndrome 
Signposts: A guide for children and young people in care in Western Australia from 1920 
State Homelessness Strategy 
Strong Families brochures 
Tapestries newsletter 
Telephone service cards 
Western Australia’s approach to protecting children from abuse and neglect 
What does it mean: A guide to families and carers about how DCD keeps children safe 
Your family centres 
Your family centres poster 
 
The following publications are available online at http://www.community.wa.gov.au/Resources/ChildCare/ApplicationKits/Licences.htm 

How to apply for a Child care licence: body corporate or public authority applicant  
How to apply for a Child care licence: individual applicant   
How to apply for a Family day care licence  
How to apply for an Outside school hours family day care licence  
How to apply for an Outside school hours care centre licence: body corporate or public authority applicant  
How to apply for an Outside school hours care centre licence: individual applicant  

 

Working with Children Screening Unit 
Working with Children A5 information booklet 
Working with Children Factsheet series: 

Factsheet 1 - What is Child-Related Work? 
Factsheet 2 - When to Apply for a Working with Children Check 
Factsheet 3 - Checklist for Employers 
Factsheet 4 - List of Offences 
Factsheet 5 - Child-related Work & Exemptions 
Factsheet 6 - Information for Volunteers 

Working with Children Checks Indigenous brochure – for general Indigenous community 
Working with Children Checks Indigenous brochure – for employers  
Working with Children Checks Indigenous poster (A3) 
 

Office for Children and Youth 
Body Piercing Information Kit 
Cadet Lines newsletter 
Caterpillar Toothpaste - A child’s introduction to decision making 
Conversations with Children - Teacher Led Workshops 
Cultural Grants Review Report 
Managing and Avoiding Debt: A Young Person’s Guide 
Strategic Plan 2006 - 2008 
Telling the Emperor - A guide to youth participation in decision-making 
Understanding Youth Suicide - Information Kit 
Urban Design Guidelines for Creating Youth Friendly Spaces and Places 
YouthSpaces and Facilities Fund - Funding Conditions and Application Form 
 

Office for Seniors Interests and Volunteering 
2005 Guide to State Government Concessions for Western Australians 
2005 Western Australian Seniors Awards – Gala Ceremony Program 
2005 Western Australian Seniors Awards Nomination Booklet 
2006 Western Australian Seniors Awards Nomination Booklet 
A New Age for Business newsletter - Issue 7 (May 2006)  
APEA: WA Alliance for the Prevention of Elder Abuse: Western Australia 
APIA Seniors Concert 2005 
Booming Recruiting: An Action Research Project (May 2004) 
“Boomnet” – Capturing the Baby Boomer Volunteers (December 2001) 
Carers Recognition Act 2004 – What does it mean for me? 
Employee Volunteering and Corporate Social Responsibility: A Guide to Employee Volunteering 
From “Boomnet to Boomnot” (May 2002) 
Generations Together - A Guide to the Western Australian Active Ageing Strategy – 2006 
Generations Together - A Progress Report of the Western Australian Active Ageing Strategy 
Grandfamilies: A Resource Guide for Western Australian Grandparents Raising Grandchildren  
Guide to Employee Volunteering: An evolving resource for public sector agencies (October 2004) 
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Guide to Fremantle – Seniors in the City Trail 
Guide to Perth – Seniors in the City Trail 
National Police Checks for Volunteers – Information Package for Volunteer Groups 
Newsletter – Valuing Volunteering (March 2006) 
Revisiting the Vision Goals 2004: Valuing Volunteering 
Revisiting the Vision Goals 2005-2007 
Safety Advice for Seniors 
Scoping Project on Depression in Older People 
Seniors Card Application and Replacement Form 
Seniors Community Participation Survey 
Seniors Statistics  
The Volunteering Training Scene in Western Australia: A Resource Guide for Agencies (December 2003) 
The Western Australian Guide to Planning for an Active Retirement 
Topic Sheet 1 – Western Australia’s Volunteers 
Topic Sheet 4 – Profile of WA Seniors 
Topic Sheet 5 – Seniors Safety and Crime – A New Outlook 
Topic Sheet 6 – Baby Boomers 
Topic Sheet 7 – Staying Mentally Healthy 
Transitions in Ageing Research Report 2006 
Valuing Volunteering – A Shared Vision 
Western Australian Seniors Card Discount Directory 2004-2006 
Western Australian Seniors Card Discount Directory 2006-2008 
Western Australian Seniors and the Law - an Information Booklet 
Western Australia's Seniors - Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators 
 

Family and Domestic Violence Unit 
A Guide for Families, Friends and Neighbours – brochure available in English and 18 additional languages 
Aboriginal Family Violence poster 
African Communities Forum on Domestic Violence Report 
Barriers that Prevent Country Men from Accessing Domestic Violence Services 
Best Practice Model for the Provision of Programs for Perpetrators of Domestic Violence in Western Australia 
Best Practice Model for the Provision of Programs for Victims of Domestic Violence in Western Australia 
Crisis Intervention in Aboriginal Family Violence – Summary Report 
Evaluation of Perpetrator Programs for Mandated and Voluntary Participants in Western Australian 
Family and Domestic Violence Across Government Data Collection Project: Phase 1 
Freedom From Fear 

A Guide for Health Professionals 
A Guide for Employers, Managers And Supervisors 
Aboriginal Family Violence brochure 
Campaign Information Sheet 1: Development of the Campaign Advertising Strategy 
Campaign Information Sheet 2: Testing of the Campaign Advertising Strategy 
Campaign Information Sheet 3: Implementing the Campaign 
Campaign Information Sheet 4: Campaign Evaluation Results Phase One 
Factsheet: Common Myths About Domestic Violence 
Factsheet: The Impact of Domestic Violence 
Freedom From Fear: Background Information Document 
Freedom From Fear: A Campaign Summary 
Has Your Partner Hurt You? 
How to Deal With Domestic Violence (self help book, cassette, guide) 
How Do I Know if I’m Abusive? 
When You Hurt Your Partner You Hurt Your Children 

Help is Closer Than You Think Poster 
Life Support Poster 
Literature Review on Models of Coordination and Integration of Service Delivery 
Men’s Domestic Violence Helpline poster 
No More Violence We’re Breaking The Silence 

Life Support Kit – safety plan, bookmark, postcard, zcard 
Stop Living The Nightmare Kit – safety plan, bookmark, postcard, zcard 
Trouble At Home Kit – safety plan, bookmark, postcard, zcard 

Preventing Family Disintegration in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Communities: a Partnership Approach 
Progress Report on the Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence Action Plan 2004-2005 
Review of Literature Relating to Family and Domestic Violence in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Communities in Australia 
Review of the Regional Family and Domestic Violence Committee Model Final Report 
Rural Women’s Report 
Stop Living the Nightmare poster 
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The Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence Information Kit 
Trouble at Home poster 
Violence In the Family brochure – available in English and 18 additional languages  
Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence Action Plan 2004-2005 
Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 
Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence Action Plan 2005-2006 
You Don’t Have To Live With Domestic Violence – zcard 
Wherever You Live We Help poster 
Wherever You Live We Listen poster 
 
The following publications are available online at http://www.community.wa.gov.au/Resources/FamilyDomesticViolence 

Domestic Violence Online Resource Guide 
Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence Student Information Kit 

 www.domesticviolence.wa.gov.au – online resource guide  
 

Office for Women’s Policy 
Gender Analysis – Making Policies, Programs and Services Gender-Aware. 
Indigenous Women’s Report Card 2005 
Summary Indicators for Western Australian Women 
Women at Work, at Home and in the Community (government achievements) 
Women’s Information – Women’s Power: a brief history of the Women’s Information Referral Exchange 
Women’s Information Service Pocket Directory 
Women’s Report Card – Measuring Women’s Progress 
Women’s Report Card Update 2006 
 


